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25 Years History — Principal Corporate Events
YEARS 1981-1987

Started in Asia with core investments in finance,

Marketing and Distribution companies

1981 First Pacific Finance Limited was founded as a financial services

provider in Hong Kong
I RST 1982 Acquired The Hibernia Bank in San Francisco, California
1982 First Pacific International established to hold the Group’s marketing and

P distribution businesses
AC I F I C 1983 Acquired a controlling interest in Hagemeyer, the Netherlands

1984 Took an equity stake in Berli Jucker Thatland

1985 Invested in First Pacific Davies in Hong Kong

1986 Became parent of United Savings Bank in Califarnia
1987 Acquired Hong Nin Bank Limited in Hong Kong
1987 Founded Metro Pacific Corporation in the Philippines

1988-1996
Significant growth in marketing and distribution, property and
banking divisions; pioneered regional telecoms investments

1988 Acquired Dragon Seed Department Store and started various retail business
in Hong Kong

1988 Sold Hibernia Bank. First Pacific Holdings and First Pacific International merged to
form the currently listed First Pacific Company

1988 First investment in telecoms; acquired 50% interest in Pacific Link, Hong Kong

1989 Acquired a controlling interest in Imagineering Australia {named Tech Pacific
thereafter)

1989 Invested in Darya-Varia Laboratoria in Indonesia

1992 Acquired Far East Bank and merged with Hong Nin Bank, renamed and listed as
First Pacific Bank in Hong Kong

1994 Smart Communications launched cellular services in the Philippines

1995 NTT of Japan invested in Smart Communications as a strategic investor

1996 First Pacific became a constituent of the Hang Seng Index

1996 Invested in GSM networks in China’s Fujian province, Shenzhen, Dongguan and
Huizhou and in Taiwan’s Tuntex Telecom

1996 Escotel rolled out GSM mobile networks in india

1997-present
Refocused on Asia with core investments in leading companies in telecoms,
consumer food products and infrastructure sectors

1997 Divested Tech Pacific and Pacific Link

1998 Divested Hagemeyer and United Savings Bank

1998 Acquired PLDT in the Philippines

1999 Divested Tuntex Telecom and Guardforce

1999 Acquired Indofood in Indonesia

2000 Concluded the acquisition of Smart by PLDT

2000 Divested First Pacific Bank and telecoms interests in China

2001 First Pacific was removed from the Hang Seng Index

2001 Divested Savills, Berli Jucker and Darya-Varia

2003 Sold Bonifacio Land

2004 Divested Escotel

2006 NTT DoCoMo joined NTT Communications as a strategic shareholder in PLDT

2006 Metro Pacific Investments Corporation listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange
foliowing completion of recrganization of Metro Pacific Corporation,
and a successor 1o it

2006 MPIC won the bidding for Maynilad Water Services in the Philippines

2007 Acquired additiona! 6.4% interest in PLDT

First Pacific Company Limited  Annual Report 2006
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Lorporate rrorile

First Pacific is a Hong Kong-based investment and management company with operations
located in Asia. Its principal business interests relate to Telecommunications, Consumer Food
Products and Infrastructure.

Listed in Hong Kong, First Pacific’s shares are also available in the United States through
American Depositary Receipts.

First Pacific’s principal investments are summarized on the inside back cover.

Financial Highlights

Contribution from Operations Recurring Profit Market Capitalization
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Chairman’s Letter

Dear Shareholder

The transformation that | reported on last year has moved along
well, and the year just passed has seen further progress at

First Pacific. Qur telecommunications business has reported
ancther year of record profits, and our food business has posted
much impraved results.

The investment in the water business in the Phitippines through
Metro Pacific Investrents Corporation (MPIC), and the
introduction of Ashmore Investment Management Limited into
MPIC, have enabled First Pacific to participate in future
infrastructure opportunities in the Philippines. The successful
restructuring and recapitalization of MPIC's predecessar - Metro
Pacific Carporation - and the subsequent listing of MPIC in the
course of the year has consolidated First Pacific’'s commitment to
this market.

The entrepreneurial and innovative spirit that drives PLDT will be
crucial as PLDT enters its next stage of development, The
continuous development of new offerings in its traditional
business will be complemented by enhanced products, services
and solutions from new technology platforms and through its Next
Generation Network, as well as additional services through its call
center and business process outsourcing businesses.

The significant improvements made to Indofoed's distribution
network will be further enhanced moving forward, and with the

growth in all Indofood'’s consumer products, | believe it will
contribute to the strengthening of Indofood’s leading market
position as evidenced in the increasing market share of most of
Indofood’s product categories. The expansion opportunities for the
edible oils and fats business will be addressed as we increase our
investments in plantations. This will enabte Indofood to generate
greater value from its oil palm plantation and refining business.

Notwithstanding the transition phase that First Paciic is currently
undergoing, our outlook for 2007 remains positive. | would ask for

your continued support, on behalf of the Board, as we continue to
search for new investments in this, our part of the world.

Sincerely

ANTHONI SALIM
Chairman

11 April 2007
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Managing Director and Chier bxecutive Otficers Letter
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Dear Fellow Shareholder
2006 has been a year of transition for First Pacific.

1 am pleased to report that all aspects of our businesses have
performed above expectations during the year. PLDT continues to
do well and has recorded its fourth consecutive year of record
profits. Indofood faced a difficult macro-environment
characterized by higher operating costs and demanding
competition. However, with its successful reengineering programs
and the growth in its distribution netwark and competency,
indofood has produced results in excess of targets.

Developments at Metro Pacific Investments Corporation (MPIC),
our new listed business in the Philippines and successor to Metro
Pacific Corporation, have also been encouraging. The debt
workout and recapitalization plan that we undertook for the
Metro Pacific Group was finalized in 2006 and together with our
new strategic partner in MPIC, Ashmore Investment Management
Limited, we were successful in the bidding for Maynilad Water
Services in the Philippines.

During the year, we have assessed a number of investment
opportunities in line with our investment strategy. We have
recently strengthened our position in our strategic investment
PLDT by acquiring an additional 6.4 per cent shareholding, We will
continue to remain selective in our investment process and
decisions. It is aur belief that the value creating cppartunity has to

Annual Report 2006

be one that makes absclute sense from an investment perspective
and, as well, enables us to influence key Board or management
functions, such that we can effect critical changes that may be
necessary in order to realize value. We will continue to be guided
by these criteria.

tooking ahead to 2007, our view is pcsitive.

PLDT will continue to grow by way of more innovative product and
service offerings in its traditional fixed and wireless businesses, and
through its cal' center and BPO activities. The upgrading of its
fixed-line infrastructure to the Next Generation Network (NGN} will
enhance its ability to handle greater volume of data
communication, enhance its voice business, and provide a platform
for the delivery of new content offerings at very affordable prices.
As these solutions are evaluated, developed and launched, we
should expect 1o see PLDT consolidate its position further as the
leader in products and profits in the Philippire telecommunications
landscape.

Indofood will strive 1o maintain the growth in volume it has
achieved in 2006, by maximizing its extensive distribution system
and its enhanced product slate. in addition, its recent investment
in the plantation business will support a more robust revenue and
profit growth in the future. Its strengthening competitive
production position and the recent conclusion of the placemeni of
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25 per cent of the enlarged share capital of its newly listed edible
oils and fats business - IndoAgri - in Singapore has positioned this
business for substantial expansion over the next few years. With
new and broader product offerings teing conceived by other
divisions, Indofood wilt soon begin a new and exciting period of
growth,

MPIC will seek new physical and social infrastructure projects, and
ensure that Maynilad Water progresses with its business and its
plans. We would expect some consolidation in 2007 within
Maynilad Water as the management of our newly acquired water
business will require time and resources to enhance water services
to the population covered by the concession. It is after all a
consumer products company-not simply a utility operation. We are
confident that we can eventually unlock the potential of this
business and build long-term value for MPIC.

with improved market outlook presented by the large games
communities in Brazil and in India, our view of our online games
business has turned positive for the year. However, the
development of these two markets has been slower than we
anticipated given the delayed introduction of technology and the
latency in game development. In 2007, we would expect a
substantial increase in the range and sophistication of the games
to be released into these two markets. In the Philippines, we are to
maintain our market leadership position through our merger with
ePLDT's netGames.

Managing Dircctor und Chiel Exceutive Officers Letter

We enter 2007 with optimism. Whilst the economic environment
where we have made our investments will continue to be
demanding, the fundamental strengths of our businesses reflected
in their aperating performance over the last twelve months signal
that 2007 would be a positive year. At the same time, we are
striving to balance our existing investment portfolio with new and
significant investrents in other countries within Asia - businesses
that complement the sectars we currently operate in, and those
that will continue enhancing shareholder value.

| would like o thank our shareholders most sincerely for their
patient support during our 25th year and look forward to this

continuing, as we exit our transition phase, and enter a new and
dynamic stage in your Company's development.

Most cordially

dk_/w/y'&.;

MANUEL V. PANGILINAN
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

11 April 2007
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Review of 2006 Goals

* Goal: Continue to improve share price performance
Achievement: Achieved. Share price increased by 35 per cent and
closed at HK$4.04; the highest {or the year. This compared with a 34
per cent increase in the Hang Seng Index. It traded at a high of
HK$5.13 in February 2007.

Goal: Continue 1o evaluate investment opportunities in
telecommunications, infrastructure or consumer food products
sectors in the Asia region

Achievement: Achieved. A significant number of oppertunities
were evaluated. However, given risk and pricing considerations,
further investment was limited to a) the completion in Janwary 2007
of an 84 per cent interest in Maynilad Water Services, Inc, (Maynilad
Water) through MPIC in partnership with DMCi Holdings, inc. for a
consideration of approximately US$533 million and b} the completion
in February 2007, through certain rights in connection with its
shareholding in Philippine Telecommunications Investment
Corporation, of an effective additional 6.4 per cent interest in PLDT
for a consideration of Pesos 25.2 billion {approximately U5$510.6
million).

Goal: Raise funds with improved terms for funding expansion
opportunities

Achievement: Achieved. Cash and finance facilities totalling
approximately U53533 million were raised to fund the investment in
Maynilad Water. The CAB Bonds were refinanced with a 5-year loan
with a reduction of 15 per cent in the cost of finance, Subsequent to
the year-end, U5%420 million of lcans were secured for the
acquisition of an effective additional 6.4 per cent interest in PLDT.

Geal: Maintain dividend payments te shareholders subject 1o
continued strong performance of PLDT and further improved
performance of Indofood

Achtevement: Achieved. An interim dividend of HK1.00 cent per
share was paid in October 2006. The Board, in view of the improved
operating contribution from the Company's investments,
recommended a final dividend of HK3.5 cents per share to be paid in
June 2007 This represents an increase of HK1.5 cents (75 per cent)
over the final didend for 2005. Subseguent to the year-end, a
special dividend of HK0.96 cent was made in relation to the spin off
of 25 per cent of the enlarged capital of Indofocd’s subsidiary,
Indofood Agri Resources Ltd. (IndeAgri) on the Singapore Stock
Exchange.

Goals for 2007

+ Evaluate new invesiment opportunities in telecoms, consumer food
products and infrastructure in the emerging markets in Asia

+ Continue to enhance value in our current operating businesses

+ Strengthen balance sheet in support of new investment opportunities

6 First Pacific Company Limited ~ Annual Report 2006

Review of 2006 Goals

¢ Goal: Continue te build out the Next Generation Network (NGN) and
roll out wireless broadband in order to increase broadband subscriber
base and expand the group’s data/broadband capabilities
Achievement: Achieved and ongoing. PLDT upgraded 150,000
fixed-lines to NGN lines while Smart increased its wireless broadband
capable base stations to 2,500. Total wireless and fixed-line
breadband subscriber base doubled to 265,000 and consolidated
revenues arising from broadband znd internet services increased by
49 per cent to Pesos 5.2 billion (Ut5$101.6 million). The NGN provides
a critical platform for PLOT to transition from traditional voice to
data-based services, which will be the driver of future growth,

Goal: Maximize Smart's 2G network by developing content and new
services to encourage higher usage and penetrate lower income
segments

Achievement: Achieved and ongeing. Smart continued its multi-
segment approach and introduced various innovative and competitive
top-up packages to stimulate usage and to improve network
efficiency. Text promotions were led by Alf Text packages — Alf Text 10
Bonus offers 15 messages without expiration at Pesos 12 (US$0.2)
while All Text 20 allowed 100 on-network messages for Pesos 20
{US$0.4) in one day; voice promotions included Tipid Talk which
allows a subscriber to make four cal's of up to 30 seconds each for
local on-network calls for one day at Pesos 10 (U530.2). In 2006,
Smart expanded the capacity of its ceilular netwark to handle 1
billion text messages per day. Smart’s 2G subscriber base increased
by approximately 3.8 million subscribers to reach 24,2 million as at
the end of 2006.

* Goal: Intreduce 3G technology and develop services and applications
to encourage usage
Achievement: Achieved. Smart’s 3G service was commercially
launched on 1 May 2006, with services including Smart-to-Smart
video calls, video streaming, high-speed internet browsing, video clip
downloading, ring tones, visual ringers and games at rates in line
with its existing 2G services,

* Goal: Reduce debt by a minimurn of US$$300 million
Achievement: Achieved. Raised target to US$350 million in August
20056, Consolidated debt reduced by US$362 million, 21 per cent
ahead of the original target of US$302 million. At the end of 2008,
total debt and net debt were down to U5$1.8 hillion and US$1.2
billion respectively, while net debt to EBITDA and net debt to free
cash flow ratios improved to 0.7 time and 1.6 times respectively.

* Goal: Raise dividends to common shareholders 1o a minimum of 50
per cent of 2006 core earnings
Achievement: Achieved. PLDT raised dividend payout from its
original 50 per cent of 2006 core earnings to 60 per cent. Total
dividends for 2006 reached Pesos 100 {approximately US$2) per
share compared 1o Pesos 70 (approximately US$1.3) per share for
2005. PLDT provided a total amount of Peses 18.8 billion (US$367.5
millien) for commen dividend payments in 2006, compared with
Pesos 12.3 hillion (US$223.7 million) in 2005.

Goals for 2007

= Manage transition to data and next gereration services, and
maximize the existing mainstream voice and text businesses
Accelerate the expansion of call centre and business process
outsourcing businesses

Expand both domestic and international m-commerce businesses
Continue segment-specific programs to further increase network
efficiency

Raise dividends 1o comman sharehelders to 70 per cent of 2007 core
earnings




THE SYMBOI OF

Indofood

QUALTY FOODS

Review of 2006 Goals

+ Goal: Implement and continue to enhance the new
distribution system to improve sales and area-
specific product mix
Achievement: Achieved. Indofood significantly
increased stock points allowing improved market
penetration and a mare efficient supply chain
operation. Most business groups reported strong
growth in sales votume and increase in market
shares, Net sales grew by 16.9 per cent in rupiah
terms or 24.7 per cent in U.S. dollar terms to
Rupiah 21,941.6 billion or S$2,398.5 million.

Goal: Continue to focus on branded products and
expand revenue through domestic, regional and
international business development

Achievement: Achieved. With the enhanced
distribution network and segment specific
marketing initiatives, toial sales of the consumer
branded products group improved by 18.6 per cent
in rupiah terms to Rupiah 8,446.9 billion or 26.4
per cent in U.S. dollar terms 10 U$3923.4 million,

Goal: Continue to strengthen market leadership
position

Achievement: Achieved. Indcfood's major
products remain market leaders in their respective
segments; a 77 per cent share of the noodles
market; 3 67 per cent share of flour market, a 43
per cent share of branded cooking oi! market and a
59 per cent share of the margarine and shartening
market. The company’s other products retained
their market positions.

Goal: Continue to expand oil palm plantation areas
to be able to meet the supply requirements of its
edible oil refineries

Achievement: Achieved. The expansion of
Indefood’s plantation business will accelerate
following the successful listing of the Edible Oils
and Fats group on the Singapore Siock Exchange in
February 2007. This raised approximately U$$270.8
million by ssuing new placement shares
representing 25 per cent of the enlarged capital of
IndoAgri. At the end of 20086, the plantation land
bank was approximately 224,100 hectares
{including approximately 85,500 hectares received
approval in 2006 and completed in March 2007), of
which approximately 66,900 hectares are planted
with oil palm trees and approximatety 5,000
hectares with rubber trees.

Goal: Further reduce foreign currency expasure by
reducing {oreign currency debt

Achievement: Not achieved. Eurcbonds totaling
US$143.7 million were fully refinanced through a
cambination of internal resources and foreign
currency borrowings. Indofood plans to refinance its
foreign currency debis by issuing 1.5 trillion rupiah
bonds in the secand quarter of 2007 in order to
reduce foreign currency expaosure.

* Goal: Continue operational efficiency enhancement
and cost reduction program
Achievement: Achieved. The enhancement of the
distribution network, reengineering of supply
chains, operating systems and procedures, and
further manpower raticnalization improved
efficiency. EBIT margin improved to 9.0 per cent
from 8.9 per cent.

Goals for 2007

Leverage brand equity and market position to
sustain growth and profitability

Leverage stock point network 1o expand products
distribution coverage

Continue to implement cost control and operaticnal
efficiency programs

Accelerate plantation expansion arganically or
through acquisition

Strengthen balance sheet and reduce foraign
currency exposure

.

METRO
PACIFIC

INVESTMENTS

Review of 2006 Goals

+ Goal: Complete reorganization and recapitalization
plan
Achievement: Achieved. MPIC, a new investment
nhoiding and management company was listed on the
Philippine Stack Exchange in December 2006. The
reorganization and recapitalizaticn of Metro Pacific
Corporation {Metro PacificMPIC included the
introduction of a strategic investor, Ashmore
Investment, a UK-based LS€-listed FTSE 250 company
with US$26.8 billion in assets under management.

MPIC's assats include a 50.0 per cent interest in a joint
venture, with DMCI Holdings, Inc.{DMCI), a diversified
philippine halding group, in the DMCI-MPIC Water
Company Inc. which hofds an 84 per cent interest in
Maynilad Water Services, Inc. (Maynilad Water), a
major water tility with a population of 8 million
people in the western part of Metro Manilz, and a
directly held 51.0 per cent interest in Landco Pacific
Corporation. Metro Pacific, the predecessor of MPIC,
became a subsidiary of MPIC, with a 15.3 per cent
jnterest in a domestic shipping company, Negras
Navigation Company Inc. (Nenaco).

Goa: Strengthen Landco’s position as & diversified
property developer through support 1o key expansicn
projects

Achievement: Achieved. During the year, Landco
expanded its offerings through its landmark Punta
Fuego residential resort by offering an additional 278
new lots for sale in the Terrazas de Punta Fuego. The
first phase of a major 200-hectare middle market
integrated beach, leisure and tourist cemmunity, Piaya
Calatagan, commenced with more than 636 fots for
sa'e. Sales from its popular Leisure Farms and Ponderosa
Leisure Farms projects, weekend farming communities
expanded amongst upper income Filipinos. The company
began work on its first condominium development
project in Metro Manila; “Tribeca” a development
community of mid-rise apartment residences, restaurants
and entertainment facilities with direct access to major
Metro Manila expressways.

Goal: Continue to explore investment opportunities in
the infrastructure sector

Achievement: Achieved. From an increasing number
of opportunities in various infrastructure sectors, MPIC
in partnership with DMC secured an 84 per cent
ownership of Maynilad Water, a company that has a
15-year concession to supply water to the western
part of Metra Manila.

MPIC continues 1 actively evaluate and study many
potential cpportunities in various infrastructure sectors
as demand for basic infrastruciure and utilities
increases with the higher economic growth rates.

* Goal: Continue imptementing a rehabilitation program
for Nenaco
Achievernent: Achieved. In view of the poor outlook
for the domestic shipping industry, its over capaity
2nd limited rehabilitation options, MPIC's subsidiary,
Metro Pacific, sold 83.7 per cent of its interest in
Nenaco in late 2006 for a nominat consideration to
Megros Holdings and Management Corporation, a
company comprising Nenaco's previous management
team.

Goals for 2007

+ Develop a comprehensive growth and enhanced profit
strategy for Maynilad Water and Makati Medical
Center

Raise new capital to fund potential new investments
and to comply with the Philippine Stock Exchange's
listing rules regarding free float requirement

Manage praject developments at Landco 1o build
profitable returns to the shareholders

Continue to eva'uate potential invesiment
opportunities in various infrastructure sectors

First Pacific Company Limited

Goals

levelupgames.ph

Review of 2006 Goals

«+ Goal: Diversify and expand games
portéolio
Achievement: Substantially
achieved. In the Phifippines, Leve!
Up launched RF Ondine, a 3-D
science fiction themed massively
multiplayer online rofe playing
game and free Style, a three-on-
three hip hop influenced
basketball casual game. In Brazil,
Level Up added Gunz and Grang
Chase, both are casual games, to
its Fmducls portfolio in 2006. RF
Qnline was launched in January
2007. In India, Ragnarok was
commercially taunched in March
2006 and Gunz is expected to be
launched in the first half of 2007.

Goal: Grow subscriber base in
higher growth markets in Brazil
and India
Achievement: Not achieved.
Level Up subscriber base in Brazil
and Inciia remains flat as a result
of the delay of launching new
ﬁames planned for the second
alf of 2006 and the slower than
anticipated developrment of the
Iniian market.

Goal: Develop supplementary
non-game revenye sources
Achievement: Partially
achigved. In the Philippines, Level
Up introduced market online
advertising and in game
advertisements in the first quarter
of 2006. Growth opporiunities
remain positive in the medium
term as the online advertising
market continues to expand. Non-
game revenue sources include in
game and website advertising,
sponsarships, events and
merchandising.

Goal: Build alliances and a
dominant distribution netwark
Achievement: Achieved. In its
various territories, Level Up has
expanded its distribution
partnerships and networks and
received marketing support from
strategic distribution partners in
the media and retail sectors,
including Coca-Cola, Nestlé, and
Blockbuster.

Goal: Further build the "Level Up!™
brand

Achievement: Partialky
achieved. In the Philippines,
“Level Up!* brand further
strengthened by the Jaunch of its
new website in the fourth quarter
of 2006 aleng with the continued
marketing and prometion of its
game titfes. In Braz, the comﬁany
expanded its branding throug

the introduction of new games
along with distribution deals with
Blockbuster and UOL (a leading
Brazilian internet portal). The
development of the brand in India
has been slower than planned
given the refative slow
development of the infrastructure
to support the gaming offering.

Goals for 2007

+ Diversify and expand games portfelio
Complete the merger of Level Up!
Philippines with netGames, and
maximize synergies in the
Philippines with ePLDT

tdentify and procure compelling
content

Grow subscriber base

Develop supplementary non-game
[evenye 5ources
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DOoard or prectors and Senior fxecutives

Board of Directors

ANTHONI SALIM

Chairman

Age 58, born in Indonesia. Mr. Salim is the son of Seedono Salim.

He graduated from Ewell County Technical College in London.
Mr. Salim is the President and CEQ of the Salim Group, President
Director and CEO of PT Indofood Sukses Makmur Tbk, and holds
positions as Commissioner and Director in various companies,
including Futuris Corporation Limited, Australia.

Mr. Salim serves on the Boards of Advisors of several multi-
national companies. He was a member of the GE International
Advisory Board from September 1934, and is currently a member
of the Advisory Board of ALLIANZ Group, an insurance company
based in Germany, and Rabo Bank of the Netherlands. He joined
the Asia Business Council in September 2004.

Mr. Salim has served as a Director of First Pacific since 1981 and
assumed the rale of Chairman in June 2003,

8 First Pacific Company Limited ~ Annual Report 2006
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MANUEL V. PANGILINAN

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

Age 60, born in the Philippines. Mr. Pangilinan received a BA from
Atenec de Manila University and an MBA from University of
Pennsylvania’s Wharton School before working in the Philippines
and Hong Kong for the PHINMA Group, Bancom International
Limited and American Express Bank. He served as First Pacific’s
Managing Director after founding the Company in 1981, was
appointed Executive Chairman in February 1999 and resumed the
role of Managing Director and CEO in June 2003,

Mr. Pangilinan also served as President and CEO of PLDT since
November 1998 and was appointed Chairman of PLDT in February
2004, He is the Chairman of Metro Pacific Investments
Corporation, Metro Pacific Corporation, Smart Communications,
Inc., Pilipine Telephone Corporation, and Landco Pacific
Corporation, as well as the President Commissioner of PT indofood
Sukses Makmur Thk. He also holds directorship in Citra Metio
Manila Tollways, Corporatian.

In May 2006, the Office of the President of the Philippines
awarded Mr. Pangilinan the Qrder of Lakandula, rank of
Komandante in recognition of his contributions to the country. He
was named Management Man of the Year 2005 by the
Management Assaciation of the Philippines and was awarded
Honorary Doctorates in Humanities by Xavier University in 2007
and by San Beda College in 2002 in the Philippines. He is
Chairman of the Board of Trustees of Ateneo de Manila University,
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Medical Doctors Inc {Makati
Medical Center), and Chairman of the non-profit crganization,
Philippine Business for Social Progress. Mr. Pangilinan is also
Chairman of the Hong Kong Bayanihan Foundation, a civic
organization based in Hong Kong.




EDWARD A. TORTORICI

Executive Director

Age 67, born in the United States. Mr. Tortorici received a BS from
New York University and an MS from Fairfield University.

Mr. Tortorici has served in a variety of senior and executive
management positions, including Corporate Vice President for
Crocker Bank and Managing Director positions at Olivetti
Corporation of America and Fairchild Semiconductor Corporation.

Mr. Tortorici subsequently founded EA Edwards Associates, an
international management and consulting firm specializing in strategy
formulation and productivity improvement with offices worldwide,

In 4987 Mr. Tortonci joined First Pacific as an Executive Director
and launched the Group's entry into the telecommunications and
technology sectars. Presently, he oversees corporate strategy for
First Pacific and guides the Group's strategic planning and
corporate restructuring activities. Mr, Tortorici also serves as a
Commissioner of consumer foods company PT Indofood Sukses
Makmur Thk and is a Director of ACeS International Limited, both
corporations are based in Indonesia. He is alse a Director of Metro
Pacific Corporation and Landco Pacific Corporation, companies
located in the Philippines.

Board ol Directors and Senior Eaceutives
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ROBERT C. NICHOLSON

Executive Director

Age 51, born in Scotland. Mr. Nicholson gualified as a sclicitor in
England and Wales in 1980 and in Hong Kong in 1982. He was a
senior partner of Richards Butler from 1985 to 2001 where he
established the corporate and commercial department. He has had
wide experience in corporate finance and cross-border
transactions, including mergers and acquisitions, regional
telecommunications, debt and equity capital markets, corporate
reorganizations and the privatization of state-owned enterprises in
the People’s Republic of China.

Mr. Nicholson was a senior advisor to the Board of Directors of
PCCW Limited between August 2001 and September 2003. He is an
Independent Non-executive Director of QPL International Holdings
Limited and Pacific Basin Shipping Limited. In November 2005, he
becarne a Non-executive Director of India Capital Growth Fund
Limited which is listed on the AIM market of the London Stack
Exchange. Mr. Nicholson serves as a Commissioner of PT Indofood
Sukses Makmur Tok and is a Director of Level Up! International
Holdings Pte Lid. He joined First Pacific’s Board in June 2003 and
was named an Executive Director in November 2003,
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PROFESSOR EDWARD K.Y. CHEN, css, cac s

Independent Non-executive Director

Age 62, born in Hong Kong and educated at the University of
Hong Kong and Oxford University. Professor Chen serves as
President of Lingnan University; an Independent Non-executive
Director of Asia Satellite Telecommunications and Wharf Holdings
Limited. He is the trustee for Eaton Vance Management Funds.
Formerly, Professor Chen served as Chairman of Hong Kong's
Censumer Council; as an Executive Councillor of the Hong Kong
Government; and as a Legisiative Councillor, Professor Chen joined
First Pacific's Board in 1993.

GRAHAM L. PICKLES

Independent Non-executive Director

Age 50, born in Australia, Mr. Pickles holds a Bachelor of Business
degree (majoring in accounting). He is a member of the Certified
Practising Accountants of Australia, and is a Fellow of the
Australian Institute of Directors.

M. Pickles has significant experience in the distribution and
technelogy sectors, running several distribution businesses in Asia
and Australasta in the IT and telecommunications industries, over a
career spanning more than 20 years.

Mr. Pickles serves as a Commissioner of PT Indofood Sukses
Makmur Tbk and was appointed Chairman of Asia Pacific Brands
India Limited in 2005. He was praviously the CEQ of Tech Pacific
Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of First Pacific
Company Limited until Tech Pacific was sold in 1997. Mr. Pickles
was also a member of the executive committee of Hagemeyer N.V.
in which First Pacific had a controlling interest until 1998.

Mr. Pickles joined First Pacific's Board in 2004.

DAVID W.C, TANG, OBE, Chevalier de L'Ordre des Arts et des Lettres

independent Non-executive Director

Age 52, born in Hong Kang, Mr. Tang was educated locally and
then Cambridge, London and Beijing, where he also taught English
and Philosophy. Mr, Tang is the founder of Shanghai Tang; the
China Clubs in Beijing, Hong Kong and Singapore; China Tang in
London and Pacific Cigars. He joined First Pacific’s Board in 1989,

First Pacific Company Limited  Annual Report 2006

AMBASSADOR ALBERT F. DEL ROSARIO

Non-executive Director

Age 67, born in the Philippines. The former Ambassador of the
Republic of the Philippines to the United States of America from
October 2001 to August 2006. Ambassador del Rosario earned his
Bachelor's Degree in Economics at New York University. He is
currently Chairman of Gotuaco, del Rosaric and Associates, Inc.,
BusinessWarld Publishing Corporation, Makati Foundation for
Education and is President of Philippine Telecommunications
Investment Corporation and the Management Association of the
Philippines. Ambassador del Rosario serves as Commissioner or
Director in numerous companies and non-profit organizations
including PT Indofood Sukses Makmur Tbk, Phifippine Long
Distance Telephone Company, Infrontier (Philippines), Inc., Metro
Pacific Investments Corporation, Asfa Traders Insurance
Corporation, Landco Pacific Corporation, Philippine Cancer Society
and is a member of the Board of Trustees of the International

. Graduate University, Washington, DC. He also headed the

development of Pacific Plaza Towers, Metro Pacific Corporation’s
signature project in Fort Bonifacio’s Global City.

In September 2004, Ambassador del Rosario was conferred the
Order of Sikatuna, Rank of Datu, by H.E. President Gloria
Macapagal-Arroyo for his outstanding efforts in promoting foreign
relations. He is moreover a recipient of the EDSA Il Presidential
Heroes Award in recognition of his work in fostering Philippine
Democracy and the Philippine Army Award from H.E. President
Corazon Aquino for his accomplishments as Chairman of the
Makati Foundation for Education. He was recently elevated to the
Xavier Hall of Fame in New York City. Ambassador del Rosario
joined First Pacitfic’s Board in June 2003.

SUTANTO DJUHAR

Non-executive Director

Age 78, born in Indonesia. Mr. Djuhat has founded numerous
Indenesian companies involved primarily in real estate
development. He is a Commissicner of PT Kartika Chandra and
serves as a Director of PT Bogasari Flour Mills and Pacific Industries
and Development Limited. Mr. Djuhar, who is the father of Tedy
Djuhar, joined First Pacific's 8oard in 1981.




TEDY DJUHAR

Non-executive Director

Age 55, born in Indonesia. Mr. Djuhar received a Bachelor of
Economics degree from the University of New England in Australia.
Mr. Djuhar is the Vice President Director of PT Indocement Tunggal
Prakarsa Thk, Director of Pacific Industries and Development
Limited, and Director of a number of other Indonesian companies.
He is the son of Sutanto Djuhar. Mr. Djuhar joined First Pacific’s
Board in 1981.

IBRAHIM RISJAD

Non-executive Director

Age 73, born in Indonesia. Mr. Risjad serves as a Commissioner of
PT Indofood Sukses Makmur Tbk. He joined First Pacific’s Board in
1981.

BENNY S. SANTOSO

Non-executive Director

Age 49, born in Indonesia. Mr. Santoso graduated from Ngee Ann
College in Singapore. He serves as a Director of PT Indocement
Tunggal Prakarsa Tbk, and a Commissicner of PT Indofood Sukses
Makmur Tok and PT Indosiar Visual Mandiri Tbk. He also serves as
a Director or a Commissioner of a number of other indonesian
compantes. Mr. Santoso joined First Pacific’s Board in June 2003.

Board of Directors and Senior Executives

Advisors

SOEDONO SALIM

Honorary Chairman and Advisor to the Board

Age 92, born in China. Mr. Salim served as First Pacific's Chairman
from 1981 untii February 1999, when he assumed his current
titles. He serves as Chairman of the Salim Group.

SUDWIKATMONO

Advisor to the Board

Age 73, born in Indonesia. Mr, Sugwikatmono served as a Director
of First Pacific fram 1981 until February 1999, when he assumed
his current title. He is a Vice President Commissioner of

PT indocement Tunggal Prakarsa Thk and holds board positions
with a number of other Indonesian companies.

First Pacific Company Limited  Annual Report 2006 11
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RICHARD L. BEACHER

Executive Vice President
Group Financial Controller

Age 48, born in United
Kingdom. Mr. Beacher received
a BA (Hons) in Economics and
Accounting from University of
Newcastle Upon Tyne, U.X. He
is a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales and a
member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Pubiic
Accountants. Mr. Beacher
moved to Hong Kong in 1984
with PriceWaterhouse and
most recently served in
financial positicns with
Hagemeyer Cosa Lieberman
and latterly with Siemens
Building Technologies as Global
Business Line Controller. He
joined First Pacific in 2006.

Annual Report 2006

MAISIE M.S. LAM

Executive Vice President
Group Human Resources

Age 52, born in Hong Kong.

Ms. Lam received a Diploma
from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University/Hong
Kong Management
Association. She joined First
Pacific in 1983.

JOSEPH H.P, NG
Executive Vice President
Group Finance

Age 44, horn in Hong Kong.
Mr. Ng received an MBA and
a Professional Diploma in
Accountancy from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University.
He is @ member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and of the
Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Mr. Ng
joined First Pacific in 1988 from
PriceWaterhouse's audit and
business advisory department in
Hong Kong, Prior to his
appointment as Executive Vice
President, Group Finance in
May 2002, Mr. Ng was Group
Treasurer of the First Pacific
group and served in several
senior finance positions within
the First Pacific group. He is a
Director of Level Up!
International Holdings Pte Ltd.




Board of Directors and Senior lusecutives

RICHARD P.C. CHAN
Assistant Vice President
Group Finance

Age 37, born in Hong Kong.
Mr. Chan received a BBA
{Hons) degree from the Hong
Kong Baptist University and an
MBA from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He is
a Certified Public Accountant
(Practising), a CFA
charterholder and a fellow of
the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants
and the Asscciation of
Chartered Certified
Accountants. He has over 10
years' experience in auditing,
accounting, finance and
management spanning a
diverse range of business
activities. Mr. Chan joined First
Pacific in 1996 from KPMG.

SARA 5.K. CHEUNG
Assistant Vice President
Group Corporate Communications

Age 43, born in Hong Kong.
Ms. Cheung received a BA in
Business Economics from UCLA
(University of California, Los
Angeles) and an MBA from
Southern Illinois University,
Carbondale. She is a member
of the Natienal [nvestor
Relations (nstitute. Ms. Cheung
joined First Pacific in 1997
from the Public Affairs
department of Wharf Limited
and Wheelock and Company
Limited.

NANCY L.M. LI
Assistant Vice President
Company Secretary

Age 49, born in Hong Kong.
Ms. Li received a BA from
McMaster University in Canada
and a M5c in Corporate
Governance and Directorship
from Hong Kong Baptist
University, She is a fellow of
the Hong Kong Institute of
Company Secretaries and The
Institute of Chartered
Secretaries & Administrators of
Great Britain. Ms. Li joined First
Pacific in 1987 from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University's
academic secretariat. Prior to
that, she worked in the
company secretarial
department of Cocpers &
Lybrand. Ms. Li was appointed
as First Pacific's Company
Secretary in May 2003.

First Pacific Company Limited

PETER T.H.LIN
Assistant Vice President
Group Tax and Treasury

Age 37, born in Hong Kong.
Mr. Lin received an M5¢ in
Management Sciences and BSc¢
in Economics and Statistics
from the University of
Southampton and Coventry
University respectively. He is a
Fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the
Assaciation of Chartered
Ceriified Accountants. He is
also a member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales and the
Hong Kong Tax Institute, Mr.
Lin joined First Pacific in 1998
from KPMG where he was a
Tax Manager specializing in
Corporate Tax,
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Turnover Group profit®

For the year ended 31 December 2006 2005 2006 2005
Us$ millions (Rastated)®
PLDTH - - 138.2 122.4
Indofood 2,398.5 1,923.4 54.7 296
MPIC/Metro Pacific 76.3 62.7 (3.7 6.0)
Level Upf - - (1.9} {1.5)
From operations 2,474.8 1,986.1 187.3 144.5
Head Office items:

— Carporate overhead (13.7) (11.%)

- Net interest expense (22.9) (20.3)

- Other expenses (0.8) {5.3)
Recurring profit 149.9 107.4
Foreign exchange and derivative losses™ (51.5) (18.5)
Non-recurring items®™ 66.1 14.1
Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent 164.5 103.0

(i} After 1axation and minority interest, where appropriate.

{iiy To conform with the Group's current year results presentation, the Group has restated its 2005 profit
contribution from PLOT from US$132.2 million to U5%$122.4 million, which reflects the reclassification of
recognized Piltel’s deferred tax assets and accelerated depreciation on fixed line network due to Next
Generation Network (NGN) upgrade as non-recurring items. Accardingly, the Group’s nan-recurring items
for 2005 is restated from US$4.3 million 10 US$14.1 million. Such restatements have no effect on the
Group's 2005 profit attributable 1o equity holders of the parent.

(in} Associated companies.

(iv) 2006's fareign exchange and derivative losses include a US$89.7 miflion (2005: US$25.4 million) loss on
revaluation of option element embedded in Head Office's Exchangeable Notes, partly offset by a US$31.2
million {2005: Mily gain on changes in the fair value of 1.1 per cent PLDT shares acquired by the Group in
2006 and designated a5 financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and US$7.0 million {2005:
US$6.9 million) gains on fareign exchange translation differences on the Group’s unhedged foreign
currency denominated borrowings and derivative contracts.

{wv) 200&'s non-recurring gains of US366.1 million mainty comprise a gain on divestment of the Group’s
interest in PLDT of US$58.2 million on settlement of certain Head Office’s Exchangeable Notes with PLDT
shares and a gain on dilution upon conversion of PLDT's convertible preference shares of US$38.7 million,
partly offset by impairment provisions for certain of the Group’s assets. 2005's non-recurring gains of
US$14.1 million mainly comprise PLDT’s net non-recurring items (which represent recognition of Piltel's
deferred tax assets less accelerated depreciation on the fixed line network due to NGN upgrade) of US$9.8
million, geodwill compensation receivad by Indefood in connection with the establishment of & joint
venture entity of US54.8 million and Metro Pacific's adjustments made 1o amounts owed to Pacific Plaza
Towers contractor, partly offsel by a loss on dilution of the Group's interest in PLDT of U536.3 million,
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During the year, the Group's turnover increased by 24.6 per cent to US$2,474.8 million (2005: U5$1,986.1 million), principally reflecting
an increase in Indofood's turnover and a strengthened rupiah. The Group’s businesses improved their operating performance in 2006,
recording profit contributions totaling US$187.3 million (2005: US$144.5 mitlion), an increase of 29.6 per cent. Recurring profit also
increased by 39.6 per cent to US$149.9 million from US$107.4 million in 2005. The Group recorded US$51.5 million (2005: US$18.5
million) net foreign exchange and derivative losses and US$66.1 miltion (2005: US$14.1 million) of net non-recurring gains. As a result,
the Group recorded a net profit for 2006 of US$164.5 million, a 59.7 per cent improvement over 2005 net profit of Us$103.0 millicn.

The Group's operating results are denominated in local currencies, principally the peso and rupiah, which are transtated and consolidated
to provide the Group's results in U.S. dollar. The changes of these currencies against the U.S. dollar is summarized below.

Exchange rates against Exchange rates against
the U.S. dollar the U.S. dollar
One year For the year One year
At 31 December 2006 2005 change ended 31 December 2006 2005 change
Closing Average
Peso 49.06 53.09 +8.2% Peso 51.16 54.99 +7.5%
Rupiah 9,020 9,830 +9.0% Rupiah 9,148 9,756 +6.6%

In 2006, the Group recorded net foreign exchange and derivative losses of US$51.5 million (2005: US$18.5 million), which may be further
analyzed as follows:

Us$ miltions 2006 2005
Head Office (59.4) (25.4)
PLDT 4.7 12.8
indofood 38 (6.1)
Qthers (0.6) 0.2
Total (51.5) (18.5)

+ Principal investments, PLDT and Indofood, have performed above expectations

* First Pacific has increased activity and contact with the investment community over the last twelve months

« Completed the reorganization and recapitalization of Metro Pacific with the relisting on Philippine Stock Exchange in December 2006
« The company has raised in excess of US$1 billion at competitive rates to fund acquisitions over the last twelve months

In February 2007, the Group completed the acquisition of an additional approximately 46 per cent interest in Philippine
Telecommunications Invesiment Corporation from the Philippine Government for a consideration of Pesos 25.2 billion (approximately
Us$510.6 million). This represented approximately 6.4 per cent interest in PLDT, thereby raising the Group’s shareholding in PLDT to
approximately 29 per cent. The transaction was financed with a combination of US$90.6 million from internal resousces and U53420
million of borrowings.

PLDT has been a strategic investment of the Group since 1998. It has reported cutstanding performances over the last few years and is a
major earnings and dividend contributor to the Group. The Group will continue to benefit from the strong performance of PLDT.

Indofaod has achieved significant sales volume growth across all of its divisions and this has resulted in a significant improvement in net
income, an improvement in operating return and a strengthening of its balance sheet.

The Group made an investment in infrastructure sector through its subsidiary MPIC. MPIC partnered with DMCI Holdings, Inc. and won an
auction of an 84 per cent interest in Maynilad Water Services, Inc. for a total consideration of U$$532.8 million from the Philippine
Government. The transaction was completed in January 2007.

2007 Outlook

First Pacific has focused on enhancing the operational and financial performance of its key operating businesses over the last few years.
The improved results in 2006 are the product of this intense and concentrated effort. It is anticipated that 2007 performance will be
stronger than 2006.

The emerging markets in Asia continue to present oppartunities in the telecoms, consumer food products and infrastruciure sectors.
These opporiunities will be pursued and evaluated and with a continuing positive outlook for the financial markets, a variety of financial
options will be available to support targeted investments.

Mare specifically, the economic outlook for both the Philippines and Indonesia is encouraging and we anticipate that PLDT, Indofood and

MPIC will build on the achievements of the last twelve months and continue to expand their businesses and match, if not exceed, their
performance targets for 2007.

First Pacific Company Limited ~ Annual Report 2006 15
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PLDTs operations are principally denominated in peso, which averaged Pesos 51.16 (2005:
54.99) to the U.5. dollar. Its financial results are prepared under Philippine GAAP and
reported in peso. First Pacific's financial results are prepared under Hong Kong GAAP and
reported in U.S. dollar. Despite the Philippine GAAP and Hong Kong GAAP being based
largely on IFRSs, certain adjustments still need to be made to PLDT's reported peso results
to ensure {full compliance with Hong Kong GAAP. An analysis of these adjustments
follows.

2006 2005

Peso millions {Restated)
Net income under Philippine GAAP® 35,116 34,112
Preference dividends™ {456) (1,427)
Net income attributable o common shareholders 34,660 32,685
Differing accounting treatments™

- Reclassification of non-recurring items (2,559) (2,207)

- QOthers (1,081) (336)
Intragroup items™ 300 300
Adjusted net income under Hong Kong GAAP 31,320 30,442
Foreign exchange and derivative gains™ (1,042) (2,859)
PLDT’s net income as reported by First Pacific 30,278 27,583
uUs$ millions
Net income at prevailing average rates for

2006: Pesos 51.16 and 2005: Pesos 54.99 591.8 501.6
Contribution to First Pacific Group profit,

at an average shareholding of

2006: 23.4% and 2005: 24 4% 138.2 122.4

(iy PLDT has restated its recurring income for 2005 from Pesos 31,253 million ta Pesos 29,046 million after
reclassifying Pesos 7.3 billion deferred tax assets and benefits (recognized after Pilted has established a
histery of taxable profits} and Pesos 5.1 billion additonal accelerated depreciation expenses due to
migration to NGN as non-recurring items.,

(i) Firs1 Pacific presents net income after deduction of preference dividends.

(i)} Differences in accounting treatment under Philippine GAAP, compared with Hong Kang GAAP. The
principal adjusiments include
- Reclassification of non-recurring items: Certain items, through occurrence ar size, are not considered

usual, operating items which are reallocated and presented separately. In 2006, Pesos 5.5 hillion {2005:
Pesos 7.3 hillion) deferred tax assets and benefits, Pesos 3.5 billion (2005: Nil} reversal of provisions for
an onerous contract relating to ACeS sateliite, Pesos 5.1 billion (2005: Pesos 5.1 billion) additional
accelerated depreciation expenses due to migration to NGN and Pesas 1.4 hillion (2005: Nif) asset
impairment provisions were excluded and presented separately as nen-recurring items,

{iv) These are standard consciidation adjusiments te ensure that transactions between Group companies are
ehminated to present the Group as a single economic entity.

{v) To illustrate the underlying operational results and profit contributions, foreign exchange and derivative
gains (net1 of related tax) are excluded and presented separately,

Review ol Operations P LDT

PLDT's Domestic Fiber Optic
Network Map

O Toll / Relay / Fiber Optic Station
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— Digital Radio Link
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An analysis of PLDT’s contribution ta the First Pacific Group, adjusted for Hong Kong
GAAP and translated into U.S. dollars, foltows.

Turnover Profit

2006 2005 % change 2006 2005 % change
Us$ millions {Restated)
Wireless 15322 13579 +12.8 7711 7146 +87
Fixed Line 960.5 903.0 6.4 319.5 275.2 +6.1
ICT* 121.9 53.7 +138.2 29 1.8 +61.1
Inter-segment elimination (174.4)  (133) +539 - - -
Total 24462 22013 +H11
Segment result 1,099.5 991.6 +10.9
Net borrowing costs {178.8} (219.1) -18.4
Share of profits less fosses of associates (1.4) 0.1 -
Profit before taxation 919.3 7726 +19.0
Taxation (314.3) (238.6) 1317
Profit for the year 605.0 534.0 +133
Minarity interast (4.3) (6.7) -35.8
Profit attributable to equity holders 500.7 5273 +139
Freference dividends (8.9) (25.7) 65.4
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 591.8 501.6 +18.0
Average shareholding (%) 234 244 -
Contribution to group profit 1382 1224 +12.9

* Information and Communfcations Technology

PLDT's profit contribution to the Group increased by 13 per cent to US$138.2 million
(2005 restated: US$122.4 million) representing 74 per cent of First Pacific's aggregate
profit contribution from operations of subsidiary and associated companies in 2006.

In peso terms, PLDT's consolidated net income increased by 3 per cent to Pesos 35.1
billion (US$686.1 million). The positive impact from the reversal of Pesos 3.5 billion

{Us$68.4 million) {2005: Nil) pravisions made to ACeS related contracts was offset by an
additional net depreciation expense of Pesos 5.1 billion (US$89.7 miliion} (2005: Pesos 5.1
billion; US$92.7 miflion} in relation to the upgrading of the existing fixed line network to
NGN, lower net foreign exchange gains of Pesos 1.0 billion {U$$19.S million) {2005: Pesos
2.9 billion; US$52.7 million), asset impairment charges of Pesos 1.4 billion (US$27.4
million) {2005: Nil) for Mabuhay's satellite and debt investments made by ePLDT, and
iower recognition of deferred tax assets amounting to Pesos 5.5 biltion (US$107.5 million)
(2005; Pesos 7.3 billion; US$132.8 million).




Core net income increased by 9 per cent to Pesos 31.5 billion (US$615.7 million)
reflecting improvements in the key areas of the business. Consolidated service revenues
increased to Pesos 125.1 billion (US$2,446.2 million) (2005: Pesos 121.1 biilion;
US5$2,201.3 million) mainly due to higher revenue contributions from its Wireless and
Information and Communications Technalogy (ICT) units and partly offset by the 7 per
cent appreciation of the peso on PLDT Group’s U.S. dollar linked revenues. Consolidated
EBITDA improved to Pesos 79.6 billion (U5$1,555.9 million) {2005: Pesos 77.2 billion;
US%1,403.9 millicn) and EBITDA margin was stable at 64 per cent of service revenues.

Consolidated free cash flow remained strong at Pesos 33.7 billion {US$658.7 mitlion)
(2005: Pesos 51.2 billion; US$931.1 million} despite consclidated capital expenditure
rising by 41 per cent to Pesos 21.1 hillion (US$412.4 millicn} (2005: Pesos 15.0 biflion;
U5%272.8 million) as a result of the development of the 3G network and upgrading to
150,000 IP-based Next Generation Network (NGN} lines.

Consolidated debt was reduced by US$362 million {2005: US$713 million). At the end of
2006, totai debt and net debt were reduced to US$1.8 billion and US$1.2 billicn
respectively, Net dett to EBITDA and net debt to free cash flow ratios improved 10 0.7
time and 1.6 times respectively.

As a result of PLDT's initiatives to transform to next generation communication services,
the contribution of its total wireless and fixed line data services and ICT business increased
to 45 per cent of consolidated service revenues in 2006 compared with 40 per cent in
2005. Consolidated data and ICT revenues grew by 18 per cent to Pesos 56.4 billion
(U5%1,102.4 million} which more than compensated for the decline tn traditional voice
revenues.

PLDT declared a final dividend of Pesos 50 {US$1) per share for the year. Total dividends
far 2006 reached Pesos 100 (US$2) (2005; Pesos 70; US$1.3) per share, equivalent to a
60 per cent payout of its consolidated core earnings.

Wireless Smart's and Piltel’s consolidated wireless service revenues increased by 5 per
cent to Pesos 78.4 billion (US$1,532.4 million) (2005: Pesos 74.7 billion; US$1,358.4
million) principally from the sustained growth in data revenue and the subscriber base.
Consolidated wireless EBITDA increased by 5 per cent to Pesos 50.3 billion (U$3983.2
million) (2005: Pesos 48.0 billion; US$872.9 million} resulting from Smart's control of cash
operating expenses, while EBITDA margins remained stable at 64 per cent.

Smart continued its multi-segment approach and introduced various innovative and
competitive top-up packages to stimulate usage and to improve network efficiency. Text
promotions were led by Aff Text packages — All Text 10 Bonus offers 15 messages without
expiration at Pesos 12 (US$0.2) while All Text 20 allowed 100 on-network messages for
Pesos 20 (US$0.4) in one day; voice promotions included Tipid Talk which allows a
subscriber to make four calls of up to 30 seconds each for local on-network calls for one
day at Pesos 10 (US$0.2). In 2006, PLDT's cellular netwaorks served 238 billion

{2005: 96 billion) text messages which is equivalent to approximately 65C million per day.
Smart's current cellular network is capable of handling 1 billion text messages per day.

In addition to the Smart 252 and Aflf Text senes packages and promotions, Smart
introduced an expanded version of Aff Text - LAHATxt, a top-up service which offers a
bundle of text messages to all networks. These offers are expected 1o further improve
usage and customer loyalty.

Smart and Piltel's Tafk ‘N Text combined GSM subscriber base grew by 3.8 million to

24.2 million {31 December 2005: 20.4 million) representing approximately 58 per cent of
the total cellutar market in the Philippines. PLDT's cellular subscriber base further increased
to aver 25 million at the end of February 2007. At the end of 2006, the cellular
penetration rate in the Philippines was approximately 48 per cent.

Review of Operations PLDT
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Smart’s wireless breoadband service Smart Bro’s subscriber base increased by 96,000 to
about 122,000 as at year end. Its extensive broadband network is supported by
approximately 2,500 related base stations located all over the Philippines which provide
high speed access to internet services.

During 2006, Smart launched its 3G service on the widest 3G network in the Philippines,
Its 3G services enables Smart-to-Smart video calls, video streaming, high-speed internet
browsing, video clip downloading, ring tones, visual ringers and games at rates in line
with its existing 2G services.

The future revenue growth of the wireless business is no longer limited to the domestic
market. As part of GSM Association’s global mobile money transfer program, Smart plans
to launch a range of more affordable remittance services in the Middle East and Europe
through its existing mokbile-based financial services platform.

Fixed Line Fixed Line service revenues slightly decreased, in pesos terms, to

Pesos 49.1 billion {US$959.7 million) (2005: Pesos 49.7 billion; US$903.8 million) resulting
from the reduction in revenues of the local exchange and international long distance call
service revenues partly due to the 7 per cent year-on-year appreciation of the peso,
slightly offset by the increase in corperate data and residential digital subscriber line (DSL)
data services revenues. Fixed Line EBITDA slightly decreased to Pesos 28.4 billion
(US$555.1 million) (2005: Pesos 28.6 billion; US3$520.1 millicn). EBITDA margins remain
stable at 58 per cent.

PLDT's retail D5L and Vibe dial-up Internet service accelerated growth with consolidated
revenues significantly improving by 32 per cent to Pesos 3.5 billion {U5$68.4 million)

{2005: Pesos 2.7 billion; US$49.1 million} which accounted for 68 per cent of PLDT Group's
broadband and internet revenues. In 2008, retail DSLs broadband subscribers grew by 44,000
to 133,000 while Vibe dial-up internet service subscribers increased by 30,000 to 297,000.

PLDT plans to acceierate the upgrading of its Fixed Line facilities to NGN while continuing
to promote Smart’s wireless broadband offering in areas currently not covered by PLDT
fixed line facilities. PLDT Graup’s comprehensive approach to promote broadband allowed
its total broadband and internet revenues to increase by 49 per cent to Pesos 5.2 billion
(US$101.6 million) as the combined retail DSL and wireless broadband subscriber base
doubled to 265,000. The upgrade to NGN enables PLDT to expand its fixed line coverage
and enhance its capability to provide a wider range of data and other next generation
communicaticn services.

Information and Communications Technology (ICT) ePLDT service revenues more than
doubled to Pesos 6.5 billion (US$127.1 million) (2005: Pesos 3.0 billion; US$54.6 million}
resulting from an increase in capacity utilization and billable hours of the call center group
Ventus and the consolidation of SPi Technologies, Inc. {SPi) which was acquired by ePLDT
in July 2006. Ventus’ growth continued in 2006 and call centers contributed Pesos 2.6
billion (US$50.8 million) or 40 per cent 1o ePLDT' service revenues. The calt center group
naow employs 6,300 staff members and operates 5,600 seats in eight locations.




In July 2006, PLDT expanded its business portfolio to the global business process
outsourcing (BPC) market by acquiring the full ownership of SPi for a consideration of
US$135 million. SPiis ranked as the world's second largest pure-play BPO service provider
and the ninth largest independent BPQ company. Recently, it ranked fourth of the global
“Top Best BPO Providers” and in the top five of “Top Leaders in Human Capital
Development” by CMP/Cybermedia. It has operations in 19 locations in North America,
Europe and Asia with its principal businesses being in the healthcare, legal and publishing
markets. SPi has a total of 3,700 seats of which 80 per cent are located in the Philippines
and the balance in India and Vietnam.

The call center and BPO businesses have seats of approximately 8,300 {2005 call center of
3,347 seats) and staff of 12,000. ePLDT wiil further develop the growth potential of these
two businesses by offering a wide range of voice and data services 1o the international
market.

ePLDT accelerated its gaming content development for both fixed line broacband and
wireless businesses by acquiring a 60 per cent interest in Level Up! Philippines, and a

25.5 per cent interest in Philweb which is an internet-based gaming company. The merger
of Level Up! Philippines and ePLDT's netGames cormmenced in October 2006 and the
consolidation of this is expected to be completed in the first half of 2007. ePLDT has a

60 per cent market share in this segment.

2007 Outlook

The PLDT Group's transformation into a diversified telecoms conglomerate is continuing.
This transformation involves the continued upgrade of the network, a re-engineering of
processes and reorientation of employees, the integration of various fixed line and wireless
platforms, such that products and services can be transformed for the delivery of the next
generation services which combine connectivity with compelling content and innovative
applications.

In 2006, the PLDT Group's results showed the beginning of this transformation as it rolled
out NGN, 3G and wireless broadband. In 2007, the PLDT Group will focus on the
integration of its billing and information technology platforms, maximizing its existing
platforms in order to roll cut services cost-effectively to various markets. The move to NGN
allows the PLDT Group to expand its coverage, capacity and capability to enhance further
and add value to its services and products in the years to come.

The PLDT Group will accelerate the expansion of call center and BPO businesses through
Ventus and SPi in order to increase its participation in the growing global outscurcing
business, as well as diversifying its revenue base and extending its services into the
international market.

PLDT management expects the strong performance to continue in 2007 with sustainable
core earnings and cash flows. For 2007, it plans to invest capital expenditure of between
Pesas 20 and 22 billion (US$407.7 million to US$448.4 million) in its existing businesses.
PLDT is committed to improving shareholder returns by increasing its dividend payout to
70 per cent of 2007 core earnings.

Review of Operations PLDT
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Indefood’s operations are principally denominated in rupiah, which averaged Rupiah
9,148 (2005: 9,756) to the U.S. dallar. Its financial results are prepared under Indonesian
GAAP and reported in rupiah. First Pacific’s financial results are prepared under Hong
Kong GAAP and reported in U.S. dollar. Accordingly, certain adjustments need to be made
to Indofood's reported rupiah results to ensure compliance with Hong Kong GAAP. An
analysis of these adjustments follows.

Rupiah billions 2006 2005
Net income under Indonesian GAAP 661 124
Differing accounting treatments®
— Reclassification of non-recurring items 105 55
— Gain on revaluation of plantations 275 67
— Foreign exchange accounting 54 54
- Others (56) {75)
Adjusted net income under Hong Kong GAAP 1,039 225
Foreign exchange and derivative {gains)losses™ (67} 335
Indofood's net income as reported by First Pacific 972 S60
Us$ millions

Net income at prevailing average rates for

2006; Rupiah 9,148 and 2005: Rupiah 9,756 106.3 57.4
Contribution to First Pacific Group profit,

at an average shareholding of

2006: 51.5% and 2005: 51.5% 54.7 296

(i) Differences in accounting treatment under Indonesian GAAP, compared with Hong Kong GAAP. The
principal adjustments include:

Reclassification of non-recurring items: Certain jtems, through occurrence or size, are not considerad
usual, operating items which are reallocated and presented separately. Adjustment for 2006 of Rupiah
105 billion represents Rupiah 62 billion of manpower rightsizing costs, Rupiah 29 billion write-off of
deferred tax assets as a consegquence of a group restructuring among subsidiary companies within
Indofood's edible oils and fats division and Rupiah 14 billion impairment provisions for goodwill.
Adjustment for 2005 of Rupiah 55 billion represents Rupiah 146 billion of manpower rightsizing costs,
partly offsel by Rupiah 91 billion goodwill compensation received in connection to the establishment of
a joint venture entity.

Gain on revaluation of plantations: Under Indonesian GAAP, Indofood measures its plantations
(biological assets) on historical cost basis. HKAS 41 ~Agriculture” requires the measurement of
plantaticns at fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs. The adjustment relates 1o the change in fair
value of plantations during the year.

Foreign exchange accounting: The adjustment relates to the reversal of the amortization of foreign
exchange losses that were previously capitalized by Indofood on certain fixed assets under construction,
as the ariginating capitalized foreign exchange losses has already been written off by First Pacific.

{i) To illustrate 1he underlying operational results and profit contributions, foreign exchange and derivative
gainsAosses (net of related tax) are excluded and presented separately.

Review
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Us$ millions
Cansumer Branded Products 890.2
Bogasari 796.4
Edible Qil & Fats 3694
Distribution 3425
Tota! 2,398.5

*After inter-segment giirnination

Turnover 2005*

13%

Us$ millions

® Consumer Branded Products 703.8
Q Bogasari 662.2
O tdible Oil & Fats 3146
Distribution 242.8
Total 1,923.4

* After inter-segment efimination
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1%

42%

19%

US$ millions
® Consumer Branded Products  50.2
@ Bogasari 103.9
Q Edible Qil & Fats 114.0

Distribution 2.4
Total 270.5

Operating Profit 2005

Us$ millions

@® Consumer Branded Products  42.2
@® Bogasari 73.0
QO [dible Qil & Fats 81.6
Distribution 0.5
Total 197.3
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An analysis of Indofood's contribution to the First Pacific Group, adjusted for Hong Kong
GAAP and translated into U.5. dollars, follows.

Turnover Profit

2006 2005 % change 2006 2005 % change

Us$ millions (Restateq)? {Restated)®

Consumer Branded Products 9234 7303 +26.4 50.2 422 +19.0
Bogasari 9835 812.1 +21.1 103.9 730 +42.3
Edible Qils & Fats 550.0 4749 +158 1140 816 +39.7
Distribution 342.5 2428 +41.1 24 0.5 +380.0
Inter-segment elimination (4009)  (336.7) +191 - - -
Total 23985 19234 +24.7

Segment result 2705 197.3 +37.1
Net berrowing costs {826} (84.8) -2.6
Share of prefits less losses of associates {0.4) (4.2} 805
Profit before taxation 187.5 1083 +73.1
Taxation (64.3) (385}  +670
Profit for the year 123.2 £9.8 +785
Minority interest (68.5) (40.2) +70.4
Contribution to group profit 54.7 296 +84.8

(i) Principally restated for Bogasari division’s inter-segment sales to Nood'es division from a cost basis to a
market price basis

Indofood contributed US$54.7 million to the Groug, an increase of 84.8 per cent over its
2005 contribution of U$$29.6 million. This resulted from an increase in sales valume, an
incremental gain in the fair value of plantations and a seven ger cent appreciation in the
average exchange rate of the rupiah against the U.S. dollar. Indofood reporied a 24.7 per
cent increase in consolidated revenue in U.S. dollar terms to US$2,398.5 million (2005:
US$1,923.4 million) and a 16.5 per cent increase in rupiah terms to Rupiah 21,941.6
billion reflecting the successful implementation of strategic initiatives in marketing and the
expansion of its stock point distribution system.

Operating profit increased by 37.1 per cent to US$270.5 million {2005: US$197.3 million)
as a result of significantly increased sales volumes and the positive impacts from
operational and cost efficiency programs. EBIT margin improved slightly to 9.0 per cent
from 8.9 per cent. Consolidated net debt was reduced by 6.9 per cent in rupiah terms to
Rupiah 5,456.6 billion. In U.S. dollar terms, however, net debt rose slightly by .5 per cent
to US3604.7 million due to the nine per cent appreciation of the rupiah against the U S.
dollar. Net gearing improved to 1.11 times from the previous year's 1.36 times.

In 2006, Indofood retained the market leadership in most of its key product categories: a
77 per cent share of the instant noodles market; a 67 per cent share of flour market; a 43
per cent share of branded cooking cil market; and a 59 per cent share of the margarine
and shortening market.




Consumer Branded Products

Noodles Indofood is the market leader in Indonesia, as well as the world’s largest instant
noodle producer. lts most popular brands include tndomie, Sarimi, Supermi, Sakura and
Pop Mie. With 14 production facilities located across indenesia, Indofood plans 1o increase
an annual production capacity to approximately 15 billion packs irom 13.5 billion packs. n
20086, production utilization increased to 84 per cent from the previous year's 70 per cent.

Turnover increased by 26.5 per cemt 1o US$801.4 million reflecting the significant increase
in sales volume, and an improved sales mix with higher value products. EBIT margin
declined to 3.7 per cent from the previous year's 3.8 per cent (restated for Bogasani
division's inter-segment sales to Noodles division from a cost basis to a market price basis),
due to increased raw materials, higher fuel and promotion costs, Sales volume increased
by 18.6 per cent to 11.3 billion packs reflecting the benefits of segment specific
promation programs, new product introductions and the enhanced distribution system.

The consumption per capita of instant noodles is expected to increase as the price per
serving of instant noodles is relatively cheaper to other staple food in Indonesia. To meet
this higher demand, Indofood plans to expand the production capacity of the noodles
division. Brand equity building and cost efficiency programs are angeing.

Food seasoning products include soy sauce, ¢hili and tomato sauces, a range of
powdered condiments, instant recipe mixes and syrups. The company’s joint venture with
Nestlé S.A., PT Nestlé Indofood Citarasa Indonesia, provides expertise in marketing and
improved manufacturing processes to market the culinary branded products of Indofood
and Nestlé. The market share of key products has increased; soy sauce to 13 per cent from
12 per cent, chifi sauce to 37 per cent from 30 per cent and syrup doubled tc 4 per cent.

Turnover increased by 30.3 per cent 1o US$39.6 million as a result of a 17.4 per cent
improvement in sales volurme to 51.8 thousand tons and a slight increase in the average
selling price. The significant growth was driven by market specific promation programs
and the introduction of new products. EBIT margin improved to 3.6 per cent from a
negative 7.1 per cent in 2005 refiected improved sales and cost efficiencies.

For 2007, the food seasoning division will increase its production capacity to cater for the
growth in market share of its key products. It will continue its efforts to build brand equity
and to strengthen customer loyalty through various specific promotion programs.

Indofood is the leading manufacturer of western style snack foods in Indonesia. It
produces potato chips and extruded products such as puffs and chocolate-coated snacks,
which are sold under papular brands, such as Chitato, Lays, JetZ, Cheetos, Chiki and
Tenny.

Turnover increased by 38.2 per cent to US$42.7 million as a result of higher sales volumes
and a higher average selling price. Sales volume grew by 30.4 per cent to 2,293 tons
driven by substantial sales growth of Chitato and Lays potato chips and a new product
Cheetos Shots. EBIT margin improved ta 4.2 per cent from 4.0 per cent reflecting
production and raw material supply efficiencies.

For 2007, this division will continue its segment specific marketing and brand building
programs for all of its products. Sales growth will be enhanced through increased access
to the distribution network and the introduction of new products and new packaging.

Indofoed's nutrition and special food division currently produces food for babies,
children and expectant mothers under two major brands. Promina caters 1o the
upper-middle segment, while SUN is the market leader in the lower-middle segment, It
also produces products for institutions.

Turnover increased by 11.2 per cent to US$39.7 million as a result of higher volume of
sales to consumers, an increase in average selling price and improved sales management
through the enhanced distribution system. With a significant reduction in institutional
sales, total sales volume declined to 12.8 thousand tons from 14.8 thousand tons,
However, the sales volume of Promina and SUN increased by 19.8 per cent. EBIT margin
declined 10 7.0 per cent from 8.9 per cent in 2005 reflecting an increase in advertising
and promaotion expense.

Review of Qperations Indoi_ood
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For 2007, indofood plans to increase production lines to meet the increase in demand for
commercial products as recent increases in the commodity prices. It will continue to
leverage the enhanced distribution system, introduce new categories and flavors to match
consumers’ preferences and further strengthen brand image.

Bogasari

This division comprises flour milling and pasta production. Bogasari can support an annual
production capacity of 3.8 million tons of flour and its products are distributed, among
others, under the Cakra Kembar, Segitiga Birv and Lencana Merah brand names,

In 2006, the wheat price increased substantially given the poor harvest and higher global
consumption. Turnover increased by 21.1 per cent to US$983.5 million as a result of
ongoing marketing and customer loyalty programs. Sales volume of flour and pasta
increased by 11.3 per cent to 2.6 million tons and 11.3 per cent to 27.7 thousand tons,
respectively. EBIT margin improved 1o 11.4 per cent from 9.3 per cent (restated for
Bogasari division's inter-segment sales to Noodles division from a cost basis to a market
price basis) despite substaniial increase in wheat price and higher freight/fuel prices.

For 2007, wheat prices are expected to rise as global consumption outpaces production
and the climatic conditions will further reduce the wheat harvest. However, Bogasari’s
leverage of its industry competence and extensive distribution network together with the
cost benefits of its own vessels and ports will enable it to maintain its market leadership
position despite increased competition. It will continue t¢ grow the small and medium
enterprise segments by launching a series of marketing programs.

Edible Oils and Fats

This division completed a comprehensive restructuring in 2006, Indofood Agri Resources
Ltd. (IndeAgri} was successfully listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange in February 2007.
It raised approximately U5$270.8 millicn by issuing new placement shares representing
25 per cent of the enlarged capital of IndoAgri. The proceeds are being used to accelerate
the expansion of plantations, the relocation and modernization of the Jakarta refinery, as
well as the expansion of the Medan facilities.

IndoAgri is a vertically integrated agribusiness with principal activities invelving research
and development, oil palm seed breeding, oil palm cultivation and milling to the refining,
branding and marketing of cooking oil, margarine, shortening and other palm oil
derivative products, It also produces Crude Coconut Oil.

IndoAgri’s consolidated net sales increased by 15.8 per cent to US$550.0 million reflecting
higher Crude Palm GCil (CPO) prices, sales volume and average selling price. IndoAgr
accounted for approximately 15 per cent of Indofeod's consolidated sales. EBIT margin
declined to 1C.5 per cent from 12.9 per cent mainly due to lower margins of Commadity
division as the results of the appreciation of rupiah.

IndoAgri’s plantations are amongst the most productive plantations, in terms of fresh
fruit bunch and extraction yield, in indonesia and Malaysia. At the end 2006, the
plantation land bank was approximately 224,100 hectares {including approximately
85,500 hectares received approval in 2006 and compieted in March 2007) of which
approximately 66,200 hectares are planted with oil palm trees and approximately 5,000
hectares are planted with rubber trees.

The significant increase in CPO price and higher CPO production increased plantations
sales by 19.2 per cent to US$142.6 million. However, high maintenance and fuel costs
reduced the EBIT margin 10 41.8 per cent from 47 .4 per cent.

IndoAgri plans to have 250,000 hectares of oil palm plantation by 2015. It will continue to
increase its plantation land bank via acquisition. Productivity programs are ongoing which
include raising the standard of plantation managerial and technical skills.
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Distribution

Indofood’s stock paint distribution system was introduced in 2005 and has developed into
the most extensive distribution network in Indonesia. Additional stock peints have been
established close to areas with high density of retail outlets and traditional markets. This
system allows wider and deeper market penetration through a very efficient supply chain
operation. The distribution group continued to generate encouraging results in 2006. It
reported a 41.1 per cent increase in turnover to US$342.5 million which accounted for
approximately 14 per cent of Indofood's consolidated turnover. The distribution group was
a key contributor to the volume growth of Indofood’s noodles and other divisions in
Consumer Branded Products group. In addition to Indofood's consumer products, it also
distributes an increasing volume of third party products.

For 2007, it plans to improve the information technology applications for stock points
management in order to increase efficiency and support online reporting at the tndofood
group level. Indofood will continue to establish additional stock points to reach the
underserved market regions in indonesia.

2007 Outlook

The industry outlack is positive for 2007. Indofood will continue to strengthen its market
position by leveraging its industry competence and extensive distribution system, which
together are enhanced by its cost economies and the strength of its brands. The
investrent in its plantation business via indoAgri will support a more robust revenue and
profit growth in the future.

Indofood’s operational and cost efficiency initiatives are ongoing. It will increase
automation in some production lines, improving operational and administrative processes,
and reducing overall fue! cost by using alternative sources.

Indofoad will reduce its foreign currency exposure and minimize the impact from
fluctuation of interest rates. [t announced on 3 April 2007 plans to issue a five-year fixed
rate 1.5 trillion rupiah bond {(approximately US$ 160 million) which has received an idAA+
rating with stable outlook from the rating agency, Pefindo, The offering of the bond is
expected to take place in May 2007 and will be listed on the Surabaya Stock Exchange in
Indonesia.
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MPIC/Metro Pacific’s operations are principally denominated in pesa, which averaged
Pesos 51.16 (2005: 54.99) to the U.S. dollar. Its financial results are prepared under
Philippine GAAP and reported in peso. First Pacific's financial results are prepared under
Hong Kong GAAP and reported in U.S. dollar. Despite both of the Philippine GAAP and
Hong Kong GAAP being largely based on IFRSs, certain adjustments still need 1o be made
to MPIC/Metra Pacific’s reported peso results to ensure full comgliance with Hong Kong
GAAP. An analysis of these adjustments follows.

2006 2005
Peso millions {Restated)
Net (loss)/income under Philippine GAAPY (686) 151
Diffeting accounting treatments®
- Reclassification/reversal of non-recurring items 302 (623)
- Revenue recognition regarding pre-completion
contracts for sale of development properties 79 43
Adjusted net loss under Hong Kong GAAP (305) (429)
Foreign exchange and derivative losses/{(gains)™ 36 9
MPIC/Metro Pacific’s net loss as reported by First Pacific {269) (438)
Us3$ millions

Net loss at prevailing average rates for

2006: Pesos 51.16 and 2005: Pesos 54.99 (5.3) (8.0}
Contribution to First Pacific Group profit,

at an average shareholding of

2006: 99.6% for MPIC and 77.3% for Metro Pacific

and 2005: 75.5% for Metro Pacific 3.7 (6.0)

{) MPIC/Metro Pacific has restated its net income for 2005 from Pesos 194 million to Pesos 151 million as a
resul: of their retrospective adoption of the percentage of completion methed for the accounting of
certain pre-completion contracts for the sale of development properties.

(i) Ditferences in accounting treatment under Philippine GAAP, compared with Hong Kong GAAP. The
principal adjustments include:

- Reclassification/reversal of non-recurring items: Certain items, through occurrence or size, are not
considered usual, operating items which are reallocated and presented separately, Adjustment for 2006
of Pesos 0.3 billion losses principally relate to provisions for a vessel and an investment in a real estate
associated company. Adjustment for 2005 of Pesos 0.6 billion gains principally relate to reversal of
excess provision for tax and other liabilities, gains realized from various debt reduction and
restructuring exercises, and adjustments made to amounts owed to Pacific Plaza Towers contractor.

- Revenue recognition regarding pre-completion cantracts for sale of deveiopment properties: Under
Philippine GAAP, MPIC/Metro Pacific recognize revenue from pre-completion contracts for sale of
development properties based on the percentage of completion method. HKAS 18 "Revenue™ and
Hong Kang Interpretation 3 "Revenue — Pre-cempletion Contracts for the Sale of Development
Properties” requires the recognition of revenue for such contracts based on the satisfaction of certain
conditions, which includes the transfer of significant risks and rewards of awnership of the properties
to the buyers and the absence of continuing managerial involvement o the degree usually associated
with ownership and effective control aver the properties sold.

{iii) To illustrate the underlying operational results and profit contributions, foreign exchange and derivative
losses/gains (net of related tax) are excluded and presented separately.

Review of Operations MPIC
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An analysis of MPIC/Metro Pacific’s contribution to the First Pacific Group, adjusted for
Hong Kong GAAP and translated into U.S. dollars, follows.

Turnover Profit
U5$ millions 2006 2005 % change 2006 2005 % change
(Restated) {Restated)
Praperty
- lendco 34.0 17.4 +95.4 2.6 1.5 +73.3
~ Pacific Plaza Towers ER| 53 415 (0.3) 0.3 -
- Other properties 4.7 0.2 - 19 0.2 -
Subtotal 41.8 229 4825 42 186 +162.5
Nenaco 34,5 39.8 -133 {2.3) (3.5) -34.3
Corporate overhead - - - (1.8} (2.1 -143
Total 76.3 62.7 4217
Segment result 0.1 (4.0} -
Net borrowing costs (1.5) (2.4) 378
Share of profits less losses of associates 0.4 0.3 +300.0
Loss before taxation (1.0} (6.3) -84.1
Taxation (1.4) 0.9) +55.6
Loss for the year (2.4} (7.2} 667
Minority interest (1.3) 1.2 -
Group share of loss (3.7) (6.0} -38.3

MPIC was listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange in December 2006 which represented
the completion of a comprehensive recrganization plan launched in early 2006 for the
Metro Pacific.

MPIC's assets comprise a 50.0 per cent interest in a joint venture company, the DMCI-MPIC
Water Company Inc. {DMCI-MPIC), which holds an 84.0 per cent interest in Maynilad
Water Services Inc. (Maynilad Water) and a direct 51.0 per cent interest in property
developer Landco Pacific Corporation (Landca}. Metro Pacific became a subsidiary of MPIC
in early 2007 holding only a nominal interest of 15,3 per cent in a domestic shipping
company Negros Navigation Company Inc. (Nenaco).

MPIC reported lower recurring foss of US33.7 million in 2006 {2005: US$6.0 million} as a
result of an improved contribution from Landco and a reduced loss at Nenaco. MPIC's
recorged consolidated revenues of Pesos 3.9 billion {US$76.3 million), mainly reflects
increased revenues from Landco, net of reduced revenues from Nenaco. MPIC's net i0ss in
2006 was the result of continuing losses from Nenaco and from an impairment provision of
Pesos 415 million (U538.1 million) for its investment in an asscciated company Costa de
Madera. In December 2006, Meiro Pacific disposed of 83.7 per cent of its interest in
Nenaco, and has since been deconsolidated,
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In December 2006, MPIC and DMCI Holdings, Inc. (DMCI), via their joint venture
company, the DMCI-MPIC, acquired by way of public auction conducted by the Philippine
Government an 84 per cent interest in Maynilad Water for a total consideration of
approximately US$533 million. The consideration comprised equity and repayment of
financial assistance of U5$56.7 million, equity support of U5$444.7 million and other costs
of approximately U$$32 million. Maynilad Water has a 25-year exclusive concession (with
15 years remaining) untid 2022 to provide water services to approximately 540 square
kitometers which includes eight cities and three multicipalities in the West Metro Manila
areas. These areas have a population of eight million of which only six million are currently
served with water supply services.

Maynilad Water is under a rehabilitation plan since 2005, its U$$256.8 million of
outstanding debt is subject to various debt and restructuring agreements. Maynilad Water
presently suffers from approximately 68 per cent of its water being non-revenue
generating as a result of physical water loss via leakage, illegal pipe connection and
commercial losses. A special management committee is reviewing the infrastructure, the
organizational and commercial problems faced by Maynilad Water. This committee’s
mandate is to improve the operations of the business, bringing water services of a higher
quality to a greater proportion of the population served, and to develop a long term
strategy for the company.

Landco is a diversified property developer in the Philippines, specializing in developing
high quality second homes, leisure farms and shopping centers. Throughout 2006, Landco
expanded its seaside luxury residential estates with an increased sale of lots in its Terrazas
de Punta Fuego project, a complementary development to the Peninsula de Punta Fuego
residential resort, golf and marina complex. Landco’s expansion into the middle-income
seaside residential resort segment was made through the introduction of Playa Calatagan,
which is envisaged 1o become a 200-hectare residential, entertainment and leisure
community located in the prestigious Calatagan Peninsula. Landco announced two further
joint ventures for the co-development of formerly privately-held properties, with the
Escudero and the Villalen families. The Escudero property is planned as a resort with
tourist and medical-tourist facilities (set amidst a 400-hectare sugar estate). “Monteraza
de Cebu”, to be developed in conjunction with the Villalon family, is planned as the first
international-standard luxury residential resort overlooking Metropolitan Cebu.
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In view of the poor outlook of the domestic shipping industry, its over capacity and limited
rehabilitation options, the company disposed 83.7 per cent investment in Nenaco for a
nominal consideration to Negros Holdings and Management Corporation, a company
comprising Nenaco’s previous management team. Nenaco reported a higher 2006 net loss
of Pesos 444 million (US$8.7 million) principally from lower revenues and an impairment
provision for a vessel.

—EEEST
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In March 2007, MPIC's Board appraved the subscription of up to Pesos 750 million
{U5$15.3 million) five-year convertible notes to be issued by Makati Medical Center
(MMOC), one of the premier hospitals in the Phitippines. Upon conversion, MPIC’s equity
interest in MMC would be approximately 36 per cent of the expanded capital of MMC,
and will make MPIC the single largest shareholder of MMC. This fund raising activity is
part of the loan-restructuring program of MMC. The proceeds from the convertible notes
will be used to build a seven storey {with five levels of basement?) clinic block, diagnostics
center and laboratory facilities.

MMC offers specialist treatments and currently has 7,000 specialists and 1,500 supporting
staff, and until recently had a reputation as the Philippines’ leading hospital complex. The
infusion of new funds and the building of new facilities at MMC will ensure the hospital
maintains its leading reputation.

MMC reported net income of Pesos 26 million (US$$0.S million) in 2005. An effective cost
management program in 2006 resulted in an improvement in net income of Pesos 223
million {U534.4 million).

2007 Outlook

The introduction of Ashmore Investment, a UK-based LSE-listed FTSE 250 company with
US$26.8 billion in assets under management, as a strategic partner in MPIC strengthens
MPIC's financial position as it seeks long-term investment opportunities in the capital
intensive utility and infrastructure sectors, and positions it for an active role in the
infrastructure and property sectors in the Philippines.

Maynilad Water The management is working on a proposal to release Maynilad Water
from its rehabilitation status. A comprehensive strategy and action plan is being developed
to ensure that safe, reliable and stable water services are delivered to a greater proportion
of the concession’s population and a significant reduction is achieved in both physical and
commercial water losses, The company plans to invest approximately Pesos 5 billion
{US$102 million} in capital expenditure in 2007 to suppert these objectives.

Landco should see strong sales from its development of resorts during 2007 and its entry
into the Metropolitan Manila condominium market, with the introduction of “Tribeca”, a
multi-phase, mid-rise residential, entertainment and leisure community will also enhance
profitability.

MMC is at an early stage of turnaround and expansion with its building redevelopment
program is expected to be announced in the first half of the year. MMC is being
positioned as a world-class health care service provider to cater to the demand for high
standard health care services. As the Philippines economy improves, demand far high
standard health care will increase and the growth potential of this business is further
supported by promoting the Philippines as an ideal retirement and medical tourism
destination.




LEveEL UD

Level Up! International Holdings Pte. Ltd. (Level Up) reported a recurring loss attributable
to the Group of US$1.9 million (2005: post acquisition recurring loss of U$$1.5 million)
reflecting the slower than anticipated development of the Brazil and India markets. First
Pacific however, recorded a non-recurring gain of US$1.8 million arising from the disposal
of 60 per cent interest in Level Up! Philippines to ePLDT in April 2006.

Philippines Level Up’s merger with ePLDT's netGames commenced in October 2006 and
the consolidation of this is expected to be completed in the first half of 2007, The
consolidated Philippine business has a combined market share of 70 per cent. Ragnarok
(developed by Gravity Co. Ltd.) remains the most popular game since it was launched in
2003. Level Up is working with Gravity to revitalize Ragnarok and to launch new product
features in Rose (a 3-D massively multiplayer online role playing game (MMORPG)).
Another 3-D MMORPG, RF Online (developed by CCR Inc.) and a leading Korean sports
casual game, Free Style (developed by ICE Entertainment Co. Ltd.) were launched in
January and March 2006, respectively. Level Up increased its market reach by partnering
with Coca-Cola, Solar Interactive (a leading cable television channel) and FHM (a leading
men’s magazine).

Brazil in addition to the popular Ragharok, Gunz (developed by Maiet Entertainment Inc.)
and Grand Chase (developed by KOG Studios) were commercially launched in 2006.

RF Online was commercially launched in January 2007. Level Up widened its revenue base
by distributing Ragnarok game time through a leading Brazilian internet portal. In 20086,
Level Up made good progress on expanding its distribution network to reach popular
street kiosks in metropolitan areas and introducing prepaid cards and CDs through leading
national retail outlets.

India Ragnarok was commercially launched in March 2006. Gunz entered open beta stage
in the fourth quarter of 2006 and the commercial launch will be achieved in the first half
of 2007, The development of its distribution networks in key metropolitan areas was
slower than planned principally due to the techrical issues prevalent in the early
development stage of a new market. India remains an attractive market with significant
medium term potential. No significant revenues are expected in the short term.

2007 Outlook

In the Philippines, the merger with netGames will enlarge Levei Up’s distribution network
and games content which will position the cormpany for growth. The netGames content
portfolio includes the popular MMORPG's Flyff (developed by AeonSoft) and Khan
(developed by Mirinae), along with the casual online game Pangya {developed by
Hanbitsoft, In¢.).

In Brazil, the focus would be promoting new games Gunz, Grand Chase and RF Online,
as well as the launch of additional new titles.

In India, Level Up would be continuing to develop the distribution network along with
Jidentifying and launching new games which are attractive to the India market.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

Net Debt and Gearing
(A} Head Office Net Debt

The increase in net debt is mainly attributable to the payments for additional
investrnent for 1.5 per cent interest in PLDT. The Head Office’s borrowings at

31 December 2006 comprise Exchangeable Notes of U$3$153.1 million (with a face
value of US$146.3 million) due in January 2010 and bank loans of US$148.3 million
(with an aggregated face value of US$149.9 million) due between July 2011 and
November 2013.

Changes in Head Office Net Debt

Cash

and cash
US$ millions Borrowings  equivalents  Net debt
At 1 January 2006 3497 (197.1) 152.6
Movement (48.3) 133.6 85.3
At 31 December 2006 301.4 (83.5) 237.9

Head Office Cash Flow

US$ millions 2006 2005
Net cash inflow from operating activities 45.2 27.6
Net investments {113.4) {72.9)
Financing activities
- Net borrowings 98.8 17.4
- Issue of shares upon exercise of share options 3.6 0.6
- Repayment/repurchase of secured bonds (108.0) (5.1)
- Dividends paid (12.3) (4.1)

- {Settlement)/issue of Exchangeable Notes,
net of expenses (4.4) 193.4
- Advances to subsidiaries, net (43.1) (1.

{Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (133.6) 155.8




Financial Review

(B}  Group Net Debt and Gearing Net Debt and Gearing
An analysis of net debt and gearing for principal consolidated and associated
companies follows. Net debt Gearing
Us$ billiens (times)
Consolidated 0.9 1.2
0.8 —
Net Total  Gearing Net Totdl  Gearing 07 10
debt/(cash)®  equity  (times) debt? equity {times) 0.5 0.8
US3$ mitians 2006 2006 2006 2005 2005 2005 05
0.6
Head Office 2319 1,446.3 0.16x 152.6 1,419.2 0.11x g:: 0.4
Indofood 604.7 1427 0.81x 595.7 3416 1.10x 02
MPICMetre Pacific (45.7) 194 - 402 48 8.38x ' 0.2
Group adjustments™ - {1,175.6) - - (1,2589) - 0'; 0
Total 796.9 1,032.8 0.7 7885 706.7 1.12x 03 08
Gearing (times)
Net debt
Associated I 31 December 2006
——3 31 December 2005
Net Total  Gearing Net Total Gearing
debt equity {times) debt equity (times}
US$ millions 2006 2006 2006 2005 2005 2005
PLDT 1,272.1 2,126.3 0.60x 1,384.2 1,400.9 0.99x

{y Includes pledged deposits and restricted cash.

(i) Group adjusiments mainly represents elimination of goodwill arising from acquisitions prior to
1 January 2001 against the Group's accumulated losses and other standard consolidation
adjustments 1o present the Group as a single economic entity.

Head Office’s gearing increased principally because of payments for the additional
investment for 1.5 per cent interest in PLOT and advances to MPIC in connection
with MPIC’s bidding for Maynilad Water. Indofocd's gearing declined mainly because
of increased total equity. MPIC/Metro Pacific changed from net debt to net cash
position principally due 1o cash advances received from Head Office and
deconsolidation of its former subsidiary company, Nenaco. PLDT's gearing declined
as strong free cash flows were used to reduce debts and profits enhanced total
equity.

The Group’s gearing continued to improve to 0.77 time level principally as a result of

the growth of the Group’s total equity as a result of strong profit contributions from
PLDT and Indcfood.

First Pacific Company Limited  Annuat Report 2006 35




Maturity Profile of
Consolidated Debt 2006

9%
e ——
49
28% 44%
—_—
19%
US$ millions
@ Within one year 508.9
O One to two years 2236
O Two to five years 3195
Over five years 103.9
Total 1,155.9
Maturity Profile of
Consolidated Debt 2005
6%
—_—
32%
48% \
e — ]
14%
US3 millions
® Within one year 345.0
O One to two years 152.3
O Two to five years 518.6
Over five years 733
Total 1,089.2

36 First Pacific Company Limited  Annual Report 2006

Maturity Profile
The maturity profile of debt of consolidated and associated companies follows.

Consolidated

US$ millions 2006 2005
Within one year 508.9 345.0
Qne to two years 2236 152.3
Two to five years 3195 518.6
Qver five years 103.9 73.3
Total 1,155.9 1,089.2

The change in Group's debt maturity profile at 31 December 2006 principally reflects
Indofood’s refinancing of the outstanding amount of U$$153.7 million Eurcbonds due in
June 2007 and reclassification of Rupiah 1.2 trillion (US$136.0 million) of Rupiah bonds
due in June 2008, together with Head Cffice’s redemption of US$108.0 million secured
bonds due in luly 2006 and new bank loans of US$50.0 million and U5%49.9 million due
in July 2011 and November 2013, respectively.

Associated
PLDT

LS$ millions 2006 2005
Within one year 336.9 354.2
One to two years 158.3 3768
Two to five years 430.2 455.4
Qver five years 8299 930.5
Total 1,755.3 2,169

PLDT's debt maturity profile is stated at nominal values.
Financial Risk Management

Foreign Currency Risk

(a} Company Risk
As the Head Office debts are currently denominated in U.S. dollars, foreign currency
risk relates mainly to the receipt of cash dividends and to the translation of non-U.5.
dollar denominated investments in subsidiary and associated companies,

The Company actively reviews the potential benefits of hedging based on forecast
dividend flows and enters into hedging arrangements (including the use of forward
exchange contracts) for managing its foreign currency exposure in respect of
dividend income and payments in foreign currency on a transactional basis.
However, the Company does not actively seek to hedge risks arising on the
translation of foreign currency denominated investments due to the non-cash nature
of such investments and the high costs associated with such hedaing. Accordingly,
First Pacific is exposed to the impact of foreign currency fluctuations on the
translated U.S. doilar value of its foreign currency denoininated investments.

With the exception of the Head Office, the principa) cornponents of the Group’s
NAV relate to investrments denominated in the peso and rupiah. Accordingly, any
change in these currencies, against their respective 31 December 2006 exchange
rates, would have an effect on the Group’s NAV in U.5. dollar terms.




The following table illustrates the estimated effect on the Group's adjusted NAV for
a one per cent change of the peso and rupizh against the U.S. dollar.

Effect on

Effect on adjusted

adjusted NAV

NAV® per share

Company US$ millions HK cents
PLDT 231 5.62
Indofood 6.6 1.61
MPIC 1.2 0.29
Total 309 7.52

(i} Based on guoted share prices as at 31 December 2006 applied 1o the Group’s economic interest.

(B} Group Risk

The Group’s operating results are denominated in local currencies, principally the
peso and rupiah, which are translated and consolidated to give the Group's results in

U.S. dollars.

Net Debt by Currency

It is often necessary for operating entities to borrow in U.5. doltars, which results in the
risk of a translation impact on local currency results. A summary of consolidated and
associated companies’ net debt by currency follows.

Consolidated

Us$ millions uss Pesc Rupiah Others Total

Total borrowings 459.1 50.6 6423 39 1,155.9

Cash and cash equivalents® {265.4) {6.0} (84.4) {3.2) (359.0)
Net debt 193.7 446 557.9 0.7 796.9

Representing:

Head Office 2396 {1.1) - (0.6} 2379

Indofood 455 - 5579 1.3 604.7

MPIC (91.4} 457 - - (45.7)
Net debt 193.7 44.6 557.9 0.7 796.9

Associated

US$ millions uss Peso Others Total

PLDT 1,414.0 (139.1}) (2.8) 12721

(i} Includes pledged deposits and restricted cash.

Details of changes in Head Office net debt are set out on page 34.

Financial Review

Analysis of Total
Borrowings by Currency
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40%

Rupiah
uss
Peso
Cthers
Total

oCe

First Pacific Company Limited

56%

US$ millions
042 .3

4591

50.6

39

1,155.9

Annual Report 2006 37



38

Peso and Rupiah
Closing Rates against
the U.S. Dollars

Peso Rupiah
48 8,400
49 8,800
50
8,200
51
9,600
52
53 10,000
54 10,400
ut [T [Ye] o [Ye) I~
(=1 [=] =] (=] (=) [
£ 2 5 § & %
—— Peso
.......... Rup|ah
Stock Market Indices
PCl iCl
3,400 2,000
3,200
1,800
3,000
2,800 1,600
2,600
2,400 1,400
2,200
1,200
2,000
1,800 1,000

Jun 06

Dec 05
Mar 06
Sep 06
Dec 06
Mar 07

—— Philippine Composite Index (PCl)
- lakarta Composite Index (JCI)

First Pacific Company Limitad ~ Annual Report 2006

PLDT carries U.5. dollar debt primarily because international vendors of
telecommunication equipment quote prices and require payment in U.S. dollars. In
addition, large funding requirements often cannot be satisfied in local currency due to
inherent constraints within the financial markets in the Philippines. As a result, financing
frequently needs to be sourced from the international capital market, principally in U.S.
doliars. PLDT has actively hedged approximately 64.7 per cent of its U.S. dollar net
borrowings. In addition, substantial revenues of PLDT are either denominated in, or linked
to, the U.5. dollar. For example, PLDT’'s U.S. dollar denominated international inbound
revenue accounted for approximately US$163.8 million or 6.7 per cent of PLDT's total
revenues in 2006. In addition, under certain circumstances, PLOT is able to adjust the
monthly recurring rates for its fixed line service by one per cent for every Peso 0.1 change
in the U.S. dollar exchange rate.

As a result of unhedged U.S. doliar net debt, the Group’s 1esults are sensitive to
fluctuations in U.S. dollar exchange rates. The following table illustrates the estimated
effect on the Group's reported profitability for a one per cent change in the principal
operating currencies of subsidiary and associated companies. This does not reflect the
indirect effect of fluctuating exchange rates on revenues and input costs at the operating
company level,

Profit

effect

of 1% Group
Total US$  Hedged Unhedged  currency net profit

Us$ millions expasure amount amount change effect
PLDT 1,4140 9154 498.6 5.0 0.7
Indofood 455 - 455 0.5 0.2
MPIC (91.4) - {91.4) (0.9) (0.6)
Head Office® 239.6 - 239.6 - -
Total 1,607.7 915.4 £692.3 4.6 0.3

{i) As the Group reports its results in U.S. dollars, unhedged U.S. dollar debt at the Head Office does not give
rise to any significant exchange exposure.

Equity Market Risk

As the majority of the Company's investments are listed, the Company is exposed 10
fluctuations in the equity market value of such investments. In addition, the value of the
Company's investments may be impacted by sentiment towards specific countries.

First Pacific’s listed investments are located in the Philippines and Indonesia. Accordingly,
in addition to operating factors within the Company’s control, the Company also has an
equity market risk in respect of general investor sentiment towards these countries.
Changes in the stock market indices of the Philippines and Indonesia is summarized as
follows.

Philippine Jakarta

Composite Composite

Index Index

At 31 December 2005 2,096.0 1,162.6
At 31 December 2006 2,982.5 1,805.5
Increase during 2006 42.3% 55.3%
At 11 April 2007 3,294.2 1,931.0
Increase over 2007 to 11 April 2007 10.5% 7.0%




Financial Review

In January 2005, a wholly-owned Head Office subsidiary company issued a zero coupon
5-year US$199 million Exchangeable Notes guaranteed by the Company. Exchangeable
Notes with face amount of U5$52.7 million were converted during 2006, feaving an
outstanding principal amount of U5$146.3 million as at 31 December 2006. The holders
of the Exchangeable Notes have the right to exchange the Exchangeable Notes to the
underlying approximately 2.7 per cent interest in PLDT and the Company has the option
1o settle such exchange obligation in cash or shares in PLOT. Pursuant to HKAS 39
"Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”, the exchangeable option
embedded in the Exchangeable Notes is subject to mark-to-market {air value accounting
which has a strong correlation to the changes in PLDT share price and generated a
non-cash accounting loss of U5$89.7 million in 2006. The change of such option liability
is economically hedged by a corresponding change in the value of PLDT shares held by the
Group generally and specifically with respect to the approximately 2.7 per cent PLDT
shares underlying the Exchangeable Notes. Such a natural hedge and the corresponding
change in value of the Group’s shareholding in PLDT, however, is not to be reflected in
the Group’s financial results under HKAS 28 "Investments in Associates” as the Group’s
investments in and results of PLDT are equity accounted for.

During 2006, the Group purchased approximately 1.1 per cent interest in PLDT for
US$73.7 million and designated them as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
to both provide additional economic hedge against the changes in option liability and ta
enhance the Group’s strategic sharehclding in PLDT. The change in fair value of such
interest in PLDT resulted in the Group recording an accounting gain of U5%31.2 million
during the year.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company and its aperating entities are exposed to changes in interest rates to the
extent that they impact the cost of variable interest rate borrowings. An analysis of this for
consolidated and associated companies follows.

Interest Rate Profile

A

Consolidated 38%
Fixed Variable Cash and
interest rate interest rate cash  Net debt/ 62% \\
-
Us$ millions borrowings  borrowings  equivalents? (cash) &
Head Office 153.1 148.3 (63.5) 237.9 =
Indofood 2427 560.9 (198.9) 604.7 US$ millions
MPIC 456 S.3 {96.6) (45.7) @® Fixed 441 4
C  Floating 7145
Total 4414 7145 (359.0) 796.9 Total 1.155.9
Associated
Fixed Variable Cash and
interest rate interest rate cash
US$ millions borrowings borrowings equivalents  Net debt
PLDT 1,225.8 408.2 (361.9) 1,272.1

(i} Includes pledged deposits and restricted cash.
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The following table illustrates the estimated effect on the Group’s reported profitability for
a one per cent change in average annual interest rates in respect of the variable interest

rate borrowings.

Profit effect

Variable of 1% Group
interest rate change in net profit
Us$ millions pborrowings  interest rates effect
Head Office 148.3 1.5 1.5
Indofood 560.9 5.6 20
MPIC 53 0.1 -
PLDT 408.2 4.1 0.6
Total 1,122.7 11.3 4.1
Adjusted NAV Per Share
There follows & calculation of the Group’s underlying worth.
At 31 December 2006 2005
US55 millions Basis
PLDT 0] 2,307.3 1,491.5
Indofood (i) 658.0 407.0
MPIC (iy 117.2 -
Head Office
— Receivable (i) 60.3 -
- Net debt (237.9) (152.6)
- Denvative liability (i (99.6) (39.3)
Total valuation 2,805.3 1,706 6
Number of ordinary shares in issue (millions) 3,204.8 3,188.8
Value per share
- U.S. dellar 0.88 0.54
- HK dollars 6.83 4.17
Company’s closing share price (HK$) 4.04 3.00
Share price discount to HKS value per share (%) 40.8 281

(i) Based on quoted share prices applied to the Group's economic interest.

(i} Represents a receivable from MPIC.

(i) Represents the fair value of option element embedded in the Exchangeakble Notes.
(iv) No value has been attributed to the Group’s investment in Level Up.




41
45
46
46

Corporate Governance heport

Contents

Governance Framework

Remuneration Policy

Communications with Shareholders

Connected and Continuing Connected Transactions

Governance Framewaork

First Pacific is committed to building and maintaining high standards of corperate governance practices. The Company has adopted its
own Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the First Pacific Code), which incorporates the principles and requirements set out in the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (CG Code) contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

First Pacific has applied these principles and complied with all the CG Code mandatory provisions and has alsc met all of the
recommended best practices in the CG Code throughout the accounting period covered by the annual report, except for the following:-

1. The appointment of Independent Non-executive Directors (INEDs) representing at least one-third of the board, currently only three
out of twelve Directors are INEDs.

2. The disclosure of details of remuneration payable to members of senior management on an individual and named basis in the
arnual reports and accounts.

3. The announcement and publication of quarterly financial results within 45 days after the end of the relevant quarter,

First Pacific board considers that it functions effectively with the current 12-member board and wili consider the appointment of
additional INED as and when it is considered necessary. (n addition, the Company does not issue quarterly financial results based on our
judgment that we should emphasize the quality, rather than the frequency of disclosure of the financial information. Furthermore, we are
concerned that quarterly reporiing might lead investors and management to focus on short-term financial performance, possibly at the
expense of longer term financial performance of the Company. The disclosure of details of remuneration payable to members of senior
management on an individual and named basis would not provide, in our view, any pertinent information to the readers in assessing the
performance of the Company.

Board of Directors

The Company is ted and controlled through the Board of Directors which comprises 12 Directors and they are coliectively respensible for
promoting the success of the Company by directing and supervising the Company's affair. The Board of Directors has a balance of skill
and experience appropriate for the requirements of the Group's businesses. At 31 December 20086, three of the Directors are Executive
and nine of the Directors are Non-executive, of whom three are Independent. The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from Graham L. Pickles, Prof. Edward K. Y. Chen and David W. C. Tang and considers them to be independent.
Non-executive Directors have the same duties of care and skill and fiduciary duties as Executive Directors. The biographies of the Directors
are set out on pages 8to 11.

The Board of Directors usually meeis formally at least four times a year to review operational performance and financial plans, monitors
the implementation of strategy and any other significant matters that affect the operations of the Group, and approves matters
specifically reserved to the Board of Directors for its decision. Dates of the regular board meetings are scheduled in the prior year {subject
to amendment) 1o provide sufficient notice to Directors enabling them to attend. For special board meetings, reasonable notice will be
given. Directors are consulted as to matters to be included in the agenda for regular board meetings. Directors have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that Board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are followed. Adequate
and appropriate information, in the form of agendas, board papers and related materials, are prepared and provided to the Directors prior
10 the scheduled dates for the Board meeting in a timely manner. Minutes of the Board meetings and meetings of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Commitiee and other Board Committees are kept by the Company Secretary. Minutes are
open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings have recorded in sufficient details the matters considered by the Board
and the Committees, decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors or dissenting views expressed. Draft and final
versions of minutes of the Board meetings and meetings of the Board Committees are sent to all Directors for their comments and records
respectively within a reasonable time after the meeting. The Executive Directors, led by the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer,
are responsible for the day-to-day management of the Company's aperations. [n addition, there are regular meetings with the senior
management of subsidiary and associated companies, at which operating strategies and policies are formulated and communicated.

The Company has established a policy enabling all Directors to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company's expense. The board will provide separate independent professicnal advice to Directors to assist the relevant director or
directors to discharge his/their duties to the Company as and when reguested or necessary.
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If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the matter shall not be dealt with by way of circuiation or by a Committee (except an appropriate Board
Committee set up for that purpose pursuant to a resolution passed in a Board meeting) but a Board meeting shall be held. Independent
Non-executive Directors who, and whose associates, have no material interest in the transaction shall be present at such Board meeting.

Currently, Mr. Anthoni Salim is the Chairman of the Company and Mr. Manuel V. Pangilinan is the Managing Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. Accordingly, the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer of the Company are segregated and
are not exercised by ihe same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company are set out in the First Pacific Code.

In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws and First Pacific Code, at each AGM one-third of the Directors for the time heing {or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not greater than one-third) shall retire fram office by rotation. A
retiring Director shall be eligible for election.

At the Company’s 2006 AGM, Mr. Anthoni Safim, Mr. Sutanto Djuhar, Mr. Tedy Djuhar and Mr. Ibrakim Risjad, who have been longest in
office since their appointment, retired by rotation but being eligible, were re-elected as non-executive Directors of First Pacific for a fixed
term of not more than three years, commencing on the date of their re-alection {being 24 May 2006} and ending on (1) the date of the
Company’s AGM to be held in 2009, or (2) on 23 May 2009, or (3) the date on which each non-executive Director retires by rotation
pursuant to the First Pacific Code and/or the bye-laws, whichever is the earlier.

As a decentralized organization in which local management have substantial autonomy to run and develop their businesses, the Group
views well developed reporting systems and internal controls as essential. The Board of Directors plays a key rale in the implementation
and monitoring of internal financial controls. Their responsibilities include:

. reguiar board meetings focusing on business strategy, operational issues and financial performance.

. active participation on the Boards of subsidiary and associated companies.

«  approval of annual budgets for each operating company covering strategy, financial and business performance, key risks and
opportunities.

. monitoring the compliance with applicable [aws and regulations, and also with corperate governance policies.

*  monitoring the quality, timeliness, and content of internal and external reporting.

. monitoring risks and the effectiveness of internal controls.
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During 2006, there were five board meetings and those Directors who attended are set out below,

Number of meetings attended

Chairman

Anthoni Salim 1/5
Executive Directors \
Manuel V. Pangilinan, Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 5/5
Edward A. Tortorici 5/5
Robert C. Nicholson 5/5
Non-executive Directors

Ambassador Albert F. del Rosario 5/5
Benny S. Santoso 4/5
Sutanto Djuhar 0/5
Tedy Djuhar 5/5
Ibrahim Risjad 0/5
Independent Non-executive Directors

Graham L. Pickles

Prof. Edward K.Y. Chen, cas, <8t ip 5/5
David W. C. Tang, 08¢, Chevalier de L'Ordre des Arts et des Lettres 5/5

Audit Committee

The Audit Commitiee is currently composed of three Independent Non-executive Directors, with Mr. Graham L. Pickles, who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications and experience in financial matters, acting as chairman of the Audit Committee. This is in

compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

5/5
|
|

The Audit Committee’s written terms of reference, which describe its authority and duties, are regularly reviewed and updated by the
Board of Directors. Reporting to the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee reviews matters within the purview of audit, such as
Financial Statements and internal controls, 10 protect the interests of the Company's shareholders. The Audit Committee also performs an

independent review of the interim and annual Financial Statements.

The Audit Committee meets reqularly with the Company’s external auditors to discuss the audit pracess and accounting issues, and
reviews the effectiveness of internal contrals and risk evaluation. Special meetings are also convened, where appropriate, to review
significant financial or internal control issues. During 2006, there were two Audit Committee meetings and those Audit Committee

members who attended are set out below.

Number of meetings attended

Graham L. Pickles
Prof. Edward K. Y. Chen, Gss, cgt, s
David W. C. Tang, OBE, Chevalier de L'Ordre des Arts et des Lettres

212
272
1/2
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Commitiee, which comprises Mr. Manuel V. Pangilinan (who also acts as the chairman of it), Prof, Edward K.Y. Chen
and Mr. David Tang, has specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee have included the specific duties set out in Code Provisions B.1.3 (a} to (f) of the CG Code, with appropriate
modifications where necessary.

The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding the remuneration of the Executive Directors,
seniar executives and the fees and emoluments of Non-executive Directors based on advice from compensation and benefits consultants.
No Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration. During the 2006 financial year, the Remuneration
Committee approved the grant of share options to a senior executive of the Company and the latest meeting of the Remuneration
Committee took place on 25 January 2007,

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee, which comprises Mr. Anthoni Salim {who also acts as the chairman of it), Ambassador Albert F. del Rosario,
Prof. Edward K.Y. Chen, Mr. David Tang and Mr. Graham L. Pickles, has specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its
authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have included the specific duties set out in paragraphs A.4.5
(a) to (d) of the CG Code, with appropriate madifications where necessary.

The committee performs the {ollowing duties:

. reviews the structure, size and compesition (including the skills, knowledge and experience} of the Ecard of Directors on a regular
basis and makes recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding any proposed changes;

. establishes recruitrnent, selection and nomination strategies to attract the right individuals to become Executive or Non-executive
Directars; and

. makes recommendations to the Board of Directors on refevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and succession of planning for Directors.

The selection of individuals to become Executive or Non-executive Directors are based on assessment of their professional qualifications
and experience. No meeting was held during the 2006 financial year. However, the Nomination Committee is scheduled to meet in the
third quarter of 2007.

Independent Board Committee

Where there are matters involving connected or continuing connected transactions or other transactions, so far as required under the
Listing Rules, an Independent Board Committee, comprising whoily the Independent Non-executive Directors, will be established with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with the [ndependent Board Cornmittee’s authority and duties and independent
financial advisers will be appointed to provide agvices to the Independent Board Committee. When appropriate, the Independent Board
Committee will then advise shareholders on how to vote after considering advices (if any) frem independent financial advisers.

Director’s Service Contract

Mr. Edward A. Tortorici has a service contract with the Company expiring on 31 Decernber 2007. Apart from that, no other Director has
an unexpired service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Comgany within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

Having made specific enquiry, the Company can confirm that all of the Directors have complied with the Company's code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions, prepared and adopted on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the
Model Code.

Financial Reporting

In order to enable the Directors to present a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment of the Company’s performance, position and
prospecis to its shareholders, financial reports with adequate information and explanations are prepared by the Company's management
to the Board of Directors on a timely and regular basis.
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Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Companies Ordinance requires the Directors to prepare Financial Statements for each financial year that give a true and fair view of
the Company’s state of affairs as at the end of the financial year and of its profit or loss for the year then ended. In preparing the
Financia! Staterents, the Directors are required to:

. select suitable accounting policies and apply them on a consistent basis, making judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and
reasonable;

. state the reasons for any significant departure from the relevant accounting standards; and

. prepare the Financial Statements on a going concern basis, unless it is not apprapriate to presume that the Company will continue
in business for the foreseeable future.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Directors’ Training

During the course of the year, the Board was updated by the Company’s legal adviser in relation to the recent changes in the Listing Rules
regarding Directors’ obligations and liabilities. The Board was also infoermed of updates of accounting and disclosure changes over the last
12 months.

Voting by Poll
The Company’s sharehalders are adequately informed of the procedures for and their rights to demand voting by pell in shareholders’
meetings at which their approvals are sought through disclosure in the Company's circulars.

Al the 2006 AGM and SGM, the chairman demanded a poll on all resolutions. The procedures for demanding a poll by the shareholders
were incorporated in the respective circulars sent to the shareholders in the time stipulated. Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Registrar, was engaged as scrutineer to ensure the votes were properly counted.

Remuneration Policy
Details of Directors’ remuneration for the year are set out in Note 36(A) to the Financial Statements. The remuneration of senior
executives, including Directors, consists of the following:

Salary and Benefits

Salary reflects an executive's experience, responsibility and market value. Increases are based on effective management of the Company
and on increased responsibility. Benefits principally comprise housing allowance, educational support and health care, and are consistent
with those provided by comparable companies.

Bonus and Long-term Incentives

Bonuses are based on the achievement of individual performance targets, and do not necessarily correlate with annual profit movements.
Long-term incentives comprise monetary payments and/or share options that link reward to the achievernent of pre-determined
objectives, The value of the long-term incentive offered to each executive is related to job grade and contribution te the management of
the business.

Fees
It is the Company's palicy that it pays no fees to the Company’s Executive Directors.

Pension Contributions
The Company operates defined contribution schemes, in respect of which contributions are determined cn the basis of basic salaries and
length of service.

Share Options

Share options are granted to certain Directors and senior executives as part of the long-term incentive arrangements. Details of the
Company’s share options granted to Directors and senior executives are set cut in Note 36D(a) to the Financial Statements.
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Communications with Shareholders

First Pacific encourages an active and open dialogue with all of is shareholders; private and institutional, targe and small. The Directors
acknowledges that its role is to represent and promote the interests of shareholders and that its members are accountable to shareholders
for the performance and activities of the Company. As such First Pacific is always responsive to the views and requests of its shareholders.

The formal channels of communicating with shareholders are the annual and interim reparts, press releases, published announcements,
shareholders’ circulars and the AGM. The annual and interim reports seek to communicate, both to shareholders and the wider
investment community, developments in the Company’s businesses. In addition, the annual report sets out strategic goats for the coming
year and management's performance against predetermined objectives are reported and assessed. All of these initiatives are designed to
better inform shareholders and potential investors about the Company's activities and strategic direction.

The AGM is the principal forum for formal dialogue with shareholders, where the Board is available to answer questions about specific
resolutions being proposed at the meeting and also about the Group in general. In addition, where appropriate, the Company convenes
SGM to approve transactions in accordance with the Listing Rules and the Company’s corporate governance procedures. These provide
further opportunities for shareholders to comment and vote on specific transactions.

At the 2006 AGM, a separate resolution was proposed by the chairman in respect of each separate issue, including the re-election of
Directors.

In crder to promote effective communication, the Cempany also maintains a website (www.firstpacco.com) which includes past and
present information relating to the Group and its businesses,

Connected and Continuing Connected Transactions

At the Company's SGM held on 14 tune 2006, the Company’s independent shareholders approved, inter alia, a series of continuing
connected transactions relating to Indofood's noodles business. This approval related to the provision of raw materials or finished and
packaging preducts, the provision of technical services and the licensing of related trademarks to connected persons, as well as the
Annual Caps for the Noodles Business Transactions for the years ending 31 December 2006, 2007 and 2008. In cases where the
transactions expire part way through the calendar year 2008, the independent shareholders approved the pro rata amount of the Annual
Cap applicable to the period during the calendar year for which the relevant agreement remains in effect, details as set out in the
Company’s circular dated 22 May 2006.

The aggregate of the proposed Annual Caps for all the Noodles Business Transactions for the years ending 31 December 2006 and 2007
are US$47.3 million and US$60.8 million respectively, The aggregate Annual Caps for the Noodles Business Transactions applicable, on a
pro rated basis, to the agreements which expire during 2008 and those which centinue throughout 2008 is U$$30.9 million. As the
relevant percentage ratios {as defined in the Listing Rules) applicable to the aggregate Annual Caps in respect of the Noodles Business
Transactions exceed 2.5%, the Company obtained the independent shareholders’ approval for each of these continuing connected
transactions at the SGM referrad to above.

The relevant percentage ratios (as defined in the Listing Rules) applicable to the aggregate Annual Caps in respect of the Distribution
Business Transactions do not exceed 2.5% and, therefore, each of those continuing connected transactions is not reguired to be approved
by the independent shareholders at the SGM but have been disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 28 April 2006.
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During 2006, the equity interest in PT Asuransi Central Asia (ACA) and PT Indosurance Broker Utama {IBU) changed such that these
became connected parties (i.e. a member of the Salim Group). Certain members of Indofood Group {the “Insured Indofood Entities”)
have entered into a series of transactions with ACA for the provision of insurance covering portions of the inventories, property, plant
and equipment, vehicles, marine cargo and other assets of the Insured Indofood Entities while [BU acts as insurance broker for the
marine cargo insurance in relation to the assets of the (nsured Indofood Entities with different respective estimated aggregate values
(the "Transactions”). Based on the estimated maximum aggregate vatues of each Transaction and applying the relevant percentage
ratios {as defined in the Listing Rules), the Company has determined that the Transactions referred to above are required to be
disclosed to SEHK and the Company's shareholders in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
Company published an announcement dated 3 November 2006 disclosing further infermation of those Transactions.

Each of the above continuing connected transactions will be subject to annual review by the Independent Non-executive Directors of
the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules and confirmation of the auditors of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.38
of the Listing Rules.

On 9 March 2007, PT Salim lvomas Pratama, a 64% owned subsidiary company of Indofood, completed the acquisition of a 60 per
cent interest in three plantation companies owning approximately 85,500 hectares of plantation land for a consideration of Rupiah
125 billion {US$13.8 million) from Rascal Holdings Limited (a member of the Salim Group). Following completion of the acquisition,
the plantation companies and their respective subsidianies have become subsidiaries of Indofood, thereby subsidiaries of the
Company.

The Directors {including the Independent Non-executive Direciors) considered that the terms of each of the continuing connected
transactions for the financial year ended 31 December 2006 and the subsequent acquisition of plantation companies on 8 March
2007 are fair and reasonable and that they are in the best interests of the Company, Indofood and their respective sharehoiders.
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Each of the above continuing connected transactions has been subject to annual review by the Independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company pursuant to Rute 14A.37 of the Listing Rules and confirmation of the auditors of the Company pursuant to Rule
144,38 of the Listing Rules.

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2006, the Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company have concluded
that each continuing connected transaction has been entered into:

. either on normal commercial terms or. in those instances where there are not sufficient comparable transactions to judge
whether they are on normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to Indofood than terms available to or from (as
appropriate) independent third parties;

. in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them, or the relevant written memorandum recording their terms, subject
1o an exception set out below, as referred to in the letter from Ernst & Young referred to below; and

. on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as & whole.

Ernst & Young has provided a letter to the Board (with a copy to HKSE) confirming that, subject to an exception which has been
drawn to the attention of the Board, the continuing connecied transactions have been carried out in the manner stated in Rule
14A.38 of the Listing Rules. The exception contained in Ernst & Young's letter related to certain connected party’s late settiement of
invoices.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal controls in the Company and reviewing its effectiveness
through the Audit Committee. The Board has appointed a compliance officer on a continuing basis to assist the Company in its
compliance obligations.

In additicn, during the year ended 31 December 2006, the Audit Committee reviewed and advised that:

. The internal controls and accounting systems of the Group function effectively and are designed to provide reasonable
assurance that material assets are protected, business risks attributable to the Group are identified and monitored, material
transactions are executed in accordance with management's authorization and the financial statements are reliable for
publication and compliant with all relevant laws and regulations.

. There is an ongeing process in place for identifying, evaluating and managing the material business risks faced by the Group.

. There are initiatives to improve certain processes to further strengthen internal controls and enhance risk management within
the Group.
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Statutory heports

Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of First Pacific Company Limited (the Company) and iis subsidiary
companies {together the Group) {the Financial Statements) for the year ended 31 December 2006.

Principal Business Activities and Geographical Market Analysis of Operations

First Pacific Company Limited is a Hong Kong-based investment and management company with operations lacated in Asia. Its principal
business interests relate to telecommunications, consumer food products and infrastructure and property. During the year, the Group’s
transportation business terminated following Metro Pacific's sale of its majority 83.7 per cent interest in Nenaco (a domestic Philippine
shipping firm 99.0 per cent held by Metro Pacific prior to the disposal). Apart from that, there were no significant changes in the nature
of the Group's principal business activities during the year.

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and segmental information for the year, by principal business activity and principal geographicat
market, is set out in Note 4 to the Financial Statements, and a summary of its principal investments is set out on the inside back cover.

Incorporation
The Company was incorporated on 25 May 1988 in Bermuda with limited liability.

Share Capital and Share Options

There were no movements in the Company's authorized share capital during the year. Details of movemnenits in the Company’s share
capital, share options issued by the Group during the year, together with their reasons, are set out in Notes 29 and 36(D) to the Financial
Statements.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in the Financial Statements on
pages 61 to 63.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities of the Company

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiary companies, has made any purchase, sale or redemption of any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year,

Results and Appropriations

The consolidated profit of the Group for the year endaed 31 December 2006 and the state of affairs of the Zompany and the Group at
that date are set out in the Financial Statements on pages 58 to 116.

An interim dividend of U.S. 0.13 cent (2005: U.S. 0.13 cent) per ordinary share, totaling US$4.1 million {2005: US$4.1 million), was paid
on 27 October 2006. A special dividend of three shares of indofood Agri Resources Ltd. (indoAgri) {a subsidiary company of Indofood}
{with an option of electing to receive cash in lieu of the distributable IndoAgri shares which equaled to HK$6.37 (U.S. 81.67 cents) per
IndoAgri share) in the form of distribution in specie for every multiple of 2,000 ordinary shares, totalling 2,782,124 IndoAgri shares
(equivalent to US$1.8 million) and US$2.1 million in cash were distributed to the shareholders on 28 March 2007. Further details of the
special dividend are provided in Note 9 of the Financial Statements. The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of U.5. 0.45
cent (2005: U.S, 0.26 cent) per ordinary share, totaling US$14.4 mitlion {2005: US$8.2 million). .

Charitable Contributions
The Group made charitable contributions totaling US$6.1 million in 2006 (2005: US$3.4 million).

Property and Equipment

Details of movemnents in the Group's property and equipment during the year are provided in Note 11 to the Financial Statements.
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Borrowings
Details of the borrowings of the Group are provided in Note 26 to the Financial Statements.

Distributable Reserves

At 37 December 2006, the Company's reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) amounted to US$439.4 million (2005: U334 18.9 million). The Company’s share premium account, in
the amount of U5$964.2 million {2005: US$959.1 million), may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

Directors

The names of the Directors of the Company who held office at 31 December 2006 are set out on pages 8 to 11, Details of a Director’s
service contract are provided in the Corporate Governance Report on page 44, and the remuneration policy and other details are provided
in the Corporate Governance Report on page 45 and Note 36{A) to the Financial Statements, respectively.

Interests of Directors in the Company and its Associated Corporations

At 31 December 2006, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares of the
Company, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO}
which {a) were required to be notified to the Company and SEHK pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified 1o the
Company and SEHK were as follows:

(A) Long positions in shares of the Company

Approximate

percentage of Orcinary

the 1ssued share share

Ordinary shares capial (%) opuons

Anthoni Salim 1,418,525,963C0 44.26 -
Manuel V. Pangilinan 6,026,759" 0.19 31,800,000
Edward A. Tortorici 27,252,131® 0.85 17,680,000
Robert C. Nicholson - - 24,500,000
Ambassador Albert F. del Rosario - - 2,840,000
Benny S. Santoso - - 2,840,000
Graham L. Pickles - - 1,000,000
Edward K.Y. Chen, G8s, CBE P - - 2,840,000

(C) = Corporate interest, (P) = Personal interest

iy Anthoni Salim owns 100 per cent of First Pacific Investments (BVI) Limited which, in turn, is interested in 628,296,599 ordinary shares of the
Company. Of this, 33.334 per cent is held by Anthoni Salim directly, and 66,666 per cent by Salerni International timited (a company which
Anthoni Salim directly holds 100 per cent of the issued share capital). Anthoni Salim also owns 56.8 per cent of First Pacific Investments Limited
which, in turn, is interested in 790,229,354 ordinary.shares of the Company. Of this, 10 per cent is held by Anthoni Salim directly, and 46.8
per cent by Salerni International Limited. The remaining 43.2 per cent interest in First Pacific Investments Limited is owned as to 30 per cent by
Sutanto Djuhar, 10 per cent by Tedy Djuhar and 3.2 per cent by a company controlfed by tbrahim Risjad, all of whom are Non-executive
Directors of the Company,
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(B) Long pasitions in shares of the associated corporations

. Manuel V. Pangilinan owned 384,101 common shares™ (0.03%)* and 564,303 warrants™ {(1.39%)* in MPIC, 201,933
common shares™ (0.11%)* in PLDT and 360 preferred shares®™ (less than 0.01%)* in PLDT a: beneficial owner and a further
15,417 common shares (less than 0.01%)* in PLDT as nominee for another person, as well as 3,500,000 common shares®
{0.03%)* in Pilipino Telephane Corporation.

. Edward A. Tortorici owned 17,399 common shares© {less than 0.01%)* and 165,000 common shares™ (0.01%)* in MPIC, as
well a5 52,197 warrants!® (0.04%)* and 495,000 warrants® (0.34%)* in MPIC and 104,874 comman shares® (0.06%)* in
PLDT.

. Sutanto Djuhar owned 15,520,335 shares® {0.18%)* in Indofood., '

e Tedy Djuhar owned 15,520,335 shares'@ {0.18%)* in Indofood.

. tbrahim Risjad owned 6,406,180 shares™ (0.08%)* in Indofood.

+  Anthoni Salim owned 632,370 shares®© (less than 0.01%)* in Indofood.

. Albert F. del Rosario owned 100,025 common shares®™ (0.05%)* in PLDT, 1,560 preferred shares™ (less than 0.01%)* in PLDT,
32,231,970 preferred shares (52.10%)* in Prime Media Holdings, Inc. {fMH) as nominee for another person, 4 common
shares™ (less than 0.01%)* in PMH as beneficial owner, 100 commoan shares® (less than 0.01%)* in Negros Navigation Co.,
Inc., 4,922 common shares™ (2.46%}* in Costa de Madera Corporation, 19,999 common shares® (10.00%)* in FPD Savills
Consultancy Philippines, Inc. as beneficial owner and one common share® (less than 0.01%)* in FPD Savills Consultancy
Philippines, Inc. as beneficiary of certain trusts, 15,000 common shares® (5.009%)* in Metro Pacific Land Holdings Inc., and
80,000 common shares® (20.00%)* in Metro Strategic Infrastructure Holdings, Inc.

(P) = Persanal interest, (C} = Corporate interest

* Approximate percentage of the issued capital of the respective class of sharesiwarrants in the respective associated corporation

At 31 December 2006, save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and chief executive of the Compary were interested, or were
deemed to be interested in the long and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and SEHK
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO; or (b} were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or {c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and SEHK.

Interests of Substantial Shareholders in the Company

The register of interests in shares and short positions of substantia! shareholders maintained under Section 336 of the SFQ shows that at
31 December 2006, the Company had been notified that the following persans were interested in five per cent or more of the Company's
issued share capital:

{A} Salerni International Limited (Salerni), which was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, was interested in 1,418,525,963 ordinary
shares of the Company (long position) at 31 December 20086, representing approximately 44.26 per cent of the Company's issued
share capital, by way of its 46.8 per cent interest in First Padific Investments Limited (FPIL-Liberia) and its 66.666 per cent interest in
First Pacific Investments {(BVI) Limited (FPIL-BVI).

{B)  FPIL-Liberia, which was incorporated in the Republic of Liberia, beneficially owned 790,229,364 ordinary shares at 31 December
2006, representing approximately 24.66 per cent of the Company's issued share capital. FPIL-Liberia is owned by the Chairman
{(Anthoni Salim) and three Non-executive Directors (Sutanto Djuhar, Tedy Djuhar and Ibrahim Risjad), in the proportion specified in
footnote (i} of the table on page 53. Anthoni Salim is taken to be interested in the shares owned by FPIL-Liberia.

T (CY  FPIL-BVI, which was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, beneficially owned 628,296,599 ordinary shares at 31 December
2006, representing approximately 19.60 per cent of the Company’s issued share capital. Anthoni Salim, the Chairman of the
Company, beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of FPIL-BVI and, accordingly, is taken to be interested in the shares
awned by FPIL-BVL,

(D) Brandes Investment Partners, L.P. (Brandes), a U.S. company, notified the Company that it held 348,724,702 ordinary shares of the
Company in December 2006, representing approximately 10.88 per cent of the Company’s issued share capital by that time. On
22 March 2007, Brandes notified the Company that it held 331,580,562 ordinary shares of the Company, representing
approximately 10.35 per cent of the Company’s issued share capital by that time.

{(E) Marathon Asset Management Limited (Marathon), a U.K. incorporated company, notified the Company that it held 204,709,173
ordinary shares of the Company in November 2005, representing approximately 6.39 per cent of the Company's issued share capital
by that time. At 31 December 2006, the Company has not received any cther notification from Marathon of any change to such
holding.
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Save as disclosed above, the Directors and chief executive of the Company are not aware of any person at 31 December 2006 who had
an interest or a short position in the shares or underlying shares and debentures of the Company which would be required to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was interested, directly or indirectly, in five per
cent or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at the general meetings of the
Company.

Contracts of Significance

Except for the connected and continuing connected transactions set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 46 to 50, there

were no contracts of significance in refation to the Company's business to which the Company ar its subsidiary companies were parties,
and in which a Director of the Company had a materia! interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

None of the Directors had any direct or indirect interest in any assets which have been acquired, disposed of by, or leased to, or are
proposed to be acquired or disposed of by, or leased to the Company or any of its subsidiary companies at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Apért from as disclosed under the heading “Interests of Directors in the Company and its Associated Corporations” above and “Share
Options" in Note 36(D) to the Financial Statements, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiary companies a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate and none of the Directors of the Company or their spouses or minor children
had any right to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had exercised any such right during the year.

Summary Financial Information

A summary of the published results, assets, liabilities and minority interest, and various information and financial ratios of the Company
and the Group for the last ten financial years, as extracted from the audited Financial Statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate,
is set out on page 120. This summary does not form part of the audited Financial Statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers
In 2006, sales to the Group®s five largest customers, and purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers, respectively accounted for less
than 30 per cent of the total sales and total purchases for the year.

Connected and Continuing Connected Transactions

Connected and continuing connected transactions required to be disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, are
disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 46 to 50.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company's
total issued share capital was held by the public at both 31 December 2006 and the date of this report.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

During the year, the Company has maintained appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for all Directors and officers of the
Company and its related companies, save in those instances where individual companies have maintained their own coverage.

Employment Policy

The Company has a policy of non-discrimination in respect of the age, religion, gender, race, disability or marital status of employees and
prospective employees. This ensures that individuals are treated equally, given their skills and abilities, in terms of career development and
opportunities for advancement.
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Subsequent Events
Details of the significant subsequent events of the Group are set out in Note 39 to the Financial Statements.

Auditors

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Nancy L.M. Li
Company Secretary

Hong Kong
11 April 2007
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Ell ERNST & YOUNG
F kR & i H F B A

Independent Auditors’ Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FIRST PACIFIC COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the Financial Statements of First Pacific Company Limited set out on pages 58 to 116, which comprise the consolidated
and company balance sheets as at 31 December 2008, and the consolidated profit and loss statement, the consolidated and company
statements of changes in equity and the consclidated cash flow statement far the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these Financial Statements in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Repoerting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of Financial Statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibilities

Our responsibility is 1o express an opinion on these Financial Statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 50 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the Financial Statements are free from material misstaternent.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial Statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the Financial
Statements, whether due to fraud or errar. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and true and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpase of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directars, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation af the Financial Statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion,
Opinion
In our opinion, the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at

31 December 2006 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

ERNST & YOUNG
Certified Public Accountants

18th Floor, Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central, Hong Kong

11 April 2007
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Fmancial >tatements

Consolidated Profit and Loss Statement

For the year ended 31 December

US$ mullions Notes
Turnover 4 2,474.8 1,986.1
Cost of sales (1.836.5) (1,511.7)
Gross Profit 6383 474.4
Gair{loss) on divestment, dilution and disposal, net 104.0 (6.3}
Distribution costs (229.6) {175.0)
Administrative expenses (150.8) {128.3)
Other operating expenses, net (105.2) (29.8)
Net borrowing costs 5 {106.4) {107.3)
Share of profits less losses of associated companies 143.0 137.7
Profit Before Taxation & 2933 165.4
Taxation 7 (71.6) (26.6)
Profit for the Year 221.7 138.8
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 8 164.5 103.0

Minority interest 57.2 35.8

221.7 138.8

Ordinary Share Dividends 9
Interim — .5, 0.13 cent (2005: U.S. 0.13 cent} per share 4.1 4.1
Special - U.5. 0.12 cent {2005: Nil) per share 3.9 -
Proposed final — U.S. 0.45 cent (2005: U.S. 0.26 cent) per share 144 8.2
Total 22.4 12.3
Earnings Per Share Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent (U.S. cents) 10
Basic 5.15 3.23
Diluted 5.06 317

The Notes on pages 66 to 116 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

Financial Statements

At 31 December 2006 2005
Us$ millions Notes
Non-current Assets
Property and equipment " 716.8 622.9
Plantations 12 275.0 169.0
Associated companies 14 471.0 3817
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 16 104.9 -
Accounts receivable, other receivables and prepayments 17 15.9 1.7
Goodwill 18 34.8 327
Prepaid land premiums 19 45.8 345
Available-for-sale assets 20 4.9 2.7
Deferred tax assets 2] 20.3 15.4
Other non-currernit assets 22 106.5 130.8
1,795.9 1,401.4
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 23 327.7 296.0
Pledged deposits and restricted cash 33(€} 31.3 4.7
Available-for-sale assets 20 102.1 52.4
Accounts receivable, other receivables and prepayments 17 259.5 286.7
Inventories 24 367.4 303.0
Non-current assets held for sale - 2.9
1,088.0 945.7
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable, other payables and accruals 25 300.5 2786
Short-term borrowings 26 508.9 345.0
Provision for taxation 27 231 1.2
Current portion of deferred liabilities and provisions 28 16.6 15.3
849.1 650.1
Net Current Assets 2389 295.6
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 2,034.8 1,697.0
Equity
Issued share capital 29 32.0 319
Other reserves 30 975.5 9279
Accumulated losses (424.8) (577.0}
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 582.7 382.8
Minarity interest 31 450.1 3239
Total Equity 1,032.8 706.7
Non-current Liabilities
Long-term borrowings 26 647.0 744.2
Deferred liabilities and provisions 28 921 92.7
Deferred tax liabilities 21 163.3 114.1
Derivative liability 32 99.6 393
1,002.0 990.3
2,034.8 1,697.0

The Notes on pages 66 to 116 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

MANUEL V. PANGILINAN
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

11 April 2007

EDWARD A. TORTORICI
Executive Director
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Company Balance Sheet

At 31 December

US$ millions

Non-current Assets

Subsidiary companies 13 784.2 746.8
Amounts due from subsidiary companies 13(A) 1,559.9 1,534.8
2,344.1 2,281.6

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents ' 23 62.4 189.2
Other receivables and prepayments 0.1 0.4
62.5 189.6

Current Liabilities

Other payahles and accruals 0.5 5.3
Net Current Assets 62.0 1843
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 2,406.1 2,465.9
Equity .

Issued share capital 29 32.0 319

Other reserves 1,148.7 1,142.2

Retained earnings 265.6 2451

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 1.446.3 1,419.2

Non-current Liabilities
Amounis due to subsidiary companies 13(8) 959.8 1,046.7

2,406.1 2,465.9

The Notes on pages 66 to 116 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

On behalf of the Board of Directars

MANUEL V. PANGILINAN EDWARD A. TORTORICI
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer Executive Director
11 April 2007
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Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

Unrealzed  Unreahized
gaing ¢n gamshlosses)

Issued Share  avallatle- on
share Share  oplions forsale  cashfiow  Exchange Capital Accumulaied Minonty Total

Us$ milons Hotes capital  premum 155ued assels hedges feserve reserve fo3ses Tota! [EE equily
Balance at 1 January 2005 319 958.2 44 1.7 - {59.8) - (675.2) 2612 3637 6249
Changes in equity for 2005:
Exchange differences on

translating foraign

operations - - - - - 97 - - 97 {(12.8) 8.1)
Unrealized gains on

avalable-for-sale assets - - - 47 - - - - 47 37 84
Unrealized gains on

cash flow hadges - - - - 40 - - - 40 - 40
Acguisition of

minarity interest . - - - - - - - {0.7) 0.1 (233} (24.0)
Net income and expense

recagnized directly in equity - - - 47 40 97 - 07 ir? (374) (19.7)
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 103.0 1030 358 1388
Total recognized inceme

and expense for the year - - - 47 40 9.7 - 1023 1207 (16) 141
Dilustion of interest in

an associated company - - - - - 0.8) - - (0:8) - {0.8)
Acquisition of

subsidiary companies 330) - - - - - - - - - 08 08
Change in

attributable interests - - - - - - - - - 92} (9.2}
Dividends paid to

minority shareholders - - - - - - - - - {29.8) {29.8)
Issua of shares upon the

exercise of share options - 09 (0.3) - - - - - 06 - 06
Equity-settied share option

amangements - - 5.2 - - - - - 5.2 - 52
2005 Interim dividend 9 - - - - - - - (4.1} 4.1} - a.1)
Balance at

31 December 2005 318 959.1 93 6.4 40 {50.9) - (577.0) 3828 3239 106.7
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (cont’d)

Equity atinbutable 16 aquity holders of the parent

Unregized  Lveahzed
ganson 03"y 'osses’
Issued Share  avatlable- on
share Shate oplions forsale  casnflowr  Exchange Captal Actur.iahd Loty Total
Us$ mifions Notes capital  premwum 1ssued assets hedges rasgrye reserve ‘mf“ Tota! nterest equity
Balance at 31 December 2005 9 959.1 53 6.4 40 (50.9) - (5770} 3828 3239 706.7
Changas in equity for 2006
Exchange differences on
translating foreign
oparations - - - - - 57 - - 57 292 KLR:
Unrealized gains on
available-for-sale assets - - - 455 - - - - 455 37 49.2
Unrealized losses on
cash flow hedges - - - - (10.6) - - - {108) - (10.6)
Net income and expense
recognized directly in equity - - - 455 {106} 57 - - 406 329 7135
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 164.5 164.5 57.2 anr
Total recognized income
and expense for the year - - - 455 (105) 5.7 - 164. 2054 90.1 295.2
Divestment and dilution
of interest in an
assaciated company - - - - - 25 - - 25 - 5
Restructtring transactions
amang entities under
cemmon ¢ontrol - - - - - - (26) - {26) 26 -
Accuisition of
subsiciary companies 33(0) - - - - - - - - - 159 35.9
Shares issued 10
minarity interest by a
subssidiary company - - - - - - - - - 25 15
Change in
attributable interests - - - - - - - - - 24) {2.4)
Dividends paid to
minority shareholders - - - - - - - - - (25) (25}
Issue of shares upen the
exercise of share options 29 01 51 {i.6) - - - - - 36 - 36
Equity-setiled share option
arrangements - - 35 - - - - - 36 - 346
2005 final dividend 9 - - - - - - - (82) 8.2} - {8.2)
2006 interim dividend 9 - - - - - - - @) @4.1) - 1)
Balance at
31 December 2006 320 964.2 1.3 5.9 {6.6) mn (2.6} (424.8) 582.7 450.1 1,032.8

The Notes on pages 66 to 116 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Financial Statements

Retaned
Issued Share earnings/
share Share options  Contributed (accumulated
Uss$ mitlions capital premium 1ssued surplus losses)
Balance at 1 January 2005 318 958.2 4.4 173.8 {101.6) 1,066.7
Profit for the year - - - - 350.8 350.8
Issue of shares upon the
exercise of share options - 09 (0.3) - - 0.6
Equity-settled share option arrangements 35(A) - - 5.2 - - 52
2005 interim dividend ] - - - - (4.1) (4.1)
Balance at 31 December 2005 31.9 959.1 9.3 173.8 2451 1.419.2
Profit for the year - - - - 32.8 32.8
Issue of shares upon the
exercise of share options 29 0.1 5.1 (1.6) - - 3.6
Equity-settled share option arrangements 35(A) - - 3.0 - - 3.0
2005 final dividend 9 - - - - {8.2) (8.2)
2006 interim dividend 9 - - - - {4.1) {4.1)
Balance at 31 December 2006 32.0 964.2 10.7 173.8 265.6 1,446.3

The Notes on pages 66 to 116 form an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 December

uss millions
Profit Before Taxation 293.3 165.4
Adjustments for:
Interest expenses 124.0 115.2
Depreciation 67.2 62.6
Foreign exchange and derivative losses, net 49.7 42.0
impairment losses recognized 283 -
Decrease/(increase} in other non-current assets 21.5 (16.6)
Loss on sale of property and equipment 3.3 0.7
Equity-settled share option expense 3.0 52
Recognition of prepaid land premiums 25 4.2
Loss on changes in fair value of nen-current assets held for safe 0.6 -
Share of profit less losses of associated companies (143.0) (137.7)
{Gain)loss on divestment and dilution of interest in an associated company (96.9) 6.3
Gain on changes in fair value of plantations (53.4) (12.3)
Interest income {17.6) 7.9)
(Increase)decrease in accounts receivables, other receivables and
prepayments {(Non-current) {a.n 0.4
Gain on disposal of subsidiary companies (7.1) -
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (2.2) -
Dividend income from available-for-sale assets (0.1) (1.0)
Others 2.6 (26.7)
261.0 199.8
Decrease in accounts receivable, other receivables and prepayments {Current) 449 18.8
Increase in inventories (34.7) (41.0)
(Decrease)increase in accounts payable, other payables and accruals {15.5) 49.0
Net cash generated from operations® 255.7 2266
Interest received 14.6 7.6
interest paid (104.7} (101.6)
Tax paid (40.3) (42.4)
Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities 125.3 90.2

(i} Changes in working capital are stated excluding movements due to acguisition and disposal of subsidiary comparnies,
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Financial Statements

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (cont’d)

For the year ended 31 December

Ust millions

Dividend received from an associated company 14(B) 62.5 389
Sale of property and equipment ' 4.7 7.1
Salef{purchase) of available-for-sale assets 3.5 {20.4)
Dividend received from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 22 -
Acquisition of assets designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 33(A) (73.7) -
Purchase of property and equipment (43.7) (54.9)
Increased investment in an associated company 33(B) (37.3) (57.3)
Acquisition of subsidiary companies 33(C) (31.6) 6.2)
tnvestment in plantations (7.5) -
Disposal of subsidiary companies 33(D} {0.8) -
Acquisition of associated companies - (17.6)
Deposits for acquisition and increased investments in subsidiary companies - {14.9)
Acquisition of convertible bonds - (5.2)
Increased investments in subsidiary companies - (4.9)
Loans to associated companies - (1.4)
Proceeds from termination of derivative transactions - 96.3
Compensation received in connection with establishment of a joint venture - 13.3
Net Cash Qutflow from Investing Activities (121.7) (27.2)
Proceeds of new borrowings 688.0 601.0
Issue of shares upon the exercise of share options 3.6 0.6
Shares issued to minority interest by a subsidiary company 2.5 -
Borrowings repaid (637.0) (517.5)
{Increase)decrease in pledged deposits and restricted cash (26.6) 45
Dividends patd to shareholders (12.3) (4.1)
Dividends paid to minority interest by subsidiary companies (2.5) {29.8)
Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities 15.7 54.7
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 19.3 17.7
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 296.0 186.6
Exchange translation 12.4 (8.3)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at 31 December ' 327.7 296.0

Representing:
Cash and cash equivalents 327.7 296.0

The Notes on pages 66 to 116 form an integral part of the Financial Statements,
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tNotes fo the Financial Statements

I. Corporate Information

First Pacific Cornpany Limited is a Hong Kong-based investment and management company with operations located in Asia. Its
principal business interests relate to telecommunications, consumer food products and infrastructure and property.

The Group comprises the Company and its subsidiary companies.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Canon’s Court,
22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda.

The Company's ordinary shares are listed on the SEHK. Its shares are also available in the United States through ADRs.

2. Basis of Preparation, Summary of Principal Accounting Policiés and

Changes

{A) Basis of Preparation
The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs {(which also include HKASs and Interpretations)
issued by the HKICPA, Hong Kong GAAP and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the
Listing Rules. The Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for plantations,
available-for-sale assets and derivative financial instruments which, as disclosed in the accounting policies below, are stated at
fair value. Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell as further

explained in Note 2(D){w). These Financial Statements are presented in United States (t).5.) dollars and rounded to the nearest
million (US$ million} with one decimal place except when otherwise indicated.

(B) Impact of New and Revised HKFRSs

Certain changes to Hong Kong GAAFP have been implemented during 2006 as a consequence of the following new and
revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which became effective for accounting periods commencing on, or after, 1 January

2006:

HKAS 19 Amendment ”Actuarial Gains and Losses, Group Plans and Disclosures”

HKAS 21 Amendment “Net Investment in a Foreign Operation”

HKAS 39 Amendment “Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Forecast Intragroup Transactions”
HKAS 39 Amendment “The Fair Value Option”

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 4 Amendments "Financial Guarantee Contracts”

HK(IFRIC}-Int 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”

Except for HKAS 39 Amendment "The Fair Value Option*”, the adoption of the pronouncements listed above has had no
material impact on the accounting policies of the Group and the methods of computation in the Group’s Financial Statements.
The adoption of HKAS 39 Amendment “The Fair Value Option” has resulted in the Group applying more restrictive criteria for
designating financial instruments as financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

During the year, the Group designated 1.1 per cent interest in PLDT acquired during 2006 as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss. Please refer to Note 16 for details. The adoption has had no effect on both the profit attributable to
equity holders of the parent for the years ended 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2005 anc equity attributable to equity
holders of the parent at 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2005.
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(©

(D)

MNotes to the Financial Statements

Impact of Issued but not yef Effective HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the foliowing new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
Financial Statements.

HKAS 1 Amendment " Capital Disclosures”

HKFRS 7 "Financial Instruments; Disclosures”

HKFRS 8 "Operating Segments”

HK{IFRIC)}-Int 7 *Applying the Restatement Approach under HKAS 29 Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies”

HK(FRIC)-Int 8 "Scope of HKFRS 2~

HK{IFRIC)-Int 9 "Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives”

HK{IFRIC)-Int 10 “Interim Financial Reporting and impairment”

HK{FRIC)-Int 11 "HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share Transactions”

HK{FRIC)-Int 12 “Service Concession Arrangement”

The HKAS 1 amendment shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. The revised standard will
affect the disclosures about qualitative information about the Group's abjective, poficies and pracesses for managing capital;
quantitative data about what the Company regards as capital; and compliance with any capital requirements and the
consequences of any non-compliance.

HKFRS 7 shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. The standard requires disclosures that
enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the significance of the Group’s financial instruments and the nature and
extent of risks arising from those financial instruments.

HKFRS 8 shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The standard adopts a management
approach to reporting segment information. The information reported would be that which management uses internally for
evaluating the perfarmance of operating segments and allocating resources to those segments. HKFRS 8 will replace HKAS 14
"Segment Reporting”.

HK{IFRIC)-Int 7, HK{IFRIC}-Int 8, HK{FRIC)-int 9, HKUFRIC)-int 10, HK(FRIC)-Int 11 and HK{FRIC)-Int 12 shall be applied for
annual perieds beginning on or after 1 March 2006, 1 May 2006, 1 June 2006, 1 November 2006, 1 March 2007 and
i January 2008, respectively.

The Group has not early adopted the above new and revised HKFRSs in the Financial Statements for the year ended 31
December 2006. The Company has already commenced an assessment of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs but is
not yet in a position to state whether these new and revised HKFRSs would have a significant impact on its results of
operations and financial position.

Summary of Principal Accounting Policies

{a) Basis of consolidation
The Financial Statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary companies for the year
ended 31 December 2006. All significant intercompany transactions and balances within the Group are eliminated on
consolidation.

A subsidiary company is an entity controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of the entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiary companies acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated profit and -
loss statement from the effective date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, or up to the
effective date of disposal, as appropriate. The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary company represents the
difference between the net proceeds from sale and the Group’s share of its net assets, including the attributable carrying
amount of goodwill.

The acquisition of subsidiary companies during the year has been accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting. This method involves allocating the cost of the business combinations to the fair value of the identifiable
assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. The cost of the acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the fair value of the assets given and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of
exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.
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Minority interest represents the interests of minority shareholders in the results and net assets of the Company's
subsidiary companies.

For business combinations involving entities or businesses under common contro! {(a business combination in which all of
the combining entities or businesses are ultimately controlled by the same party or part es both before and after the
business combination, and that control is not transitory), they are accounted for applying the principles of merger
accounting which is consistent with Hong Kong Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations” issued by the HKICPA, The method requires the combined entity recognizing the assets, liabilities and
equity of the combining entities or businesses at the carrying amounts (i.e. existing book values from the controlling
parties’ perspective) in the consolidated financial statements of the controlling party or parties prior to the common
control combination. There is no recognition of any goodwill or excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of
the acquiree’s identified assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost at the time of the common control
combination to the extent of the controlling party’s or parties’ interests.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in subsidiary compantes are stated at cost less any provision for impairment
losses. The results of subsidiary companies are accounted for by the Company on the besis of dividends received and
receivable.

(b) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the batance sheets, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally less than three months when acquired,
fess bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and which form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

(<) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method,
the weighted-average method or the moving average methed, and in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. The cast of goods purchased for
resale includes costs incurred in bringing the goods to their present location. Net realizakle value is determined on the
basis of current anticipated sales prices less estimates of costs to completion and selling expenses.

(d) Property and equipment
Freehofd land is stated at cost and is not depreciated. Other property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses and accumulated depreciation, calculated on the straight-fine basis at annual rates estimated to write
off their book values to residual values over their expected useful lives, Details of depreciation rates are given in Note 11(A).

The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price and any ¢osts directly attributable in bringing the
asset 1o its working condition and location for its intended use, Cost also inctudes asset retirement obligation, interest on
borrowed funds used during the construction period and qualified borrowing costs from foreign exchange losses related
to foreign currency-denominated fiabilities used to acquire such assets. Major costs incurred in restoring property and
equipment to their normal working condition are charged to the profit and loss staterment. Improvements are capitalized
and depreciated over their expected useful lives to the Group. When assets are sold or retired, their costs and
accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairment losses, if any, are eliminated from the accounts and any gain or
loss resulting from their disposal is inctuded in the profit and loss statement.

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual vatues, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the periods and

method of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and
equipment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(e) Plantations

Qil palm plantations are classified into immature and mature plantations. Immature plantations are reclassified as mature
plantations when they start to produce fresh fruit bunches at an average of at least four tons per hectare in one year. On
average, an oil palm plantation takes about three years to reach maturity from the time of planting. Both immature and
mature plantations are stated at fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs. The fair value of plantations is determined
based on the present vafue of their expected net cash inflows. Net increments or decrements in the fair value of
plantations are included in the profit and loss statement.

A rubber plantation is considered mature when at least 70 per cent of the trees per block are tapable and the
circumference of the trunk of the tree is 45 centimeters or more at the height of 160 centimeters from the ground.

(f) Associated companies

An associated company is an entity, not being a subsidiary company or a jointly-controlled entity, in which the Group has
a substantial long-term interest of generally not less than 20 per cent in the equity voting rights and over whose
management the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

Investments in associated companies are accounted for by the eguity method of accounting and are initially recognized
at cost. The Group's investments in associated companies include goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss)
identified on acquisition. The Group’s share of its associated companies’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognized in.
the consolidated profit and loss statement, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognized in
consolidated reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investrment. Income from associated companies is stated in the consolidated profit and loss statement as the Group's
share of profits less losses of associated companies. For those share of associated companies’ post acquisition
movements in reserve recognized in the Group’s consolidated raserves, the Group will disclose them, when applicable in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Equity accounting is discontinued when the carrying amount of the investment in an associated company reaches zero,
untess the Group has incurred obligations or guaranteed obligations in respect of the associated company.

(g) Jointly-controlled entities
A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to joint control, resulting in none of the participating parties
having unitateral control over the economic activity of the jointly-controfled entity. A joint venture is an entity set up by
contractual arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic activity, The joint venture
operates as a separate entity in which the Group and the other parties have an interest. The profits and losses from the
joint venture’s operations and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the venturers, either in proportion to their
respective capital contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the joint venture agreement,

The Group's interests in jointly-controlled entities are accounted for by proportionate consolidation, which involves
recognizing its share of the jointly-controlled entities” assets, liabilities, income and expenses with similar items in the
consolidated financial statements on a line-by-line-basis,

(h) Asset retirement obligations

The net present value of legal obligations associated with the retirement of an item of property and equipment that
resulted from the acquisition, construction or development and the normal operation of property and equipment is
recognized in the period in which it is incurred.

(i) Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred taxes. Income tax is recognized in the profit and oss statement, or in equity if
it relates to items that are recognized directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax liabilities are provided, using the liability method, on all taxable temporary differences {(with limited

exceptions) arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting
purposes.
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Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary difierences, carryforward of unused tax assets and
unused tax losses {with limited exceptions). The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 1s reviewed at each balance sheet
date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Conversely, previously unrecognized deferred tax assets are recognized to
the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can
be made. When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognized for a provision is the present value, at the
balance sheet date, of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount, arising from the passage of time, is included in net borrowing costs in the profit and
loss statement.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Impairment of assets

An assessment is made at each balance sheet date of whether there is any indication of impairment of assets including
property and equipment, certain investments, geodwill and other long-lived assets, or whether there is any indication
that an impairment loss previously recognized for an asset in prior years may no longer exist or may have decreased. if
any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is calcufated as the
higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

An impairment loss is recognized only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is charged to the profit and loss statement in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, then the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued
asset.

A previously recognized impairment loss of all assets other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of the asset. However, this is lim.ted and will not give rise to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined {net of any depreciation/amartization), had
no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years, A

A reversal of an impairment loss is credited to the profit and loss statement in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance
with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Accounting for acquisition and disposal

) Results
The results of subsidiary or associated companies acquired or disposed of are accounted for from or to the effective
date of acquisition or disposal.

() Fair value adjustments
On the acquisition of a subsidiary company or an interest in an associated company, the acquisition cost is
allocated to the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.

(M)  Goodwil!
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group's share of the fair values of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired as at the date of acquisition. Following initial
recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortized but
reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired and its amount will be written down for impairment v/hen it is considered
necessary. A previously recognized impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed.
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Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’ identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of the acquisition, after reassessment, is recognized immediately in the consolidated profit
and loss statement.

In the case of associated companies, goodwill is included in the carrying amount thereof, rather than as a
separately identified asset on the consalidated balance sheet.

{m) Foreign currencies

(1 Functional and presentational currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The Financial Statements
are presented in the currency of United States dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

() Transactions and balances
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognized in the profit and loss statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined.

(M} Group companies
The results and financial position of all the group entities {none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(it  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

(il income and expenses for each profit and loss statement are translated at average exchange rates; and

(i}  all resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate component of equity. On consolidation,
exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings
and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to equity. When a
foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognized in the profit and loss statement as part of
the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwilt and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign entity and are translated at the closing rate.

(V) Cash flow statement
For the purpose of consclidated cash flow, the cash flows of overseas subsidiary companies and jointly-controlled
entities are translated into United States dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries and jointly-cantrolled entities which arise throughout the
year are translated into United States dollars at average exchange rates of the year.

{n) Turnover and revenue recognition
Turnover represents the amounts received and receivable from the sale of goods and properties and the rendering of
services to third parties, falling within the ordinary activities of the Group's businesses. Turngver from sales is recognized
when the ownership of goods sold has been transferred to the buyer. Turnover from services is recognized when it can
be measured reliably by reference to stages of completion for the rendering of the said services.

Dividend income is recognized when the Group’s right to receive payment has been established. fnterest income is
recognized on as it accrues taking into account the principal amount outstanding and the effective interest rate,
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Segmental information

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing certain products or services
{business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic ervironment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as weil as those
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to that segment. They are determined before intragroup balances and
intragroup transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation process.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire segment assets that are expected to be
used for more than one year. Head Office and other items mainly comprise Head Office assets, borrowings and
overheads.

Leases

Leases, where substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of assets remain with the lessor, are accounted for
as operating feases. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases are recorded in the profit and
loss statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land premiums for land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently
recognized as expenses on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalized at the
present value of the minimum lease payments and recarded together with the obligation, excluding the interest element,
to reflect the purchase and financing. Finance lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and
reduction of the lease liabflity s0 as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. A
finance lease gives rise to a depreciation expense for the asset as well as a borrowing cost for each period. Finance
charges are charged directly to current operations. The depreciation policy for leased assets is consistent with that for
depreciable assets that are owned.

Employee benefits

{f  Pension obligations
The Group operates defined contribution and def:ned benefit retirement schemes.

Contributions to defined contribution schemes by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of the
employees' basic salaries. The Group’s contributions to defined contribution schemes are expensed as incurred and
are reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the schemes prior to the contributions
vesting fully.

Contributions to defined benefit schemes are determined based on the value of the retirement scheme assets and
estimates of the effects of future events on the actuarial present value of accrued pension abligations, and are
determined on the basis of actuarial valuations using the projected unit credit method. The costs of defined benefit
schemes are charged against profit on a systematic basis so as to be spread over the expected remaining service
lives of the employees affected. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized immediately in the profit and loss
statement as and when they occur.

(i) Long service payments
Certain of the Group’s employees are eligible for long service payments in the event of the termination of their
employment. A provision is recognized in respect of the probable future long service payments expected to be
made. The provision is the best estimate of the probable future payments that have been earned by the employees
from their service to the Group at the balance sheet date.

(i}  Equity-settled transactions
The cost of equity-setiled iransactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the share
options at the date at which they are granted. Fair value is determined using an opt-on pricing made!. In valuing
equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the
price of the relevant shares {market conditions).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the refevant employees
become fully entitled to the award (vesting date). The cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled
transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and the number of awards that will ultimately vest, based on the best available estimate.

72 First Pacific Company Limited  Annual Report 2006




Notes to the Financial Statements

No expense is recagnized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional
upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irespective of whether or not the market condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settied award are modified, an expense, as a minimum, is recognized as if the terms
had not been modified. An expense is recognized for any increase in the value of the transactions as a result of the
modification, as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognized for the award is recognized immediately. However, if & new award is substituted for
the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new
awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

(V) Cash-settled transactions
The Group’s associated companies grant share appreciation rights (SARs}) to eligible key executives and advisors,
and recognize the services received and the liability to pay for those services, as the eligible key executives and
advisors render services during the vesting period. The liability is measured, initially and at each reporting date until
settled, at the fair value of the SARs, by applying an option valuation model, taking inte account the terms and
conditions on which the SARs were granted, and the extent to which the eligible key executives and advisors have
rendered service to date. Until settled, any changes in fair value at each reporting date will be recognized in the
profit and loss statement.

{V) Paid leave carried forward
The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under their employment contracts on a calendar year basis.
Under certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as at the balance sheet date is permitted to be
carried forward and utilized by the respective employees in the following year. An accrual is made at the balance
sheet date for the expected future cost of such paid leave earned during the year by the employees and carried
forward.

{r) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. Other costs include
exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings. Exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings are
included in borrowing costs to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.

Borrowing costs are expensed in the profit and loss statement in the year in which they are incurred, except to the extent
that they are capitalized as being directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to prepare for its intended use or sale.

{s) Financial assets and financial liabilities

The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated balance sheet when the Group becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument and derecognizes a financial asset when the Group no longer
controls the contractual rights to the cash flows that comprise the financial instrument which is normally the case when
the instrument is sold, or all the cash flows attributable to the instrument have already expired or are passed through to
an independent third party. A financia! liability (or a part of a financial liability} is derecognized when the obligation is
extinguished. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, where allowed
and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at the balance sheet date. In the case of a regular way purchase or safe of
financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as applicable, are done using trading date accounting, which means, the
accounting based on the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. .

Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” are classified as

| financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and
available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Loan
and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active

| market. Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held to
maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Available-for-sale financial assets are
non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity securities that are designated as available for sale or are not
classified in any of the other three categories.
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A financial asset or financial liability can be designated as a financial asset or financial liability a1 fair value through profit
or loss only upon its initial recognition: The Group may use this designaticn only in the case of a contract containing one
or more embedded derivatives {as described betow) or when doing so results in more relevant information, because
either

{i) it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition incansistency tnat would otherwise arise from
measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses on them on different bases; or

(it agroup of financial assets, financial liabilities or both are managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair
value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the
group is provided internally on that basis to the Group's key management personrel.

For a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, the Group may designate the entire hybrid (combined)
contract as a financial asset or financial liability at fair value through prafit or loss unless:

(i) the embedded derivative(s) does not significantly madify the cash flows that otherwise would be required by the
contract; ar

(i) itis clear with little or no analysis when a similar hybrid (combined) instrument is first considered that separation of
the embedded derivative(s) is prohibited, such as a prepayment option embedded in a loan that permits that holder
to prepay the loan for approximately its amortized cost,

Financial assets or financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value, Transaction coss are included in the initial
measurement of all financial assets and fiabilities, except for financial instruments measured at fair value through profit
or loss. Fair value is determined by reference to the transaction price or other market prices. If such market prices are not
reliably determinable, the fair value of the consideration s estimated as the sum of all future cash payments or receipts,
discounted using the prevailing market rates of interest for similar instruments with similar maturities.

After initial recognition, the following financial assets and liabilities are measured at amartized cost using the effective
interest rate method: (i} loans and receivables; (i) held-to-maturity investments; and (jii) financial liabilities other than
liabilities measured at fair values through profit or loss, whereas available-for-sale assets are measured at fair value with
gains or losses being recognized as a separate component of equity until the investment is derecognized or until the
investment is determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is
included in the profit and loss statement. Amortized cost is calcufated taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction costs. Amortized cost
for held-to-maturity investments is computed as the amount initially recognized minus principal repayments, plus or
minus the cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between the initially recognized
amount and the maturity amount.

Investments in unquoted equity securities and derivatives linked thereon are measured at cost.

Amortization of discounts and premiums is taken directly to the consolidated profit and loss statement. Changes in the
fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at {air value of (i) all derivatives (except for those eligible for hedge
accounting); (ii} other items intended to be actively traded; and (iii) any item designated as held “at fair value through
profit or loss” at origination, are taken directly to the profit and loss statement, Changes n the fair value of available-for-
sale financial assets are recognized in equity, except for the foreign exchange fluctuations on available-for-sale debt
securities and the interest component which is taken directly to net profit or toss for the period based on the asset’s
effective yield.

Financial assets and liabilities include financial instruments which may be a primary instrument, such as receivables,
payables and equity securities, or a derivative instrument, such as financial options, futures and forwards, interest rate
swaps and currency swaps.

Financial instruments are classified as a financial liability or a financial asset or an equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangement. Financial instruments that contain both liability and equity elements are
classified separately as financial liabilities, or equity instruments. Interest, dividends, gains 2nd losses relating to a
financial instrument or a component that is a financial liability, are reported as expense or income. Distributions o
holders of financial instruments classified as equity are charged directly to equity. Financial instruments are offset when
the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset and the Group intends to settle either on a net basis or to realize the
asset and settle the liability simultanecusly.
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The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired.

() Assets carried at amortized cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments
carried at amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate {i.e., the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through the use
of an allowance account. The amount of the impairment loss is recognized in the profit and loss statement.

Iif, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
t0 an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment foss is reversed.
Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the profit and loss statement, 10 the extent that the
carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date.

{l)  Assets carried at cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at falr
value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are
not reversed.

(i)  Available-for-sale financial assets
If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comgrising the difference between its cost (net of any principal
payment and amortization) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognized in the profit
and loss statement, is transferred from equity to the profit and loss statement. Impairment losses on equity
instrumenits classified as available for sale are not reversed through the profit and loss statement.

Derivative instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as long-term cusrency swaps, foreign currency options, interest rate
swaps and forward currency contracts to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency and interest rate fluctuatiors.
Such derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value,

The criteria for a derivative instrument to be classified as a hedge include: (i) the hedge transaction is expected to be
highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk, {ii) the effectiveness of
the hedge can be reliably measured, (iii) there is adequate documentation of the hedging relationships at the inception
of the hedge, and (iv) for cash flow hedges, the forecast transaction that is subject of the hedge must be highly probable
and must present an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect profit or loss.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as either fair value hedges where they hedge the expasure to
changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or liabitity and firm commitment; or cash flow hedges where they hedge
exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or
liability or a forecasted transaction.

In relation to fair value hedges which meet the conditions for special hedge accounting, any gain or toss from
remeasuring the hedging instrument at fair value is recognized immediately in the profit and loss statement. Any gain or
{oss on the hedged item aitributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged item and
recognized in the profit and loss statement.

In relation to cash flow hedges, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an
effective hedge is recognized directly in equity and the ineffective portion is recognized in the consolidated profit or loss
staternent. The gains or losses that are accumulated in equity are transferred to the profit and loss statement in the same
period in which the hedged item affects the profit or loss.

For derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are taken
directly to the profit and loss statement.
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Dividends
Final dividends proposed by the Directors are recognized as a liability when they have been approved by the shareholders
and declared in an annual general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and bye-laws grant
the Directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Conseguertly, interim dividends are recognized immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared,

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

{I}  directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party (i} controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (i) has an interest in the Group that gives it sign-ficant influence over the Group;
or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

()  the party is an associate;

{1 the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(V) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Groug;

(V)  the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in {I) or (IV);

(Vi) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced oy or for which significant
voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (IV) of (V); or

(VIl} the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Graup, or of any entity that is a
related party of the Group.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets held for sale represent assets having carrying amounts which will be recovered principally through a
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset must be available for immediate
sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets and its sale
must be highly probable. Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair
values less costs to sell.

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates

(A} Judgments
In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, which have significant effect on the amounts recognized in the Financial Statements;

(a)

(b)

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

The Group determines the classification of certain of assets and liabilities as financial assets and financial liabilities by
judging whether they meet the definition of financial assets and financial liabilities set out in HKAS 39. Accordingly, the
financial assets and financial liabilities are accounted for in accordance with the Group's accounting policies set out in
Nate 2{D}s}.

Designation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group designated 1.1 per cent interest in PLDT acquired during 2006 as financial asses at fair value through profit
or loss to partially offset against the exposure arising from changes in the fair value of the option element embedded in
Head Office’s Exchangeable Notes. Please refer to Note 2{B) and Note 16 for details.

76 First Pacific Company Limited  Annual Repart 2006




tZWAHES 10 LNE I"INANCcial Siaucdmonis

{(B) Estimation Uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the fuiure and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.

(a) Estimating useful lives and residual values of property and equipment

The Group estimates the useful lives and residual values of its property and equipment based on the period over which
the assets are expected 10 be available for use. The estimated useful lives and residual values of the property and
equipment are reviewed annually and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear
and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the assets. In addition, the Group’s
estimation of the useful lives and residual values of its property and equipment is based on its collective assessment of
industry practice, internal technical evaluation and experience with similar assets. It is possible, however, that future
results of operations could be materially affected by changes in those estimates brought about by changes in factors
mentioned above. The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be affected by changes in these
factors and circumstances. A reduction in the estimated useful lives and residual values of the Group's property and
equipment would increase its recorded depreciation expenses and decrease its non-current assets.

{b) Assets impairment
Hong Kong GAAP requires that an impairment review be performed when certain impairment indication is present. In
case of goodwill, such assets are subject to yearly impairment test and whenever there is an indication that such assets
may be impaired.

Purchase accounting requires extensive use of accounting estimates to allocate the purchase price to the fair market
values of the assets and liabilities purchased, including intangible assets and contingent liabilities. The Group’s business
acquisitions have resulted in goodwill, which is subject to a periodic impairment test.

Determining the fair value of property and equipment at the date of acquisition of business, which requires the
determination of future cash flows expected to be generated from the continued use (i.e., value in use) and ultimate
disposition of such assets, reguires the Group to make estimates and assumptions that can materially affect its
consolidated financial statements. Future events could cause the Group to conclude that property and equipment
associated with an acquired business is impaired. Any resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse impact on
its financial condition and results of operations.

The preparation of estimated future cash flows involves significant estimations. While the Group believes that its
assumplions are approgriate and reasonable, significant changes in its assumptions may materially affect its assessment
of recoverable values and may fead to future additional impairment charges under Hong Kong GAAP.

{c) Deferred tax assets

The Group reviews the carrying amounts at each balance sheet date and reduces deferred tax assets to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be
utilized. However, there is no assurance that the Group will generate sufficient taxable profit to allow all or part of its
recognized deferred tax assets to be utilized.

{d) Financial assets and liabilities
Hong Kong GAAP reguires that the Group carries certain of its financial assets and liabilities at fair value, which requires
extensive use of accounting estimates, While significant components of fair value measurement were determined using
verifiable objective evidence {i.e., foreign exchange rates and interest rates}, the amount of changes in fair value would
differ if the Group utilized different valuation methodclogies. Any changes in fair value of these financial assets and
liabilities would affect directly the Group’'s consolidated profit and loss and equity.
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Estimating atlowances for doubtful accounts

The Group estimates the allowance for doubtful accounts related to its trade receivables based on two methods. The
amounts calculated using each of these methods are combined to determine the total amount it provides. First, the
Group evaluates specific accounts where it has infarmation that certain customers are unable to meet their financial
obligations. In these cases, the Group uses judgment, based on the best available facts and circumstances, including but
not limited to, the length of its relationship with the customer and the customer’s current credit status based on third
party credit reports and known market factors, to record specific provisions for customers against amounts due to reduce
its receivable amounts that the Group expects to collect. These specific provisions are re-evaluated and adjusted as
additional information received affects the amounts estimated. Secand, a provision is established as a certain percentage
of age of status of receivables. This percentage is based on a collective assessment of historical collection, write-off,
experience and changes in its customer payment terms.

The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would differ if the Group utilized different estimates. An
increase in the Group's allowance for doubtful accounts would increase its recorded operating expenses and decrease its
assets.

Estimating allowances for inventories

The Group estimates the allowance for inventories based on the best available facts and circumstances, including but not
limited to, the inventories’ own conditions (i.e. whether they are damaged or bacome wholly or partially obsolete), their
rnarket selling prices, estimated costs of completion and estimated costs to be incurred for their sale. The provisions are
re-evaluated and adjusted as additional information received affects the amount estimated.

Pension and other retirement benefits

The determination of the Group’s obligation and cost for defined benefits is dependent 02 its selection of certain
assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts. Those assumptions include among others, discount rates,
expected returns on plan assets, rates of salary and pension increase and average remaining working lives of employees,
In accordance with Hong Kong GAAP, actuat results that differ from the Group’s assumptions are recognized
immediately in the profit and loss statement as and when they occur. While the Group believes that the actuaries’
assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in the Group's actual experience or significant
changes in the Group’s assumptions may materially affect its pension and other retirement obligations.

Measurement of fair value of plantations

Hong Kong GAAP requires that the Group carries its plantations at fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs, which
requires extensive use of accounting estimates. Significant components of fair value measurement were determined
using assumptions including average life of plantations, yield per hectare, plantation area and discount rates. The
amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Group utilized different assumptions, Any changes in fair value of
these plantations would affect directly the Group’s profit and loss and equity.

Derivative liabilities

Hong Kong GAAP requires that the Group carries its option embedded in the Exchangeabla Nates issued at fair value,
which requires extensive use of accounting estimates. Significant components of fair value measurement were
determined using assumptions incfuding the trading price of the Exchangeable Notes and expected volatility of the
underlying PLDT share price, and the average market interest rate. The amount of changes in fair value would differ if
the Group utilized different assumptions. Any changes in fair value of the option element embedded in the
Exchangeable Notes would affect directly the Group's profit and toss and equity.

Equity-settled share option expense

Hong Keng GAAP requires that the Group measures its share options at fair value at the date at which they are granted,
which requires extensive use of accounting estimates. Significant components of fair value measurement were
determined using assumptions including expected volatility and dividend yield and average risk-free interest rate. The
amount of fair value determined at the date of which the options are granted would differ if the Group utilized different
assumptions. Any changes in fair value of the share options determined at the date of which they are granted would
affect directly the Group’s profit and loss in subsequent periods when these fair values are recognized as expenses over
the share options’ vesting period.
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4. Turnover and Segmental Information

Us$ milhons 2006 2005
Turnover

Sale of goods and properties 2,440.3 1,946.3
Rendering of services 345 39.8

Total 2,474.8 1,986.1

Segmental Information R

Segmental information, relating to the Group’s business and geographical segments, is analyzed as follows. Analysis by business
segment is the Group's primary segment reporting format as this is more relevant to the Group when making operational and
financial decisions. Details of the Group's principal investments are provided on the inside back cover.

8y Principal Business Activity — 2006

Telecom- Consumer  Property and Head

Us$ millions munications Food Products Transportation Office

Profit and Loss

Segment revenue — turnover - 2,3985 76.3 - 24748
Segment results - 265.5 (16.1) 7.3 256.7
Net borrowing costs {106.4)
Share of profits less losses of associated companies 143.0 (0.4) 0.4 - 143.0
Profit before taxation 293.3
Taxation {71.6}
Profit for the year 221.7

Assets and Liabilities

Segment assets - 1,940.7 174.0 1709 2,285.6
Associated companies 459.8 2.6 8.6 - 471.0
Unallocated assets 127.3
Total assets 2,883.9
Segment liabilities - 277.8 56.9 1741 508.8
Unallocated liabilities 1.342.3
Total liabilities 1,851.1
Other Information

Capital expenditure - 386 5.6 2.1 46.3
Depreciation - 62.9 4.1 0.2 67.2
Foreign exchange and derivative losses, net - - 0.7 59.4 60.1
Impairment losses recognized - 6.4 10.8 1.1 28.3
Other non-cash expenses - 1.6 7.7 141 234
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By Principal Geographical Market — 2006

|

The ' | Head
Us$ millions PhiMppines Indonesia Cthers Cffice
Segment revenue - turnovar 76.3 2,3985 - - 2,474.8
Segment assets 174.0 1,407 - 1709 2,285.6
Associated companies 465.1 2.6 3.3 - 471.0
Unallocated assets 127.3
Total assets 2,883.9
Capital expenditure ) 5.6 386 - 2.1 46.3

By Principal Business Activity - 2005

Telecom- Consumer  Proparty and " Head

Us$ millions munications  Food Products  Transportation Office

Profit and Loss

Segment revenue - turnover - 1,923.4 62.7 - 1,986.1

Segment results - 164.8 288 {58.6) 135.0

Net borrowing costs -{107.3)
Share of profits less losses of associated companies 141.8 {4.2) 0.1 - 137.7

Profit before taxation 165.4

Taxation ’ (26.6)
Profit for the year ' 1388

Assets and Liabilities

Segment assets - 1,573.8 116.4 199.7 1,894.9

Associated companies 364.4 3.5 13.8 - 381.7

Unaltocated assets 70.5

Total assets 2,3471

Segment liabilities - 2736 56.9 95.4 4259

Unallocated liabilities 1,214.%

Total liabilities 1,640.4

Other Information

Capital expenditure - 504 6.2 - 56.6

Depreciation - 57.4 5.2 - 62.6

Foreign exchange and derivative lusses, net - 16.6 - 254 42.0

Other non-cash expenses - 2.1 27 1.5 16.3
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By Principal Geographical Market — 2005

INotes to the Financial Statements

The
uUss milhons Phiippines Indenesia Others
Segment revenue — turnover 62.7 1,923.4 - - 1,986.1
Segment assets 116.4 1,578.8 - 199.7 1,894.9
Associated companies 363.9 3.5 14.3 - 381.7
Unatlocated assets 70.5
Total assets 2,347.1
Capital expenditure 6.2 50.4 - - 56.6
5. Net Borrowing Costs

Us$ millions 2006 2005
Bank loans and other loans

— Wholly repayable within five years 1146 113.0

- Not wholly repayable within five years 9.4 22
Total Borrowing Costs 1240 115.2
Less interest income (17.6) (7.9)
Net Borrowing Costs 106.4 107.3
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6. Profit Before Taxation

US% millions Notes i 2006 2005

Profit Before Taxation is Stated after (Charging)/Crediting

Cost of inventories sold {1,480.8) (1,182.1})
Employees’ remuneration ’ 35(A) (237.2) (198.6)
Depreciation 1 (67.2) {62.6)
Foreign exchange and derivative losses, net 8 (49.7) (42.0)
Cost of services rendered (35.2) (52.7)
Impairment {included in other operating expenses, net)

- Associated companies (19.2) -

- Goodwill 18 (6.4) -

— Property and equipment 1 2.7) -
Operating lease rentals

- Land and buildings (18.0) (11.8)

— Hire of plant and equipment (0.8) {0.8)
Restructuning provision (11.1) -
Doubtful debt provisions {included in distribution costs) 9.3) (4.8)
Loss on sate of property and eguipment (3.3) {0.7)
Recognition of prepaid land premiums 19 (2.5) 4.2)
Auditors’ remuneration

— Audit services (1.8) (1.2)

— Other services (0.8) {0.6)
Loss on changes in fair value of non-current assets held for sale (0.6) -
Gainf{loss} on divestment and dilution of interest in an associated company 96.9 (6.3)
Gain on changes in fair value of plantations 12 53.4 12.3
Gain on disposal of subsidiary companies 33(D) 7.1 -
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2.2 -
Realized gain on sale of available-for-sale assets 22 © 56
Dividend income from available-for-sale assets 0.1 1.0
Excess aver the cost of a business combination recognized

as income {included in other operating expenses, net) 33(C) - 2.7

7. Taxation
No Hong Kong profits tax {2005: Nil) has been provided as the Group had no estimated assessable profits {2005: Nil) in Hong Kong
for the year. Taxation on assessable profits generated outside Hong Kong has been provided at the rates of taxation prevailing in the
countries in which the Company’s subsidiary companies operate.

Us$ millions . | 2006 2005

Subsidiary Companies - Overseas

Current taxation (Note 27) 52.5 28.9
Deferred taxation (Note 21) 19.1 (2.3}
Total 71.6 26.6

Included within the share of profits less losses of associated companies is the taxation of U5$24.3 million (2005: US$19.2 million)
and which is analyzed as follows,

USS millions 2006 2005

Associated Companies — Overseas

Current taxation 44,1 385
Deferred taxation (19.8) (19.3)
Total : ) 24.3 19.2
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A reconciliation between profit before taxation multiplied by the applicable tax rates and the taxation amount as shown in the
consolidated profit and loss statement is as follows.

Us$ millions

Profit Before Taxation 293.3 165.4

Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated at

the rates applicable to profits in the tax jurisdictions concerned 112.6 384 737 44.6
Tax effect of:

- Non-deductible expenses 258 8.8 27 1.6

— Share of profits less losses of associated companies (58.3) (19.9) {51.8) {31.3)

— Income not subject to tax (15.0) (5.1 (0.1) (0.1)

- Others 6.5 2.2 21 1.3
Taxation 71.6 24.4 26.6 16.1

8. Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent

The profit attributable to equity holders of the parent includes US$51.5 million {2005: US$18.5 million) of net foreign exchange and
derivative losses, which comprise US$82.7 million {2005: US$18.5 million} of losses on the changes in the fair values of derivatives
and translation of the unhedged foreign currency denominated borrowings, partly offset by a U$$31.2 million (2005: Nil) gain on
changes in the fair value of 1.1 per cent PLDT shares acquired by the Group in 2006 and designated as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, and US$66.1 million (2005: US$14.1 million) of net non-recurring gains.

Analysis of Foreign Exchange and Derivative Losses
Us$ mithons 2006 2005

Foreign exchange and derivative (losses)/gains

- Subsidiary companies (Note 6) (49.7) (42.0}

- Associated companies 7.4 19.0
Subtotal {42.3} {23.0)
Attributable to taxation and minority interest (9.2) 45
Total {51.5) {18.5)

The non-recurring gains of US$66.1 million for 2006 mainly comprise a gain on divestment of the Group’s interest in PLDT of
Us$58.2 million on settlement of certain Head Office's Exchangeable Notes with PLDT shares and a gain on dilution upon the
conversion of PLDT's convertible preference shares of US$38.7 million, partly offset by impairment provisions for certain of the
Group’s assets. The non-recurring gains of US$14.1 million for 2005 mainly comprise PLDT's net non-recurring itemns {which
represent recognition of Piltel's deferred tax assets less accelerated depreciation on the fixed line network due to Next Generation
Network upgrade) of U5$9.8 million, goodwill compensation received by tndofood in connection with the establishment of a joint
venture entity of US$4.8 million, Metro Pacific’s adjustments made to amounts owed to Pacific Plaza Towers contractor, partly offset
by a loss on dilution of the Group’s interest in PLDT of U5$6.3 million.

Included within the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for the year ended 31 December 2006 is a profit of US$32.8
million {2005; US$350.8 million) attributable to the Company.
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9. Ordinary Share Dividends

U.S. cent per ordinary share' Uss$ million
2006 2005 2006
Interim 0.13 0.13 4.1 4.1
Special 0.12 - 3.9 -
Proposed final 0.45 0.26 144 8.2
Total 0.70 0.39 22.4 12.3

In connection with the listing and subsequent share placement (refer to Note 39{A)) carried out by Indofood Agri Resources Ltd.
{IndoAgri), a subsidiary company of indofood, in early 2007, the Company was required, under Practice Note 15 {PN15) of the
Listing Rules, to subscribe and distribute a certain number of new trdoAgri shares to its shareholders. For the purpose of meeting
the requirement of PN15, the Company subscribed for 5,070,000 IndoAgri shares which represented 1.5 per cent of the total
number of the placement shares and declared a special dividend, payable to shareholders by way of a distribution in specie on the
basis of three IndoAgri shares for every 2,000 ordinary shares of the Company held by them. Each qualified sharehalder holding
2,000 ordinary shares or more of the Company might elect to receive cash in lieu of the distributable IndoAgri shares as calculated
by making reference to the IndoAgri placement price of 1.25 Singapore dollars (U.S. 81.67 cents o1 HK$6.37) per share. The special
dividend was distributed to the shareholders on 28 March 2007.

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming AGM.

10. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent

The calculation of basic earnings per share amount is based on the profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent of
US$164.5 million (2005: US$103.0 million), and the weighted average number of 3,193.0 million {2005: 3,186.7 million) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on: (i} the profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent of
Us$164.5 million {2005: US$103.0 million) recuced by U$30.3 million (2005: US3$0.9 million) in respect of the dilutive impact from
the exercise of share options issued by its associate PLOT and nil (2005: US$0.3 million} in respect of the Company's option of
increasing its interest in its associate Level Up, and (i) a share base equal to the aggregate of the weighted average number of
3,193.0 million {2005: 3,186.7 million} ordinary shares in issue during the year (as used in the basic earnings per share calculation}
and the weighted average of 49.1 million (2005: 28.4 million) ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on
the deemed exercise of all share options of the Company during the year.

The impact upon full conversion of the Head Office’s Exchangeable Notes, MPIC's warrants and the outstanding share option of

Level Up has not been taken into account in calculating the diluted earnings per share because theii anti-dilutive effect on the basic
earnings per share for the year would actually increase the earnings per share.
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11. Property and Equipment

Notes to the Financial Statements

Machinery,

Land and equipmeant
US$ miltions buildings and vessels Consolidated
Cost
At 1 January 2006 246.0 765.9 1,011.9
Exchange translation 233 646 87.9
Additions 15.6 30.7 46.3
Acquisition of subsidiary companies (Note 33(C)) 1.5 93.5 95.0
Disposal of subsidiary companies {Note 33(D)) (5.6} (55.6) {61.2)
Disposals 0.7 {18.0) {18.7)
Reclassification® - {28.1) {28.1)
At 31 December 2006 280.1 853.0 1,1331
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment
At 1 January 2006 63.0 326.0 389.0
Exchange translation 56 6.8 324
Charge for the year (Note 6) 12.8 54.4 67.2
Impairment (Note 6) - 2.7 2.7
Disposals (0.6) {10.1) (10.7)
Disposal of subsidiary companies (Note 33(D}} (4.3) (36.3) (40.6)
Reclassification® - (23.7) (23.7)
At 31 December 2006 76.5 339.8 416.3
Net Book Amount at 31 December 2006 203.6 513.2 716.8

(i) To Non-current assets held for sale

Machinery,

Land and equipment
Us$ mullions buildings and vessels Consolidated
Cost
At 1 January 2005 2404 768.1 1,008.5
Exchange translation (8.1) (30.4) (38.5)
Additions 17.0 39.6 56.6
Acquisition of subsidiary companies (Note 33(C)) 2.7 - 2.7
Disposals (6.0) (15.0) (21.0)
Reclassification - 3.6 3.6
At 31 December 2005 246.0 765.9 1,011.9
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment
At 1 January 2005 54.6 306.5 361.1
Exchange translation (1.9} (9.4) (11.3)
Charge for the year {Note 6) 1.0 51.6 62.6
Disposals (0.7} (12.5) (13.2)
Redlassification - (10.2) (10.2)
At 31 December 2005 63.0 326.0 389.0
Net Book Amount at 31 December 2005 183.0 4399 6229
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(A} The principal annual rates of depreciation:

Freehold land Nil
Freehold buildings 2.5% to 20.0%
Leasehold buildings Lesser of period of lease, or 2.5% to 20.0%
Machinery, equipment and vessels 2.5% to 50.0%

(B) The land and buildings are freehold and leasehold properties held outside Hong Kong.
{C) Property and equipment with a net book amount of U5$34.7 million (2005: US$29.4 million) were pledged as security for
certain of the Group's banking facilities (Note 26(C)).

12. Plantations
Consolidated

Us$ millions 2006

At 1 lanuary 169.0 147.4

Exchange translation 18.7 (8.8)
Additions 7.5 -
Acquisition of subsidiary companies {(Note 33{C})) 26.4 18.1

Gain arising from changes in fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs, net (Note 6} 53.4 12.3

At 31 December 275.0 169.0

The physical measurement of oil palm and rubber plantations at 31 December is as follows.

Consolidated

Hectares 2006
Qil palm
— Mature plantations 59,235 58,064
- Immature plantations 7,665 3,344
Rubber
- Mature plantations 5015 5,015
Total 71,915 66,423

(A) The Group's plantations mainly represent palm trees and rubber trees owned by Indofood. The palm trees are planted for the
production of fresh fruit bunches (FFB), which are used in the production of crude palm oil {CPQ) and palm kernel oil (PKO).
The rubber trees are planted for the production of rubber. The fair value of plantations was determined by reference to the
projected selling prices of CPO, PKO and rubber in the market. Significant assumptions made in determining the fair value of
the plantations are:

{a) No new planting/re-planting activities are assumed.

{b) The palm trees have an average life of 25 years, with the first three years as immature and the foliowing 22 years as
mature or productive under a well established planting system. The rubber trees have an average life of 25 years,

(€) The yield per hectare of palm trees is based on guidelines from the Centre for Palm Tree Research in Indonesia which
varies with the average age of palm trees. The yield per hectare of rubber trees is based on estimation made by
Indefood's agronomists,

(d} The discount rates of 17.4 per cent (2005: 20.5 per cent) and 17.0 per cent (2005: 20.% per cent), which represent the

respective asset specific rates for indofood's palm trees and rubber trees plantation operations, were applied in the
discounted cash flow calculations.
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During 2006, Indofood’s palm trees produced 1.3 million tens (2005: 1.3 million tons) of FFB and rubber trees produced 4.1
thousand tons (2005 4.4 thousand tans) of rubber. The fair value of FFB and rubber harvested during 2006, determined at
the point of harvest, amounted to US$102.5 million (2005: US$91.3 million) and U5$3.6 million {2005: U$33.3 miltion),
respectively.

Plantations with a net book amount of US$6.4 million (2005: Nil) were pledged as security for certain of the Group’s banking
facilities (Note 26(C)).

13. Subsidiary Companies

Company
US$ millions 2006
Unlisted shares at cost . 1,184.7 1,115.2
Less provision for impairment loss (400.5) (368.4)
Total 784.2 746.8

The Company’s listed subsidiary companies are held through the intermediate holding companies.

{A)

(B)

@

The amounts due from subsidiary companies are unsecured, interest-bearing at a range of zero per cent to 8.3 per cent per
annum (2005: zero per cent to 7.0 per cent per annum) and not repayable within one year. The carrying value of the
Company’s amounts dug from subsidiary companies approximates to its fair vatue.

The amounts due to subsidiary companies are unsecured, interest-bearing at a range of zero per cent to 8.4 per cent per
annum {2005; zero per cent to 8.4 per cent per annum} and not repayable within one year. The carrying value of the
Company’s amounts due to subsidiary companies approximates to its fair value.

Details of the principal subsidiary companies which, in the opinion of the Directors, materially affect the results or net assets of
the Group, are set out on the inside back cover.

14; Associated Companies

Consolidated

US$ millions 2006

Shares at cost

- Listed 1,335.8 1,324.6
- Unlisted ) 47.3 441

Share of post acquisition reserves (Note 30) (909.6) (987.7)

Loans {from}/to associated companies {2.5) 0.7

Total 471.0 381.7

(A) At 31 December 2006, both the listed and unlisted investments were located cutside Hong Kong.

(B) At 31 December 2006, the market valuation of listed investments was US$2,310.9 million (2005: U$$1,495.4 million} and the
net dividends received during 2006 were US$62.5 million {2005: US$38.9 million).

(C) The loans from/to associated companies are unsecured, interest-bearing at a range of zero per cent to 20.5 per cent per
annum (2005: zero per cent to 20.5 per cent per annum) and have no fixed terms of repayment. The carrying amount of the
loans from/to associated companies approximates to its fair value.

D)

Details of the Group’s principal associated companies which, in the opinion of the Directors, matenially affect the results or net
assets of the Group, are set out on the inside back cover. .
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(£)  Additional financial information in respect of the Group's principal associated company, PLD™, as prepared under Hong Kong
GAAP, is set out below. '

LS$ millions

Operating Results

Turnaver 2,446.2 2,201.3

Profit before taxation 1,182.3 790.4

Profit after taxation 912.1 788.3

Profit for the year 616.6 580.9

Net Assets

Current assets 8759 952.4

Non-current assets 4,115.3 3,793.9

Total Assets 4,991.2 4,746.3

Current liabilities (1,127.9) (1,067.5)
Non-current liabilities and provisions (1,892.1) (2,369.3)
Total Liabilities {3.020.0) (3,436.8)
Minority interest {31.8) {21.9)
Net Assets at 31 December 1,939.4 1,287.6

(F)  PLDT was incorporated under the laws of the Philippines on 28 November 1928 to provide telephone services in the
Philippines, PLDT's charter was initially limited to & period of 50 years but has since been extended twice for 25 years each, the
last extension being for an additional 25-year period ending 2028. Under its amended charter which became effective on
24 August 1991, PLDT is authorized to provide virtually every type of telecommunication service, both within the Philippines
and between the Philippines and other countries. PLDT operates under the jurisdiction of the Fhilippine National
Telecommunications Cammission which jurisdiction extends, among other things, to approving major services offered by PLDT
and certain rates charged by PLDT.

(G} The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of Prime Media Holdings, Inc. because the share of losses of
this associated company fully eroded the Group's investment. The amounts of the Group’s unrecognized share of losses of this
associated company for the current year and cumulatively were US$0.1 million {2005: Nil) and U5$8.0 million {2005: US$7.9
million), respectively.

BB First Pacific Company Limited  Annual Report 2006




Notes to the Financial Statements

15. Jointly-controlled Entities

The following table illustrates the summarized financial information of the Group's jointly-controlled entities.

Consolidated

US$ millions 2006

16

17

-

Share of the Jointly-controlled Entities’ Results

Turnover -
Loss before taxation (1.2}
Loss after taxation (1.2)
Loss for the year (1.2)

Share of the Jointly-controlled Entities’ Assets and Liabilities

Current assets 61.7
Total Assets 61.7
Current liabilities (1.8)
Total Liabilities (1.8)
Net Assets at 31 December 59.9

The Group's jointly-controlled entities principally represent DMCI-MPIC Water Cémpany Inc., a 50.0 per cent owned joint venture
company of MPIC, set up for the purpose of bidding for an 84.0 per cent interest in Maynilad Water. Please refer to Note 39{B) for
details. It is the Group's policy in adopting proportionate consolidation in accounting for the financial results and financial position
of the jointly-controfled entities.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss

The amount represents the fair value, determined based on a quoted market price, of 1.1 per cent interest in PLDT acquired by the
Group during the year and designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss to partially offset against the exposure
arising from changes in the fair value of the option element embedded in the Head Office’s Exchangeable Notes. The Directors
consider that such a designation is appropriate since the change in value of such assets will have a strong correlation with any
change in the fair value of the option embedded in the Exchangeable Notes.

Accounts Receivable, Other Receivables and Prepayments

Consolidated

Ust millions 2006

Trade receivables 173.1 173.3
Other receivables 74.5 107.9
Prepayments 27.8 17.2
Total 275.4 298.4
Presented As:

Non-current Portion 15.9 11.7
Current Portion 259.5 286.7
Total 275.4 298.4
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The carrying amount of the current portion of accounts receivable, other receivables and prepayments approximates to its fair value.
The fair value of the non-current portion of accounts receivables, other receivables and prepayments 1s US$19.0 million

{2005: US$9.8 million) which is determined based on cash flows discounted using a weighted average prevailing interest rate of

7.0 per cent (2005: 13.4 per cent). The weighted average effective interest rate of the non-current portion of accounts receivable,
other receivables and prepayments is 11.6 per cent (2005: 13.4 per cend).

The ageing profile of the trade receivables is analyzed as below.

Consolidated

US$ millions 2006

18

0 to 30 days 148.4 148.%
31 to 60 days . 48 88
61 to 90 days 28 6.0
Over 90 days 17.1 10.0
Total o, ) 1731 173.3

As the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no concentration of credit risk.

Indofood allows export customers 60 days of credit and local customers an average of 30 days of credit. MPIC collects contract
receivables related to property sales by installments over periods ranging between one and five years.

Accounts receivable with a net book amount of US$3.9 million (2005: Nil) were pledged as security for certain of the Group’s
banking facilities (Note 26(C)).

Goodwill

Consolidated

Us$ milhons 2006

At 1 January 32.7 36.5

Exchange transiation 1.2 (1.7}
Acquisition of subsidiary companies {Note 33(C)} 7.3 4.4

Impairment {Note 6) - (6.4) -

Reclassification - (6.5)
Net Book Amount at 31 December 34.8 327

{A} Goodwill is allocated to the Group's cash-generating units identified according to the business and geographical segments. All
of the goodwill amounts at 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2005 relate t¢ Indofood's businesses which contribute to
the Group’s consumer food products business segment located in Indonesia.

{(B) The recoverable amounts of Indofood's businesses have been determined based on a value in use calcutation using cash flow
projections based on financial projections approved by Indofeod's senior management covering a five-year period. The
discount rates applied to cash flow projections range from 12.9 per cent to 14.9 per cent (2005: 15.3 per cent to
18.3 per cent).

90 First Pacific Company Limited  Annual Report 2006




NOLES L0 LNe Flhancial slawcimceils

19. Prepaid Land Premiums

Consolidated

Us$ mihans 2006

At 1 lanuary 37.3 455

Exchange transtation 4.2 (4.0)
Additions 1.5 -

Acquisition of subsidiary companies (Note 33(C)) 1.9 -
Recagnized during the year (Note 6) (2.5) (4.2)
Total Prepaid Land Premiums 48.4 373

Current portion included in accounts receivable, other receivables and prepaymenis {2.6) (2.8)
At 31 December 45.8 345

Consolidated

US$ millions 2006

Overseas, Held On:

Leases of between 10 and 50 years. 4.5 323
Leases of less than 10 years 39 5.0
Total ' 48.4 373

20. Available-for-sale Assets

Consolidated

USS milhons 2006

Listed investments, at fair value: .
- Equity investments — Overseas 101.6 475
— Debentures with a fixed interest of 14.0% (2005: 14.0%)}
and a maturity date of 1 October 2014

(2005: 1 October 2014) - Overseas 0.5 0.5
Unlisted investment, at cost less impairment provisions:
- Equity investment - Overseas 38 6.1
Unlisted investment, at fair value:
- Club debentures - Hong Kong 1.1 1.0
Total 107.0 55.1

Presented As:

Non-current Portion 4.9 2.7
Current Portion 102.1 52.4
Total 107.0 55.1

(A} The fair values of the listed equity investments and debentures are based on guoted market prices. The fair values of the
unlisted investment in club debentures have been estimated by reference to recent market transaction prices. The Directors
believe that the estimated fair values by reference to market prices, which are recorded in the carrying amounts of the
available-for-sale assets, and the related changes in fair values, which are recorded directly in the Group’s equity, are
reasonable, and that they are the most appropriate values at the balance sheet date.

(B) Unlisted equity investrments with a carrying amount of US$0.4 million {2005: U5$3.2 million) were pledged to secure certain of
the Group’s banking facilities {Note 26(C)).

First Pacfic Company Limited ~ Annual Report 2006 91



21. Deferred Tax

The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as follows.

Tax loss
carned
Us$ milhons forward

Allowance
for doubtful

dccounts

QOthers

Consolidated

Deferred Tax Assets

At 1 January 2006 4.2 1.2 10.0 15.4
Exchange translation 03 0.3 1.0 1.4
Acquisition of subsidiary companies {Note 33(C)} 0.3 - 1.0 1.3
(Charged)/credited to the profit and loss statement (Note 7) (2.4) 0.9) 4.7 1.4
Transfer from provision for taxation {(Note 27) - - 0.8 0.8
At 31 December 2006 24 0.4 17.5 203

Tax loss
carried
Ust millions forward

Allowance
for doubtful

accounts

Others

Consohdatied

Deferred Tax Assets

At 1 January 2005 3.7 09 1.2 5.8
Exchange translation (0.2} - _ ©.2)
Acquisition of subsidiary companies (Note 33(C)) 0.1 - 1.2 13
Credited to the profit and loss statement {Note 7) 0.6 0.3 6.1 7.0
Transfer to provision for taxation (Note 27) - - (1.1} (1.1)
Reclassification - - 26 2.6
At 31 December 2005 4.2 1.2 10.0 154

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as follows.

Allowance
In excess
of related

depreciation of
property and
Us$ rmilions eguipmeny

Deferred Tax Liabilities

Changes in
fair value of
plantations

Wilhholding!
tax on,
undistributed
earmings of
subsidiary and
associated
Companies

Others

Consolidated

At 1 January 2006 {79.0} (40.1) 1.7 6.7 {114.1)
Exchange translation (3.8) (3.8} - 1.3 (6.3)
Acquisition of subsidiary companies (Note 33(C)) (15.3) - - {9.5) (24.8)
Disposal of subsidiary comnpanies {Note 33{D)) - - - 49 49

Creditec/{charged) to the profit and loss statement (Note 7) 4.9 (16.7) (4.3) (4.4} (20.5)
Transfer {from)to provisien for taxation (Note 27) (3.4) - 1.7 {0.8) (2.5)
At 31 December 2006 (96.6) (60.6) 4.3) (1.8) (163.3)
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Withholding
Allowance fax on
In excess undstnibuted

of related earnings of
depreciation of Changes i subsichary and
property and fair value of assoclated
Us$ millions equipment planiations Companias Others Consoldated

22.

Deferred Tax Liabilities

At 1 lanuary 2005 {78.5) (38.4) @an 9.2 {111.8)
Exchange translation 43 2.1 - 15 7.9

Acquisition of subsidiary companies (Note 33(C)) - - - (3.7} (3.7
{Charged)/credited to the profit and loss statement (Note 7) (4.8) {3.8) 1.0 29 @an
Transfer toA{from} provision for taxation (Note 27) ) - - 1.4 (0.6) 0.8

Reclassification - - - (2.6) (2.6)
At 31 December 2005 (79.0) (40.1) .7 6.7 (114.1)

At 31 December 2006, tax losses available to reduce future income tax, arising in the entities to which they relate, amounted to
US$37.0 million (2005: US$55.0 million) in respect of non-Hong Keng tax losses, and US$39.1 million (2005: US339.1 million} in
respect of Hong Kong tax losses. The nan-Hong Kong tax lasses are available for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose for three to five years, whereas Hong Kong tax losses are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. No deferred tax assets have been recognized in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiary companies that have been loss-making for some time. Except for this, deferred tax
assets have been properly recognized.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

Other Non-current Assets
Consolidated

Us$ milions 2006

Assets not yet used in operation 44.0 36.4
Claims for tax refund 29.8 422
Deferred charges 7.0 221
Advances and deposits for purchases 0.3 4.2
Others 25.4 258
Total 106.5 130.8

The assets not yet used in operation mainly represents prepayments for the acquisition of certain of Indofood’s properties.

The claims for tax refund relates to the tax payment in advance made by Indofood in respect of wheat importation which is
creditable against Indofood’s corporate income tax payable.

The deferred charges mainly represent deferred costs and expenses relating to Indofood’s systems implementation.

The advances and deposits for purchases mainly relate to Indofood's payments made to suppliers and contractors in relation to the
purchase of raw materials and capital equipment.
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23. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Us$ millions

Consolidated

2006

Company
2006

Cash at banks and in hand 204.9 133.2 - 264
Short-term time deposits 122.8 162.8 62.4 162.8
Total 327.7 296.0 62.4 189.2

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between five days and one month depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short-term time deposit rates. The carrying amount of the cash and cash equivalents approximates to its fair value.

24. Inventories
Consolidated

Usg millions 2006

Raw materials 2161 177.2
Work in progress 59 5.6
Finished goods 107.8 91.0
Properties held for sale 37.6 292
Total 3674 303.0

Appronmate gross

(A} The principal properties held by MPIC group for sale, included in properties held for sale, at 31 December 2006 are as follows:

The Group's Estimated

economic development area completion

Location Interest(%) (sg.m.)" Staﬁus date
Costa de Madera, San Juan 59.5 3,720,000 R, Ro Planning -
Tiaong, Quezon 29.3 3,226,873 R Ro,F C Planning -
Batulao, Batangas 95.9 2,107,050 R Planning -
Calasiac, Pangasinan 393 1,550,000 R Planning -
Lemery, Batangas 489 1,465,024 F Completed -
Calatagan, Batangas 29.3 981,598 Ro, C Under construction 2010
Nasugbu, Batangas (Terrazas) 17.6 897,440 RO Under construction 2009
Nasugbu, Batangas (Punta Fuego) 26.9 455,238 Ro Under construction 2008
silang, Cavite 19.1 366,627 F Under construction 2008
Cabanatuan, Nueva Ecija (Lakewood) 171 346,737 R Completed ~
San Pablo, Laguna 293 338,435 R Under construction 2011
Talisay, Cebu 63.9 332,000 R Completed -
Davao/Zamhboanga/llocilo 29.3 311,200 MP Under construction 2014
San Pedro, Laguna 245 297,986 R Under construction 2010
Baliuag, Bulacan (Waterwood 1) 324 264,574 R Completed -
Cabanatuan, Nueva Ecifa {Courtyard) 338 228,831 R Undar construction 2010
Urdaneta, Pangasinan 5.2 141,182 R Und2r construction 2008
Cagayan de Oro 205 120,000 MP Under construction 2010
Muntinlupa City 391 97,000 R Planning -
Baliuag, Bulacan (Waterwood 2) 35.2 88,335 R Under construction 2010
Lucena City, Quezon 79.6 40,076 R Corr pleted -
Nasugbu, Batangas {Amara) 293 29,933 Ro Undar construction 2008
Baliuag, Bulacan (Waterwood 3) 48.9 17,382 R Under construction 2010
Bajada, Davao 48.9 13,326 c Completed -
Legaspi City, Albay 24.0 11,022 C Under construction 2008

R = Residential Ro = Resort, F = Leisure Farms, C = Commercial, MP = Memorial Park
(i) The total area for sale as subdivisions and land designated for parks and open spaces

(B) At 31 December 2006, the inventories with a carrying amount of US$8.7 million (2005: US$12 6 million} were pledged as
security for certain of the Group’s banking facilities (Note 26(C)).
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25. Accounts Payable, Other Payables and Accruals

US$ millions

MNotes to the Financial Slatements

Consolidated
2006

Trade payables 135.1 172.7
Accrued expenses 795 448
Other payables 85.9 61.1
Total 3005 278.6

The ageing profile of the trade payables is analyzed as follows:

Consolidated

Us$ millions 2006

0 to 30 days 129.0 160.8
31 to 60 days 0.4 1.7
61 to 90 days 0.7 1.3
Over 90 days 5.0 8.9
Total 135.1 172.7

All of the accounts payable, other payables and accruals are expected to be settled within one year. The carrying amount of the
Group's accounts payable, other payables and accruals approximates to its fair value.

26. Borrowings
Consolidated
Us$ milhons Effective interest rate (%) Matunty 2006
Short-term
Bank loans 5.9 - 15.3(2005: 8.9 - 18.0} 2007 505.5 2213
Other loans 2.5-13.5(2005: 2.5 - 13.5) 2007 34 123.7
Subtotal 508.9 345.0
L(;ng-term :
Bank loans 7.6—15.3(2005: 8.0 - 18.0) 2008 - 2013 (A} 241.7 57.9
Other loans 7.8 -15.0(2005: 2.5-13.5) 2008 - 2010 (B) 399.3 686.3
Subtotal 647.0 744.2
Total 1,155.9 1,085.2

The balance of the short-term borrowings includes US$150.3 million (2005: US$124.0 million) of the current portion of long-term

borrowings.

During 2006, CAB Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary company of the Company redeemed all of its outstanding secured
bonds with a face value of US$108.0 million and Indofood repaid all of its Eurobonds with a face value of U5$153.7 million.
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The maturity profile of the Group’s borrowings is as follows:

Bank loans Other i‘oans Consolidated

Us$ millions 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
Not exceeding one year 505.5 221.3 3.4 123.7 508.9 345.0
More than one year but not exceeding two years 88.0 0.5 135.6 151.8 223.6 152.3
More than two years but not exceeding five years 57.1 1.7 262.4 516.9 3195 5186
More than five years 102.6 55.7 1.3 17.6 1039 733
Total 753.2 279.2 402.7 8100 1,155.9 1,089.2
Representing amounts repayable

— Wholly within five years 650.6 223.5 401.4 792.4  1,052.0 1,015.9

- Not wholly within five years 102.6 85.7 1.3 17.6 103.9 733
Total 753.2 279.2 402.7 810.6 1,155.9 1,089.2

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

Consolidated

Us$ milhons 2006

Rupiah 642.3 5428
U.S. dollar 459.1 501.7
Peso 50.6 447
Others 39 -
Total 1,155.9 1,089.2

An analysis of the carrying amounts of the borrowings into fixed and variable interest rates is as follows:

Consolidated

US$ mullions 2006

Fixed interest rate 441.4 703.4
Variable interest rate 7145 385.8
Total 1,155.9 1,089.2

The carrying amounts and fair values of the long-term borrowings are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
Us$ mullions 2006 2005 2006
8ank loans 247.7 57.9 249.3 60.6
Other loans 399.3 686.3 508.3 7241
Total 647.0 744.2 757.6 784.7

The fair values are based on published price quotations for listed notes and bonds issued by the Group and projected cash flows
discounted using the borrowing rates ranging from 7.9 per cent to 15.3 per cent (2005: 8,0 per cent to 12.5 per ¢ent) for the other
fixed interest rate borrowings. The carrying amounts of the Group’s variable interest rate borrowings approximate to their fair values

due to frequent repricing.

The carrying amounts of the short-term borrowings approximate to their fair values.
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(A)

(B)

(Q

(D)

Notes to the Financial Statements

Details of the borrowings are set out below:

Long-term Bank Loans

The balance includes U$$148.3 miltion {(with an aggregate face value of US$149.9 million) of bank loans (2005: U5349.3
million) borrowed by various wholly-owned subsidiary companies of the Company with details summarized as follows:

{a) A US$49.4 million (with a face value of US$50.0 million) of bank loan {2005: US$49.3 million} drawn in November 2005
secured by the Group's 1.7 per cent interest in PLDT, subject to a variable LIBOR {London inter-bank Offer Rates) based
interest rate, which is repayable in November 2012.

(b} A WUS%49.4 million {(with a face value of U5$50.0 million) of bank loan {2005: Nit} secured by the Group’s 1.5 per cent
interest in PLDT, subject to a variable LIBOR based interest rate, which is repayable in July 2011.

(0 A 1US3$49.5 million {with a face value of US$49.9 million) of bank loan (2005: Nil) secured by the Group's 1.1 per cent
interest in PLDT, subject to a variable LIBOR based interest rate, which is repayable in November 2013,

Long-term Other Loans

The balance principally includes US$153.1 million {with a face value of US$146.3 million) of Exchangeable Notes (2005
US$193.1 million with a face value of US$199.0 million) issued by First Pacific Finance Limited (FPF), a wholly-owned subsidiary
company of the Company, and two series of bonds issued by tndofood.

(a) Details of the Exchangeable Notes issued by FPF are summarized as follows:

On 18 January 2005, the Company issued US$199.0 million five-year zero coupon Exchangeabte Notes through FPF. The
Exchangeable Notes are unsecured obligations of FPF and are unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by the
Company, The Exchangeable Notes with a face amount of U$$52.7 million were corwerted during 2006, leaving an .
outstanding principal amount of US$146.3 million.

The Exchangeable Notes have a yield to maturity of 5,625 per cent per annurm. Unless previously redeemed, exchanged,
or purchased and cancelled, FPF will redeem the Exchangeable Notes at 131.97 per cent of their principal amount on
18 January 2010. The noteholders have the option to put the Exchangeable Notes to FPF at 118.11 per cent of their
principal amount on the third anniversary of the Exchangeable Notes.

The Exchangeable Notes carry an initial conversion premium of 21 per cent, which translates the conversion price into
US$29.33 per PLDT share. Assuming a full exchange of the Exchangeable Notes, the Exchangeable Notes will be
exchangeable into approximately 2.7 per cent of the total common shares issued by PLDT, which has been set aside in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Exchangeable Notes.

{b) Details of the bonds issued by Indofood are summarized as follows:
{)  Rupiah 1.2 trillion {with a face value of U5$136.0 million) of Rupiah bonds {which represents the original amount
issued in June 2003 of Rupiah 1.5 trillion (US$166.3 million) less repurchase of the bonds with a face value of
Rupiah 0.3 trillion (US$30.3 million) during 2005) (2005: US$123.4 million}, with a coupon rate of 13.5 per cent,
are payable quarterly, and mature in June 2008; and

{l)  Rupiah 1.0 trillion (with a face value of US$108.2 million} of Rupiah bonds {which represents the original amount
issued in july 2004 of Rupiah 1.0 trillion {U5$110.9 million} less repurchase of the bonds with a face value of
Rupiah 24 billion (US$2.7 million} during 2005) (2005: US$98.8 million), with a coupon rate of 12.5 per cent, are
payable quarterly, and mature in july 2009.

Charges on Group Assets

At 31 December 2006, the total borrowings include secured bank and other borrowings of US$193.9 million {2005: US$187.5
million). Such bank and other borrowings were secured by the Group's property and equipment, plantations, available-for-sale
assets, accounts receivables, pledged deposits and inventories equating to a net book value of US$84.1 million {2005:
US$45.2 miflion) and the Group's interast of 4.3 per cent (2005: 1.7 per cent) in PLDT.

Bank Covenants

The Group has complied with ali of its bank covenants, except for those related to Metro Pacific. Since the fourth quarter of
2001, Metro Pacific has been unable to meet its debt obligations. At 31 December 2006, Metro Pacific had Pesos 485 million
(U339.9 million) outstanding debt obligations. Metro Pacific has reached agreements with certain of its creditors for the
settlement of some of the debt obligations and anticipates to reduce the outstanding debt obligations to less than

Pesos 200 million (US$4.1 million} during 2007.
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27. Provision for Taxation

Consolidated

US$ millions 2006
At 1 January 11.2 26.2
Exchange transfation 1.2 {1.2)
Acquisition of subsidiary companies {Note 33(C)} 0.3 -
Disposal of subsidiary companies (Note 33(D)} {0.1) -
Provision for taxation on estimated assessable profits for the year {Note 7) 52.5 289
Transfer to deferred tax (Note 21) 1.7 {0.3)
Total 63.4 53.6
Tax paid (40.3) (42.4)
At 31 December 231 11.2
28. Deferred Liabilities and Provisions
Deferred Long-term Consolidated
US$ millions Pension mcome  payables 1 Qthers 2006 2005
At 1 January 51.2 26.0 14.5 16.3 108.0 125.2
Exchange translation 44 0.2 13 0.2 6.1 (0.5)
Additions 8.7 - 1.0 12.8 22.5 309
Acquisition of subsidiary companies {Note 33{C)} 0.2 - - - 0.2 -
Disposal of subsidiary companies (Note 33{(D) (1.5) - - (0.3) {1.8) -
Payment and utilization (0.2) (3.8) (7.0) (15.3) (26.3) {27.8)
Reclassification - - - - - {19.8)
At 31 December 62.8 22.4 9.8 13.7 108.7 108.0
Presented As:
Current Portion - 1.3 1.6 13.7 16.6 15.3
Non-current Portion 62.8 211 8.2 - 92.1 92.7
Total 62.8 224 9.8 13.7 108.7 108.0

The pension relates to accrued liabilities in relation to retirement schemes and tong service payments.

The deferred income relates to an upfront service fee received by Asia Link B.V. (ALBV), a wholly-owed subsidiary company of the
Company, from Smart Communications, Inc. {Smart), a wholly-owned subsidiary company of PLDT, in respect of their arrangement
for service agreement (Note 37())). '

The long-term payables mainly relate to MPIC's estimated liabilities for property development and Indofood's accrued costs for
dismantlement, removal or restoration in relation to property and equipment.

The others mainly relate to a restructuring provision and provisions for warranty claims. The restructuring provision relates to the
restructuring of the Group’s shareholding structure in PLDT. The amount of the provision for the rest-ucturing is estimated based on
the anticipated transaction costs required to complete the restructuring. The estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and
revised as appropriate.
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29,

Notes to the Financial Statements

Share Capital

Consolidated

and Company

30

US$ milhons 2005
Authorized
5,000,000,000 {2005: 5,000,000,000) ordinary shares of U.5. 1 cent each 50.0 50.0

Issued and fully paid
At 1 January 31.9 319
Issue of shares upon the exercise of share options 0.1 -

At 31 December
3,204,793,003 (2005: 3,188,833,003) ordinary shares of U.5. 1 cent each 32.0 319

During the year, 15,960,000 share options were exercised at an exercise price of HK$1.76 per share, resulting in the issue of
15,960,000 new ordinary shares of U.S. 1 cent each for a total cash consideration of HK$28.1 million (U5$3.6 million). Details of
the Company’s share option scheme are set out in Note 36(D)(a} to the Financial Statements.

Other Reserves

An analysis of the Group’s exchange reserve, by principal operating company, is set out below:

Consolidated

Us$ miihons 2006

PLDT (44.7) (29.3)
Indofood (2.6) (25.0)
Others 4.6 3.4
Total (42.7) (50.9)

An analysis of the accumulated reserves of the asseciated companies, included within the consolidated reserves, is set out below:

Consolidated

US3 millions 2006

Revenue reserve (858.2) (962.4)
Exchange reserve (44.8) (29.3}
Unrealized {losses)/gains on cash flow hedges (6.6) 4.0
Total (Note 14) (909.6) (987.7}

The contributed surplus of the Company arose from the reorganization of the Group in 1988 and represents the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company and the aggregate net asset value of the subsidiary companies
acquired at the date of acquisition. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the Company may make distributions
to its shareholders out of the contributed surplus provided certain conditions are met. '
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31. Minority Interest

An analysis of the Group’s minority interest, by principal operating company, is set out below;

Consolidated

Us$ milhons ' 2006

indofood 420.2 296.1
MPIC/Metro Pacific 29.9 278
Total 450.1 3239

32. Derivative Liability

The derivative liability represents the fair value of the option embedded in the Exchangeable Notes issued by FPF. Details regarding
the issue of the Exchangeable Notes are set out in Note 26(BXa).

The exchangeable option of the Exchangeable Notes qualified as an embedded derivative under MKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement”. Upon initial recognition, the fair value of the option of U5$13.9 million is identified and accounted
for separately from the fair value of the bond instrument. The fair value of the option liability was remeasured to U5$99.6 million
(2005: LUS$39.3 million) on a mark-to-market basis at 31 December 2006. The increase during the year primarily reflects an increase
in PLDT share price, partly offset by an amount realized upon partial settlement of the Exchangeable Notes.

33. Notes to the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

(A) Acquisition of Assets Designated as Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

The cash outflow of US$73.7 million {2005: Nil) relates principally to the Group’s acquisition of 1.1 per cent interest in PLDT
and designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

(B) Increased Investment in an Associated Company
The cash outflow of US$37.3 million {2005: US$57.3 million) relates to the Group's increased investment in PLDT.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(C) Acquisition of Subsidiary Companies

{arrying amount
immediately before

US$ millions

Consideration

Indotood’s
acquisition
of Pacsan
Pie Lid
(PPL)

Fair value recognized on acquisition

Indofood’s
acquisiion
of PT
Sarana tnt
Pratama
(SAIN}

and its
subsichary
companies

Others

2005
Indofood's
acquisition
of Siiveron

Invesiments
Limited
and 1ts

subsidiary
companies,
#7 Kebun
Mandin
Sejahtera
and others

Total

the acquisition

2006
Total

2005
Total

Cash and cash equivalents 40.5 15 0.2 42.2 9.6
Associated companies - - 06 0.6 -
Accounts receivable, other receivables

and prepayments {Current) ¥ - 14.9 0.6 15.5 16.7
Other non-cursent assets - - 5.2 5.2 -
Total 40.5 16.4 6.6 63.5 26.3
Net Assets
Property and equipment (Note 11) 879 1.5 5.6 95.0 2.7 39.0 21
Plantations (Note 12) - 264 26.4 18.1 3.6 8.2
Accounts receivable, other receivables

and prepayments (Non-current) - 29 - 2.9 - 29 -
Prepaid land premiums {Note 19) - 1.9 - 1.9 - 14 -
Deferred tax assets {Note 21} - 1.0 03 1.3 13 13 1.3
Other non-current assets - 48 1.2 6.0 1.9 5.1 1.4
Cash and cash equivalents 9.1 0.6 0.9 10.6 34 10.6 34
Accounts receivable, other receivables

and prepayments {Current) 0.2 04 42 48 7.2 48 7.2
Inventories 0.1 0.3 1.1 1.5 1.2 1.5 1.2
Accounts payable, other payables

and accruals (5.4) (3.7} (4.6) (13.7) 4.2} {13.7) (4.2}
Short-term borrowings (15.1) - - {15.1) (1.1} (15.1) {1.1}
Provision for taxation (Note 27) - 0.1) (0.2) (0.3) - (0.3) -
Long-term borrowings - (4.2) - (4.2) (1.4) (4.2} (1.4)
Deferred liabilities and provisions (Note 28) - (0.1) (G.1) (0.2) - (0.2} -
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 21) (15.5) (&8.1) (1.2) (24.8) (3.7 - {0.6)
Total Net Assets 61.3 23.6 7.2 92.1 25.4 36.7 18.0
Minority interest (27.9) (7.4} {0.6) {35.9) (0.8)
Total Share of Net Assets Acquired

at Fair Value 334 16.2 6.6 56.2 24.6
Goodwill (Note 18} 7.1 0.2 - 7.3 44
Excess over the Cost of

a Business Combination (Note &) - - - - 2.7}
Tatal 7.1 0.2 - 7.3 1.7
Net (Qutflow)/Inflow of Cash and

Cash Equivalents per the

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (31.4) (0.9) 0.7 (31.6) {6.2)

(i) Mainly represents the deposit paid for the acquisition of SAIN's convertible bonds made by PT Salim lvomas Pratama (SIMP), a subsidiary

company of indofoed, in December 2005

(i)  Represents indofood’s investment in PT Pelayaran Tahta Bahtera’s convertible bonds in November 2005
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(o)

In June 2006, Indofood acquired a 55.0 per cent interest in PPL for US$40.5 million and SIMP completed the acquisition of a
70.0 per cent interest in SAIN for US$16.4 million. PPL engages in shipping operations and SAIN engages in the operations of
oil palm breeding, research management and plantations in Indonesia.

Since the date of acquisitions, the above acquired companies recorded a loss for the year of US$0.7 million, which is included
in the profit and loss of the Group. If all of the above acquisitions had taken place on 1 January 2006, the turnover and profit
for the year of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2006 would have been US$2,506.9 million and U$$223.9 mitlion,
respectively. The subsidiary companies acquired during the year had net cash inflows from operating and investing activities, of
US$2.6 million and US$4.1 miltion, respectively and had a cash outflow of US$11.6 million in respect of financing activities
during the year.

Disposal of Subsidiary Companies

Nenaco and
its subsidiary

(E)

(F)

US$ millions companies

Property and equipment {Note i1) ' 20.6

Qther non-current assets 1.4
Cash and cash equivalents 0.9

Accounts receivable, other receivables and prepayments (Current) 37

Inventories 0.8

Nan-current assets held for sale 6.9

Accounts payable, other payables and accruals (10.6)
Provision for taxation (Note 27) 0.1
Long-term borrowings {23.9)
Deferred liabilities and provisions (Note 28) (1.8)
Deferred tax liabifities (Note 21) (4.9)
Total Net Assets Disposed Of (7.0}
Gain on disposal (Note 6) 7.1

Consideration

Cash and cash equivalents 0.1

Net Cutflow of Cash and Cash Equivalents per the Consolidated Cash Flow Statemer.t (0.8}

Pledged Deposits and Restricted Cash

At 31 December 2006, the Group has US$30.0 million of pledged bank deposits {2005: Nil) and US3$1.3 million (2005: US34.7
million) of cash which was restricted as to use. All of the US$31.3 million (2005: U5$4.7 million) pledged deposits and
restricted cash are expected to be released within one year from 31 December 2006 and required to be classified as current
assets.

The pledged deposits with a net book amount of US$30.0 million (2005: Nil) was pledged as security for certain of the Group's
banking facilities (Note 26(C)).

Major Non-cash Transactions

{a) During the year, the Group settled US$50.1 million of the Head Office’s Exchangeable Notes through the transfer of
0.9 per cent of PLDT shares.

(b) On 16 August 2006, Indofood completed merger between its wholly-owned edible oils and fats subsidiary companies
and SIMP through share swap. Please refer to Note 37(E) for details.

(€  On 8 December 2006, MPIC acquired a 96.6 per cent interest in Metro Pacific through share swap. Please refer to Note
37(H) for details.

The Group has applied merger accounting in accounting for the common control cornbination transactions described in (b)
and (¢) above.
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34. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
(A) Capital Expenditure

Consolidated

US$ millions 2006

Commitments in respect of subsidiary companies:

Authorized, but not contracted for 179.1 15.1
Contracted, but not provided for 4.8 7.5
Total 183.9 226

The Group's capital expenditure commitments principally relate to Indofood’s purchase of property and equipment.

At 31 December 2006, the Company has no commitments in respect of capital expenditure (2005: Nil}.

(B) Leasing Commitments

At 31 December 2006, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases falling due
as follows:

Consolidated

US$ millions 2006

Land and Buildings

— Within one year 5.2 3.5
— Between two and five years inclusive 9.4 9.8
- After five years 36 4.2
Subtotal 18.2 17.5

Plant and Equipment

- Within one year 0.5 0.5
- Between two and five years inclusive . 2.1 1.0
- After five years 0.5 0.2
Subtotal 3.1 1.7
Total 213 19.2

At 31 December 2006, the Company did not have any leasing commitments (2005: Nil).

(C) Contingent Liabilities
At 31 December 2006, neither the Group nor the Company had any significant contingent liabilities (2005: Nil).
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35. Employees’ Benefits

(A) Remuneration

Consolidated

US$ millions 2006

Basic salaries 149.3 121.2
Bonuses 314 23.4
Benefits in kind 35.1 19.5
Pension contributions 8.3 3.4
Retirement and severance allowances 10.1 209
Equity-settled share option expense 3.0 5.2
Total (Note 6) 2372 198.6
Average Number of Employees 48,382 47,881

The above includes the remuneration of the Directors, Detailed disclosures in respect of Directors’ remuneration are set out in
Note 36(A) to the Financial Statements. :

{B} Retirement Benefits

The Group operates both defined contribution and defined benefit schemes covering approsimately 23,744 (2005: 22,001)
employees.

(a) Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates five (2005: six} defined contribution schernes covering approximately 22,907 (2005: 20,686}
employees. The assets of these schemes are held separately from the Group and are administered by independent
trustees. Contributions to the schemes, either by the Group or by the employees, are cetermined by reference to the
employees’ salaries and length of service and range from zero per cent to 10 per cent {2005: zero per cent to

10 per cent), Under the terms of the schemes, the Group cannot be requested to make additional payments over and
above these levels of contributions. In three {2005: three) of the schemes, forfeited contributions may be used to reduce
the existing levels of employer contributions and, in 2006, no amounts {2005: Nil) were used for this purpose. At

31 December 2006, the forfeited contributions had been fully utilized.

{b) Defined benefit schemes

The Grpup operates three (2005: four) defined benefit schemes covering approximately 837 {(2005: 1,315) employees.
The assets of two of these schemes are held separately from the Group and are administered by independent trustees.
Benefits are determined by reference to employees’ final salaries and length of service, and the schemes have undergone
independent valuations. These actuarial valuations, performed by PT Sentra Jasa Aktuaria’s actuary (a member of the
Fellow Society of Actuary of Indonesia and Expert in Life Insurance in Indonesia) and Actuarial Advisers, Inc. and

Mr. Orlando J. Manalang, FASP {members of Actuarial Society of the Philippinas), were based on the projected unit credit
method. The plan assets do not include any financial instruments of the Group or property occupied by, or other assets
used by, the Group. At 31 December 2006, the Group's level of funding in respect of its defined benefit schemes was
64.4 per cent (2005: 45.8 per cent).

()  The amount of deficit under the defined benefit schemes included in the balance sheet is as follows:

Consolidated

Us% midhons 2006

Present value of defined benefit obligations (10.5) (11.0}
Fair value of plan assets 6.8 6.2

Liability in the Balance Sheet (3.7) (4.8)
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{)  The changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations during the year are as follows:

Consotidated

US$ millions 2006

At 1 January . {11.0) (9.0)
Exchange translation (1.6) 0.8

Current service cost (0.9) (0.4)
Past service cost — vested benefits - 0.4)
Past service cost — non-vested benefits 0.9 (1.9)
Interest cost on obligation (1.4) (1.2)
Actuarial gainsf{losses) 0.1 (0.1)
Liabilities extinguished on settlements 0.1 -

Disposal of subsidiary companies 0.5 -

Benefit paid 2.3 1.2

At 31 December (10.5) (11.0)

()  The changes in the fair value of plan assets during the year are as follows:

Consolidated

US$ millions 2006

At 1 January 6.2 6.4
Exchange translation 0.1 (0.7)
Expected return 0.6 a.5
Actuarial losses 0.2 -
Contributions by employer " 2.6 -
Disposal of subsidiary companies (0.2} -
Benefit paid {2.3) -
At 31 December 6.8 6.2

The overall expected rate of return on assets is determined based on the market prices prevailing on that date
applicable to the period over which the obligation is to be settled.

{IV) The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of the total plan assets are as follows:

Consolidated

2006
tndonesian equities 99% 96%
Philippines equities 1% 4%

(V)  Amounts for the current and previous four years are as follows:

Consolidated

us$ midhans 2005 2004

Defined benefit obligation (10.5) {11.0) (3.0} (11.0) (9.5)
Plan assets 6.8 6.2 6.4 6.8 5.1

Deficit (3.7) (4.8) {2.6) (4.2) (4.4}
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities {0.1) 23 - 0.0 - -

Experience adjustments on plan assets - - - - -
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(vl) The amount recognized in the profit and loss statement is anatyzed as follows:

Consolidated

US$ milhons ) 2006

Current service cost 04 0.4

Past service cost (0.9) 2.3

Interest cost on cbligation 1.4 1.2

Expected return on plan assets (0.6) (0.5)
Net actuarial losses recognized in the year 0.1 0.1

Total Included in Employees’ Remuneration {included in Cost of Sales,
Distribution Costs and Administrative Expenses) 0.4 3.5

Actual Return on Plan Assets 10% 8%

(Vil} Principal actuarial assumptions (weighted average) at 31 December are as follows:
1

‘ 2006 2005

. Discount rate 1% 11%
Expected return on plan assets 10% 10%
Future salary increases 7% 7%
Future pension increases 7% 7%
Average remaining working life of employees {years) 7.3 12.0

(VI The Group expects to contribute U5$0.5 million to its defined benefit schemes in 2007,

(C) Loans to Officers
During 2006 and 2005, there were no loans made by the Group to officers which require disclosure pursuant to Section 1618
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

106 First Pacific Company Limited  Anrual Report 2006




AL S PO LI TR IR SRR A TR R

36. Directors’ and Senior Executives’ Remuneration

(A) Directors’ Remuneration
The tables balow show the remuneration of Directors on an individual basis.

Directors’ Remuneration - 2006

Non-performance based Performance  Equity-settled
Qiher Pensien hased  share option
Us$'000 Salanes benefits  contnbutions payments expense fees  Emoluments
Chairman
Anthoni Salim 454 - - - - - - 454
Exacutive Directors
Manuel V. Pangilinan, Managng Dreccor
and Ol Executwe Officer 1,502 89 91 1,455 725 - - 3,866
Edward A. Tortorici 1076 153 1,284 - 729 - - 3242
Robert C. Nicholsen 817 17 2 478 562 - - 1,886
Non-executive Directors
Ambassador Albert F. del Rosario - - - - - 92 - 92
Sutanta Djuhar - - - - - - - -
Tedy Djuhar - - - - - - - -
ibahim Risjad - - - - - - - -
Benny S. Santoso - - - - - - - -
Independent Non-executive Directors
Graham L. Pickles - - - - - 95 - 95
Edward K.Y. Chen, ags, cee. - - - - - 60 - &0
David W.C, Tang, oz, Chevalier de LOrdre
dles At e des Leftres - - - - - 45 77 122
Total 3,85% 268 1377 1,933 2,020 292 71 9,827

Directors’ Remuneration — 2005

Nan-performance based

Performance  Equity-settled

Other Pension based  share opbor
US5°000 Salaries perefits  contrbutions paymenis expense Emoluments
Chairman
Anthoni Salim 435 - - - - - - 435
Executive Directors
Manuel V. Pangtlinan, tanaging birector
and Chef Exacuive Offcer 1,467 210 9 1,008 1,224 - - 4,000
Edward A. Tortorici 900 165 1,164 - 1224 - - 3,483
Robert C. Nicholson 933 2 2 467 841 - - 2,364
Non-executive Directors
Ambassador Albert F. del Rosario - - - - 119 25 - 144
Sutanto Djuhar - - - - - - - -
Tedy Djuhar - - - - - - - -
Ibahim Risjad - - - - - - - -
Benny 5. Santoso - - - - 119 - - 119
tndependent Non-executive Directors
Graham L. Pickles - - - - 19 65 - 184
Edward K.Y, Chen, o85, (8¢, 12 - - - - 119 55 - 174
David W.C. Tang, 08, Chevaler de L'Orre
des At €1 des Lettres - - - - 118 Eii] 17 226
Total 3,735 426 1,257 1,475 3,984 175 77 11,129

() Perfarmance based payments comprise performance bonuses and long-term monetary incentive awards
(i)  For meetings attended
(i) For consultancy services provided to the Company

included in the total Directors’ remuneration is an amount of US$t.1 million (2005: US30.8 million) paid by PLDT, an
associated company, in respect of the services of the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer.
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(B} Senior Executives’ Remuneration
As similar remuneration schemes operate for the senior executives of the Group, their remuneration may exceed those of the
Company’s Directors. Two (2005; Two) senior executives were among the Group's five highest, earning employees. The
remaining three {2005: three) of the five highest earning employees are the Company’s Direcors.
US$ millions 2006 2005

Non-performance based

- Salaries and benefits ' 0.7 0.6
Performance based

- Bonuses and long-term monetary incentive awards 0.3 0.2
Equity-settled share option expense 0.3 0.6
Total 1.3 1.4

The table below shows the remuneration of the two (2005: two) senior executives who were among the Group's five highest
earning employees in 2006.

2005
Remuneration bands Number
US$573,001 - US$637,000 1 -
Us$637,001 - US$701,000 1 1
US$701,001 - US$765,000 - 1
Total 2 2

(C) Key Management Personnel Compensation

Consolidated

US$ millions 2006

Non-performance based

- Salaries and benefits 13.3 1.0

— Pension contributions 15 1.4
Performance based

- Bonuses and long-term monetary incentive awards 5.2 34
Equity-settled share option expense 3.0 5.2
Total 23.0 21.0
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{D} Share Options

Particulars of the share opticns of the Company and its subsidiary company granted to the Directors and senior executives of
the Company and its subsidiary company at 31 December 2006 are set out below.

(a) Particulars of the Company's share option scheme

Ve

Srat Seare Srae Share rae Vg g
optons aphons optigns  options optans durng
Fedd gaed eersed heldat eetw e perede!
i tor3%e goo3te 3 December e i [(23¢] Besare
et e 2005 HES. ‘ R4S, from
Executive Directors
ol ¥ FangToan 31,800,600 - - 31,800,000 1.7 176 - ihre  December Jone My
1004 008 005 ol
Edward A. Tortorid 31,800,000 - {14,120,000) 17,660,000 176 1.76 68 lune  December June May
Pt} 2008 2005 palr}
Robert (. Kichosen 24,500,000 - - 24500000 176 1.76 - Thne  December fane Way
oM 008 005 04
Non-Executive Directors
Ambassedor Albert F. del Rosari 1840, 000 - - L8000 176 1.6 - 1 kine Iune June Hay
) 05 005 04
Benny § Santoso 1840000 - - 1,340,000 1.16 176 - 1 June June hine May
2004 2005 2005 plijts
Independent Hon-Executive Directors
Graham L Pickles 1,840,000 - {1,840.000) 1,000,000 16 176 356-376 1 June June June May
0 2005 2005 04
Eebward K.Y, Chen, g8, cie 1340000 - - 240000 176 1.7% - | fune June June May
1004 W0 005 i
Senior Executives 32,285,000 - - 32,286000 176 176 - 1lune  December luna May
2004 008 2005 bt
- 45000 - 4,500,000 310 5 - Tlme  December fung Ioze
W% Wi 007 W06
Total 1346000 4500000 [15360,000) 120,286,000

At the AGM held on 24 May 2004, ihe Company's shareholders approved a share option scheme (the Scheme) under
which the Directors may, at their discretion, at any time during the period of the Scheme, grant directors and executives
of the Company share options as part of the Company’s long-term incentive program. The Scheme, which complies with
the provisions set out in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, became effective on 24 May 2004. The Scheme will be valid for
ten years and will expire on 23 May 2014,

The maximum number of shares on which options may be granted may not exceed 10 per cent of the Company’s issued
share capital, excluding any shares issued on the exercise of options at any time. The maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme te any one participant in any 12-month period is limited to
one per cent of the aggregate number of shares of the Company in issue at the time of the proposed grant of options to
such participant.

The exercise price in relation to each a share option offer shall be determined by the Directors at their absolute
discretion, but in any event shall not be less than the highest of (i} the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheet of the SEHK on the date of grant; {ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares as
stated in the daily quotation sheets of the SEHK for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; and
{iii) the nominal value of a Company’s share on the date of grant. The terms of the Scheme provide that subject 1o any
other restrictions on vesting imposed by the Directors, share options may be exercised under the Scheme at any time
from the date of acceptance until the date of expiry. All options presently outstanding under the Scheme are subject to
certain restrictions on exercise including a prohibition on exercise at any time during the period commencing one year
after the date on which any option is accepted. Options which lapse or are cancelled prier to their expiry date are
deleted from the register of optiens.
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(b)

On 1 June 2004, 134,586,000 share options under the Company's Scheme were granted. The average fair value of
options granted as calculated by Watson Wyatt Hong Kong Limited, based on the binornial model, was HK$0.849 or an
aggregate value of US$14.6 million for all options granted. The assumptions used were as follows:

Share price at date of grant HK$1.76
Exercise price HK$1.76
Expected volatility (based on historical volatility of the Company's shares commensurate with

the average expected life of the options granted) 55 per cent
Option life 10 years
Expected dividend yield 1 per cent per annum
Average risk-free interest rate (based on the Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes) 4,06 per cent per annum

Taking into account the expected turnover rate of the Directors and senior executives and the early exercise behavior, the
average expected life of the options granted was estimated to be €.61 years. The early exercise behavior assumes that
option holders will exercise the options when the share price is at least 75 per cent higher than the exercise price.

On 1 June 2006, 4,500,000 share options under the Company's Scheme were granted. The average fair value of options
granted as calculated by Watson Wyatt Hong Kong Limited, based on the binomial modef, was HK$1.554 or an
aggregate value of US$0.9 million for all options granted. The assumptions used were as follows:

Share price at date of grant HK$3.25
Exercise price HK$3.275
Expected volatility (based on historical volatility of the Company’s shares commensurate with

the average expected life of the options granted) 50 per cent
Option life 10 years
Expected dividend yield 1 per cent per annum
Average risk-free interest rate (based on the Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes) 4.71 per cent per annum

Taking into account the expected turnover rate of the senior executives and the early exercise behavior, the average
expected life of the options granted was estimated to be 6.79 years. The early exercise behavior assumes that option
holders will exercise the options when the share price is at least 100 per cent higher than the exercise price.

The binomial model, applied for determining of the estimated values of the share options granted under the Company’s
Scheme, was developed for use in estimating the fair value of the traded options that are fully transferable. Such an
option pricing model requires input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility, As the
Company’s share options have characteristics significantly different from those of the traded options, changes in the
subjective input assumptions can materially affect the estimated value of the options granted.

Details of the Group’s accounting policy in respect of share options granted are set out ir Note 2(D)g)ill) to the Financial
Statements.

Particulars of Metro Pacific's share option schemes

Share Share Reduction  Share Share Markel
optians oplions 0 share optians optian prce

ke (crzeed cpLens held at Erercse at date
Hlanuary durng the upcnshare 31 December pree of grant Eiercsable Exetsabe
Wetro Patific 2006 year  consoldation 2006 1Peso) Pesol | Grant date froem UGt

Senior Executives 315,684 (267,643} (45,034} LA 69.2 !

4 TAegas997 Augwst1997  August 2007

(it As aresult of a 20-to-1 share consolidation for Metro Pacific in August 2006
(i} Price adjusted for the 20-to-1 share consolidation mentioned in (i} above

On 13 May 1990, Metro Pacific approved a share option scheme (Old Scheme)} under which Metro Pacific directors may,
at their discretion, invite executives of Metro Pacific upon the regularization of employment of eligible executives, to take
up share options of Metro Pacific to obtain an ownership interest in Metro Pacific and for long-term employment
motivation. The scheme became effective on 15 May 1930. The scheme is valid for an indefinite period of time.
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The maximum number of shares on which options may be granted may not exceed 10 per cent of the issued share
capital of Metro Pacific, excluding any shares issued on the exercise of options at any time. At 31 December 2006, the
number of shares issuable under share options granted under Metro Pacific’s share option scheme was 2,401, which
represents less than 0.01 per cent of Metro Pacific’s shares in issue at that date. The maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the scheme to any one participant (including shares issued and issuable
to him/her under all the options previously granted to himv/her) is limited to 30 per cent of the maximum aggregate
number of shares of Metro Pacific at the time of the proposed grant of options to such participant.

The exetcise price in relation to each option offered shall be determined by Metro Pacific’s directors at their absclute
discretion, but in any event shall not be less than {i} the average of theofficial closing prices of the shares on the
Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE} for the 20 trading days immediately preceding the relevant offer date or (i) the par value
of the shares.

On 12 August 2005, the shareholders of Metro Pacific approved a new share option scheme (New Scheme) under which
Metro Pacific’s directors may, at their discretion, invited executives of Metro Pacific upon the regularization of
employment of eligible executives, 1o take up share options of Metro Pacific to obtain an ownership interest in Metro
Pacific and for the purpose of long-term employment motivation. The New Scheme is valid for ten years and became
effective on 12 August 2005.

The maximum nember of shares on which options may be granted under the New Scheme may not exceed 10 per cent
of the issued share capital of Metro Pacific less the number of optiens outstanding under the Ofd Schemne. Upon the
adoption of the New Scheme, ne furiher share options will be granted under the Old Scheme. The aggregate number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted to any eligible participant {whether
or not already an option holder) in any 12-month period shall not exceed one per cent of the shares in issue at the
relevant time.

The exercise price in relation to each option grant under the New Scheme shall be determined by Metro Pacific directors
at their absolute discretion, but in any event shall not be less than (i} the closing price of the Metro Pacific’s shares for
one or more board lots of such Metro Pacific’s shares on the PSE on the option grant date; (i) the average closing price
of the Metro Pacific’s shares for one or more board lots of such Metro Pacific shares on the PSE for the five business days
immediately preceding the option grant date; or (jii} the par value of the Metro Pacific shares, whichever is higher.

No share options have been granted or exercised during the year in respect of Metro Pacific’s share option schemes.

37. Related Party Transactions

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year are disclosed as follows:

() The Company and certain of its group companies signed a Cooperation Agreement on 31 January 2006 with PLDT, NTT
DoCoMo, Inc. and NTT Communications, Inc. which governs the shareholding arrangements and other business
arrangements, including the rollout and development of 3G services in the Philippines, between the parties.

{8) In April 2006, a campany in which the Company has 100 per cent econormic interest converted its Pesos 450 million (US$8.6
million) investment in Metro Pacific’s preferrad shares into common shares at Peso 1 per share, which increased the Group’s
economic interest in Metro Pacific from 75.5 per cent to 76.1 per ¢ent.

(C)  In April 2006, MPIC acquired Metro Pacific’s entire 51.0 per cent interest in Landco, Inc. for a consideration of Pesos 667.7
miflion (US$12.8 million} and a Pesos 137.7 million {US$2.6 million) receivable from Landco, Inc. at its face value. The Group
has applied merger accounting in accounting for this common control combination transaction. In May 2006, MPIC converted
the said receivable from Landco, Inc. into new shares in Landco, Inc., with a pro-rated contribution of Pesos 132.2 million
(US$2.5 million) from AB Holdings, Inc., the 49 per cent sharehalder of Landco, Inc,

{D} In May 2006, Metro Pacific repaid its outstanding liabilities owed to certain wholly-owned subsidiary companies of the
Company totaling Pesos 854 million {US$16.4 million).

(E) On 16 August 2006, Indafood completed a merger between its wholly-owned edible oils and fats subsidiary companies and
SIMP, through the issue of new shares by SIMP to Indofood in exchange for the fu!l ownership of the edible oils and fats
business. As a result, Indofood's effective interest in the merged SIMP increased to approximately 84 per cent from
80 per cent.
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(F)  On 16 August 2006, SIMP entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with Rasczl Holdings Limited (Rascal), a
company owned by the Chairman of the Company, in relation to the purchase of a 60 per cent interest in several plantation
companies owning approximately 85,500 hectares of plantation land for a consideration of Rupiah 125 billion (US$13.8
million). Completion of the acquisition is conditional upon fulfillment of various conditions precedent. The transaction was
completed on 9 March 2007. Please refer to Note 39(D) and the Corporate Governance Report on page 47 for details.

(G)  In November 2006, Metra Pacific Holdings Inc., a company in which the Company has a 100 per cent economic interest,
advanced US$60.3 million to MPIC for the purpose of financing MPIC's bidding for Maynilad Water.

{H) On 8 December 2006, MPIC issued new shares to 96.6 per cent of the existing shareholders of Metro Pacific {which include
" the Company's subsidiary companies holding an aggregate 76.1 per cent in Metro Pacific) in exchange for those Metro Pacific
shareholders’ ownership in Matro Pacific, As a result, the Group’s economic interest in MPIC reduced to approximately 95.9
per cent from 100 per cent.

{  On 21 December 2006, Metro Pacific sold approximately an 83.7 per cent equity interest in Nenaco {which reduced its interest
in Nenaco from 99.0 per cent to 15,3 per cent) to a company owned by members of Nenaco's management team led by a
former director of Metro Pacific.

() ALBV has a technical assistance agreement with Smart for ALBV to provide Smart with technical support services and
assistance in the operations and maintenance of cellular mobile tetecommunication services for a period of four years from
23 February 2004, subject to renewal upon mutual agreement between the parties. The agreeent provides for quarterly
payments of technical service fees equivalent to one per cent {2005: one per cent) of the consolidated net revenue of Smart.

ALBY also has an existing service agreement with Smart for a period of 25 years starting on 1 January 1999, which shall
automatically expire unless renewed by mutual agreement of both parties. Under the agreement, ALBV provides advice and
assistance to Smart in sourcing capital equipment and negotiating with international suppliers, arranging international
financing and other services therein consistent with and for the furtherance of the objectives of the sepvices, Service
agreement fees were prepaid for the whole 25-year period.

The total fees under these arrangements amounted to Pesos 591 million (JS$11.6 million) for the year ended 31 December
2006 (2Q05: Pesos 567 million or U5$10.3 million). At 31 December 2006, ALBY had an outstanding receivable under the
technical assistance agreement amounting to Pesos 128 millicn (US$2.6 million) (2005: Pesos 194 million or US$3.7 million).
At 31 December 2006, the outstanding prepaid management fees amounted to Pesos 869 million {US$17.7 million) (2005:
Pesos 920 million or US$17.3 million).

(K) In the ordinary course of business, Indofood has engaged in trade transactions with certain of its associated and affiliated
companies, the majority of which are related to the Salim Family either through direct and/or common share ownership and
cammaon management. Mr. Anthoni Salim is the Chairman and a substantial shareholder of the Company and is the President
Director and Chief Executive Officer of Indofood.

All significant transactions with related parties, whether or not conducted under normal terms and conditions similar to those
with non-related parties, are disclosed as follows:

Nature of transactions Consolidated

For the year ended 31 December 2006
Us$ milliens

Profit and Loss Items
Sales of finished goods

- to associated companies - 45.9 40.2

- to affiliated companies 36.1 333
Purchases of raw materials

- from associated companies 40.1 259

- from affiliated companies 5.0 5.5
Management and technical services fee income and royalty income

- from associated companies 0.8 0.4

- from affiliated companies 3.7 3.1
Insurance expenses

- to affiliated companies 3.2 -
Rental expenses

- to affiliated companies 1.3 14
Transportation and pump services expenses

- to affiliated companies 0.5 1.0

Approximately three per cent {2005: four per cent) of Indofood's sales and three per cent (2005; two per cent) of its purchases
were transacted with these related companies.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Nature of balances Consolidated
At 31 Decermber 2006

Ust millions

Balance Sheet Items
Accounts receivable — trade

- from associated companies 1.6 0.1

- from affiliated companies 48 4.8
Accounts receivable — non-trade

- from associated companies - 0.1

— from affiliated companies 7.5 5.9
Accounts payable - trade

- 1o associated companies 4.8 6.4

- to affiliated companies 1.1 1.2

Certain of the above Indofood’s related party transactions also canstitute continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and their details are disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 46 10 50.

{t) Details of compensation of key management personnel of the Group during the year are set out in Note 36(C) to the Financial
Statements.

Financial Risk Management

The Group's principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise bank loans and other interest-bearing loans, and cash
and short-term time deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including principally interest rate swap and foreign exchange contracts. The
purpose is to manage the interest rate and currency risks arising from the Group's operations and its sources of finance,

It is, and has been, throughout the year, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are market risk (including currency risk and price risk), credit risk,
liquidity risk and fair value and cash flow interest rate risk. The Company’s Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarized below. The Group's accounting policies in relation to derivatives are set out
in Note 2{D)(t) to the Financial Statements.

(A) Market Risk
(a) Currency risk

To manage the Group's foreign exchange risk arising from future commercial transactions, recognized assets and
liabilities, and improve investment and c¢ash flow planning. In addition to natural hedges, the Group enters into and
engages in foreign exchange contracts for the purpose of managing its foreign exchange rate exposures emanating from
business, transaction specific, as well as currency translation risks and reducing andfor managing the adverse impact of
changes in foreign exchange rates on the Group's operating results and cash flows. However, the aforementioned
derivative instruments of the Group do not qualify as effective hedges and therefore not designated as cash flow hedges
for accounting purposes in accordance with the provisions of HKAS 39,

(b) Price risk
The Group is exposed to commodity price risk, especially wheat and CPO, which are the raw materials used to
manufacture the Group's products, which depends on the tevel of demand and supply in the market, and the global
economic enwironment. The Group is also exposed to commaodity price risk as changes in fair values of future commodity
contracts used by certain subsidiary companies to manage their exposures on commodity price fluctuations are directly
recognized to the profit and loss statement. Such future commodity contracts also do not qualify as effective hedges and
therefore not designated as cash flow hedges for accounting purposes in accordance with the provisions of HKAS 39.

The Group is also exposed to the changes in the market value of its equity investments.
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(B) Credit Risk
For the consumer focd products business, the Group has credit risk arising from the credit given to the customers, but it has
policies in place 10 ensure that wholesales of products are made to creditworthy customers with an appropriate credit history,
It is the Group’s policy that alt customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. The
Group has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any particular customer, such as requiring sub-distributors to
provide bank guarantee. For the property business, transfers of property title are effected upon full payment of the purchase
price, In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis to reduce the Group's exposure to bad debts.

With respect to credit risk arising from the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, the
Group's exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amount of these instruments,

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.

(C) Liquidity Risk
The Group manages its liquidity profile to be able to finance its capital expenditure and servicz its maturing debts by
maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities.

The Group regularly evaluates its projected and actual cash flow information and continuously assesses conditions in the
financial markets for opportunities to pursue fund-raising initiatives. These initiatives may include bank loans, and debt capital
and equity capital issues.

(D) Fair Value and Cash Flow Interest Rate Risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. At 31 December 2006,
38.2 per cent of the Group’s borrowings were at fixed rates,

The value of the Group’s investments in fixed rate debentures/debt secursities fluctuates as a result of changes in market
interest rates and the changes in their values are recognized in the Group’s equity.

39. Subsequent Events

{A)  ©On 8 January 2007, the Company obtained the approval from its sharehclders to complete the listing of Indofood's oil palm
plantations and edible ails and fats businesses through a reverse takeover of IndoAgn (formerly known as ISG Asia Limited and
CityAxis Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited {(SGX - ST) Dealing and
Automated Quotation System). The reverse takeover was completed on 23 January 2007. A provisional estimaie of the
goodwill that will arise (subject to further assessment of the fair value of share of identified assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed) from the acquisition of IndoAgri amounts 1o approximately US$8 million.

N Upon completion of the reverse takeover, Indofood's 83.8 per cent owned subsidiary, Indofood Singapore Holdings Pte Ltd
{ISHPL), became the majority shareholder of IndoAgri owning a controlling interest of approximately 98.7 per cent of the
enlarged issued share capital of IndoAgri. To comply with the SGX-5T's rutes on shareholding soread and distribution
requirements, IndoAgri carried out a placement of 338.0 million new shares at a price of 1.25 Singapore dollars per share
(which raised gross proceeds of approximately US$270.8 million) in February 2007, The placement shares represent
approximately 25 per cent of the enlarged share capital of IndoAgri after the placement. Following the placement, ISHPLs
effective interest in IndoAgri was diluted from approximately 98.7 per cert to approximately 7.1.0 per cent.

The Group is expected to record a dilution gain of approximately US$50 million in 2007 in respect of IndoAgri's share
placement.
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{B) On 10 January 2007, DMCI-MPIC Water Comgany Inc. (DMCI-MPIC), a 50.0 per cent owned joint venture company of MPIC,
acquired a 84.0 per cent equity interest in Maynilad Water Services, Inc. (Maynilad Water) for a total consideration of
US$25.7 million (accompanied by estimated transaction costs of US$17.6 million and an arbitration cost of US$2.5 million). tn
addition, DMCI-MPIC (i) repaid on behalf of Maynilad Water US$31.0 million of financial assistance previously provided by
Metropolitan Waterworks and Sewerage System (MWSS) to Maynilad Water, {ii) will contribute additional equity to Maynilad
Water for funding its requirement for its capital expenditure and repayment to its existing creditors which amounts to
US$444.7 million over a period of three years and {iii} established a performance bond in an amount of US312.0 million in
respect of Maynilad Water's obligations under the cancession. Maynilad Water holds an exclusive concession, granted by
MWSS on behalf of the Philippine Government, to provide water and sewerage services in the area of West Metro Manila.
Since DMCI-MPIC is a jointly-controlled entity, the Group adopted proportionate consolidation in accounting for the financial
results and financial position of its investment in DMCI-MPIC. The provisional impact of this acquisition on the financial
pasition of the Group based on the existing carrying amounts of Maynilad Water's assets and liabilities (subject to further
assessment of the fair value of share of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumedj is
summarized as follows:

Us$ milliens

50 Per Cent Share of Consideration
Cash and cash equivalents 229

50 Per Cent Share of Net Assets

Property and equipment 62.1
Deferred tax assets 2.3
Other non-current assets 135.8
Cash and cash equivalenis 20.0
Available-for-sale assets (Current) 83
Accounts receivable, other receivables and prepayments (Current) 232
Accounts payable, other payables and accruals (56.5)
Short-term borrowings (13.7)
Long-term borrowings {75.0)
Deferred liabilities and provisions (73.2)
Minority interest (5.3)
Total Share of Net Assets Acquired at Fair Value 28.0
Excess over the Cost of a Business Combination to be Recognized as Income 5.1

(C) ©On 28 February 2007, after obtaining the approval from the Company’s shareholders at a SGM, the Group completed the
acquisition of an approximately 46 per cent additional interest in Philippine Telecommunications lnvestment Caorporation
(PTIC), which represents approximately a 6.4 per cent interest in PLDT, for a total consideration of approximately Pesos 25.2
billion (US$510.6 million). The acquisition was made in the context of a public auction by the Philippine Government of its
approximately 46 per cent interest in PTIC with the Group exerdising the “right to match” the highest bid received in the
auction. PTIC holds PLDT shares representing approximately 13.8 per cent of PLDT's issued common share capital.
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{D)  On 9 March 2007, PT Salim lvomas Pratama, a 64.2 per cent owned subsidiary company of Indofood, completed the
acquisition of a 60 per cent interest in several plantation companies owning approximately 85,500 hectares of plantation land
for a consideration of Rupiah 125 biflion {U$$13.8 million) from Rascal Holdings Limited, a company owned by the Chairman
of the Company. The provisional impact of this acquisition on the financial position of the Group {subject to further
assessment of fair value of the share of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed) is

summarized as follows:

Fair value
recognized

US$ millions on acquisition
|

Consideration

Carrying amount
immediately

before
the acquisition

Cash and cash equivalents 13.8

Net Assets

Property and equipment 3.2 2.6

Plantations 154 1.4

Prepaid land premiums 9.6 1.0

Deferred tax assets 0.2 0.2

Cash and cash equivalents 0.3 0.3

Accounts receivable, other receivables and prepayments (Current) 1.0 1.0

tnventories 0.6 0.6

Accounts payable, other payables and accruals (5.6) (5.6}
Short-term borrowings (0.1} (©.1)
Deferred tax liabilities {4.0) -

Total Net Assets 206 1.4

Minority interest (8.2)

Total Share of Net Assets Acquired at Fair Value 12.4

Goodwill 1.4

40. Approval of the Financial Statements

The Financial Statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors an 11 April 2007,
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Glossary ot lerms

Financial Terms

DEFINED BENEFIT SCHEME A retirement scheme in which the rules specify the benefits to be paid and the scheme is financed
accordingly. Generally, benefits are determined by a formula that takes into account of the number of years of service and the final salary
of each member

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION SCHEME A retirement scheme under which the benefits are directly determined by the value of contributions
paid in respect of each member

EBITDA Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization

IMPAIRMENT PROVISION Provision made to reduce the carrying amount of an asset to its recoverable amount
NAV Net Asset Value

NET ASSETS Total assets less total liabilities, equivalent to total equity

NET CURRENT ASSETS Current assets less current labilities

NET DEBT Total of short-term and long-term borrowings, net of cash and cash equivatents and restricted cash

RECURRING PROFIT Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent excluding foreign exchange and derivative gains/losses and
non-recurring items

Financial Ratios

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent/weighted average number of shares in issue during
the year

CURRENT RATIO Current assets/current liabilities

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent adjusted for the effect of assumed conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares/weighted average number of shares in issue during the year plus the weighted average number of
ordinary shares which would be issued on the assumed conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares

DIVIDEND PAYOUT RATIO Ordinary share dividends paid and recommended/recurring profit

GEARING RATIO Net debt/total equity

INTEREST COVER Profit befare taxation (excluding foreign exchange and derivative gains/losses and non-recurring items) and net
borrowing costs/net borrowing costs

RETURN ON AVERAGE EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT Recurring profit/average equity attributable to
equity holders of the parent

RETURN ON AVERAGE NET ASSETS Profit for the year (excluding foreign exchange and derivative gains/losses and non-recurring items)/
average net assets

-
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Others

ADR American Deposiiary Receipts

AGM Annual General Meeting

DSL Digital Subscriber Line

GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

GSM Global System for Mobile Communications

HKAS Hong Kong Accounting Standards

HKFRS Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

HKICPA Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

IFRIC International financial Reporting Interpretations Committee

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

INT Interpretations

LISTING RULES The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on SERHK
MODEL CODE Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
SEHK The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

SFO Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of Laws of Hong Kong)
SGM Special General Meeting

SMS Short Messaging System
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Information tor Investors

Financial Diary

Annguncement of 2006 results 11 April 2007
Annual report posted to shareholders 30 April 2007
Last day to register for final dividend 17 May 2007
Annual General Meeting 1 June 2007

Payment of final dividend 29 June 2007
Preliminary announcement of

2007 interim results
Interim report posted to shareholders
Financial year-end

Preliminary announcement of 2007 results

29 August 2007*

28 September 2007*
31 December 2007
26 March 2008*

*  Subject to canfirmation
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len-Year Statistical Summary

Results {US$miflions}

Turnover 24748 1,986.1 2,054.6 2,1618 1,892.3 1,851.7 2,209.2 1,671.9 2,894.4 8,308.4
Profit/{loss) for the year 221.7 1388 168.2 134.9 796 (2,192.4) 1204 2363 421.5 401.1
Peofit/floss) attributable to

equity holders of the parent 164.5 103.0 1239 74.3 382 (1,797.7) 51.9 138.2 3BOS . 2120
Recurring profit 149.9 1074 116.8 810 497 46.7 4.7 4.4 40,5 166.2
Ordinary share dividends 224 123 - - - - 17 15.0 138 51.9
Per Ordinary

Share Data (U .5.cents)
Earnings/(loss)

- Basic 5.15 3.23 3.89 2.33 1.21 (57.26) 1.78 5.34 15.21 8.98

- Diluted 5.06 317 N/A N/A N/A NA A 5.32 15.12 8.39

- Basic recurring 4.69 337 367 2.54 1.56 1.49 1.76 1.60 1.7 7.04

- Diluted recurring 4.61 3 N/A N/A N/A NIA, NIA 1.60 1.70 6.99
Dividends 0.70 0.39 - - - 0.26 0.52 0.58 2.19 2N
Equity/(deficit) attributable to

equity holders of the parent 18.18 12.00 714 1.60 (0.81) {4.87) 13.00 22.08 34.45 376
Financial Ratios
Return on average

net assets (%) 25.25 22.53 32.62 27.01 25.04 12.1& 890 5.44 5.25 26.57
Return on average

equity attributable

1o equity holders of

the parent (%} 31.05 35.20 8389 637.87 N/A 36.59 984 5.66 892 102.11
Dividend payout ratio (%) 14.94 11.45 - - - - 14 89 36.26 3414 31.25
Dividend cover (times) 6.69 373 - - - - 672 2.76 .93 3.20
Interest cover {times) n 2.72 294 2.43 2.36 2.61 350 2.96 2.38 365
Current ratio (times) 1.28 1.45 1.43 1.1 1.02 0.82 1.23 0.95 0.90 1.18
Gearing ratio (times)

- Consolidated 0.77 1.12 1.45 212 2.46 2.84 0.76 0.77 0.59 1.52

- Company 0.16 0.11% 0.10 0.12 0.15 0.09 0.10 0.28 0.38 0.80

Consolidated Balance Sheet
Data (US§millions)

Capital expenditure 46.3 56.6 105.1 726 92.7 148.2 2551 3147 3741 887.3
Total assets 28839 23471 2,168.7 2,2135 24695 2,186.4 3,5849.2 8,395.7 76463 11,3863
Net debt 796.9 788.5 854.3 907.7 1,136.7 850.4 1,085.0 1,796.8 1,296.3 2,937.1
Total liabilities 1,851.1 1,6404 15776 1,785.7 2,007 1 1,886.9 21927 6,058.1 5,442.8 9,463.3
Net current assets/{liabilities) 2389 295.6 256.4 4436 20€ {234.5) 2164 (81.6} {106.0) 569.0
Total assets less

current liabilities 2,0348 1,697.0 1,571.2 1,589.4 1,456.0 899.1 26442 6,644.6 6,598.5 8,257.2
Equityldeficit) attributable 1o

equity holders of the parent 582.7 382.8 2274 51.1 {(25.7) {152.8) 40¢ .1 642.7 8183 88.9
Minority interest 450.1 3239 363.7 376.7 488.1 4523 997 .4 1,6949 1,385.2 1,834.1
Total equity 10328 706.7 5511 4278 462.4 299.5 1,405.5 2,3376 2,203.5 1,923.0

Company Balance Sheet
Data (US$millions)

Total assets 2,406.6 24712 189 1,782.8 1,867.6 2,355.1 2,938.0 2,568.9 1,904.6 1,921.0
Net debt U 2379 i526 1033 96.9 i52.1 833 150.0 416.2 408.0 880.3
Total liabilities 960.3 1,052.0 824.4 850.8 8479 1,425.1 1,374.9 1,081.6 820.5 819.6
Equity attributable to

equity holders of the parent  1,446.3 1,418.2 1,066.7 §32.0 1,019.7 §70.0 1,563 1,487.3 1,084.1 1,101.4

Other Information

{at 31 December)
Number of shares in issue

(millions) 3,204.8 3,188.8 3,186.0 3,186.0 3,186.0 3,139.8 31398 2,910.8 2.3756 2,367.3
Weighted average number of

shares in issue {millions}

- Basic 3,193.0 3,186.7 3,186.0 3,186.0 3,152.2 3,139.8 29239 2,586.9 23709 2,362.2

- Diluted 3,242 3,215 N/A N/A N/A /A Nf& 26033 2,383.7 24161
Share price (HK$} 4.040 3.000 2.075 1.690 0.700 0.960 2225 6.000 3.700 3.750
Market capitalization

{USSmillions) 1,659.9 1,226.5 847.6 690.3 285.9 386.4 895.6 2,239.1 1,126.9 1,138.1
Number of shareholders 4,989 5,167 5,321 5,452 5.576 5,581 5,581 5,632 6,116 5077
Number of employees 50,087 46,693 49,165 46,951 44,820 48,046 49,493 60,972 30,673 51,270

NIA: Not applicable '
(i} Includes the net debt of certain wholly-owned financing and holding companies.
See pages 117 and 118 for a glossary of terms.
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Summary of Principal Investments

Philippine Long Distance Telephone Company

PLDT is the leading telecommunications service provider in the Philippines. It has common shares listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange
and American Depositary Receipts (ADRs) listed on the New York Stock Exchange. It has one of the largest market capitalizations among
Philippine listed companies. Through its three principal business groups, PLDT offers a wide range of telecommunications services:
Wireless (principally through wholly-owned subsidiary company Smart Communications, Inc.); fixed Line {principally through PLDT); and
Information and Communications Technology (principally through wholly-owned subsidiary company ePLDT). PLDT has developed the
Philippines” most extensive fiber optic backbone, cellular, fixed line and satellite networks.

Sector : Telecommunications

Place of incorporation/business area : The Philippines

Issued number of shares : 188.4 million

Particular of issued shares held . Common shares of Pesos 5 par value
Economic interest/voting interest 1 23.6 per cent/29.9 per cent

Further information on PLDT can be found at www.pldt.com.ph

PT Indofood Sukses Makmur Tbhk

Indofood is the premier processed-foods company in Indonesia. It is based in Jakarta, and is fisted on the Jakarta and Surabaya Stock
Exchanges. Through its four strategic business groups, tndofood offers a wide range of food products: Consumer Branded Products
{Noodtes, Nutrition and Special Foods, Snack Foods and Food Seasonings}, Bogasari (flour and pasta), Edible Oils and Fats (Plantations,
Cooking Oils, Margarine and Shortening) and Distribution, Indofood is one of the world's largest instant noodles manufacturer by volume,
and the targest flour miller in Indonesia. Indofood’s flourmill in Jakarta is one of the largest in the world in terms of production capacity in
one location. It also has an extensive distribution network in the country.

Sector : Consumer Food Products

Place of incorporation/business area : Indonesia

Issued number of shares ;9.4 billion

Particular of issued shares held . Shares of Rupiah 100 par value
Economic interestivoting interest : 51.5 per cent

Further information on Indofood can be found at www.indofood.co.id

Metro Pacific Investments Corporation

MPIC is a Manila, Philippines-based investment holding and management company listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange. MPIC's
business activity comprises its interest in a 50.0 per cent owned joint venture which holds an 84.0 per cent interest in Maynilad Water
Services, Inc. and its real estate subsidiary Landco Pacific Corporation.

Sector : Infrastructure and Property

Place of incorporation/business area : The Philippines

Issued number of shares 1 1,199.0 million

Particular of issued shares held : Common shares of Peso 1 par value
Economic interest/voting interest : 95.9 per cent

Further information on MPIC can be found at www.mpic.com.ph

Level Up! International Holdings Pte Ltd

Level Up is the pioneer and leading online game publisher in the Philippines, Brazil and India. Online games are a rapidly growing segment
of the global video game industry, and Level Up focuses on online games in emerging markets.

Sector : Online games

Place of incorporation/business area : Singapore/The Philippines, Brazil and India
Issued number of shares : 413,869

Particutar of issued shares held : Ordinary shares of U538 par value
Economic interestivoting interest : 25.0 per cent

Further information on Level Up can be found at www.levelupgames.com
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PACIFIC RECEIVED

FIRST PACIFIC COMPANY LIMITED 7013311 g A g o,

(Incorporated in Bermuda with Hmited liability)

STOCK CODE: 00142 e AT
RIS o VR PR I

Website: http// www.firstpacco.com

Form of Proxy for use at the ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING ("AGM") of First Pacific Company Limited (the "Company")
to be held at The Victoria and Chater Rooms, 2nd Floor, Mandarin Oriental, 5 Connaught Road, Central, Hong Kong SAR
at 10:00 a.m. on Friday, 1st June, 2007 and at any adjournment thereof.

I/We! (and}

of

being the registered holder(s) of ? ordinary shares of US$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company, HEREBY APPOINT the Chairman of the AGM or *

of

as my/our proxy to attend and vote for me/us at the AGM (and at any adjournment thereof) for the purpose of considering and, if
thought fit, passing the Resolutions set cut in the Notice convening the AGM*.

Please indicate with an "x" in the space provided how you wish your vote(s) to be cast on a poll. Should this form be returned
duly signed, without a specific direction, the proxy will vote or abstain at his discretion.

RESOLUTIONS For Against

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Accounts and the Reports of the Directors and Auditors for the year ended
31st December, 2006.

2. To declare a final dividend of HK3.50 cents (1J50.45 cent) per ordinary shate for the year ended 31st December,
2006.

3. To re-appoint Ernst & Young as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Board of Directors of the
Company to fix their remuneration.

4. {i) To re-elect Mr. Manuel V. Pangilinan as the Managing Director and CEQ of the Company for a fixed term
of not more than three years, commencing on the date of this AGM and ending on the earlier of (a) the date
of the Company's annual general meeting to be held in the calendar year 2010 or (b) 31st May, 2010 or (c)
the date on which the Director concerned retires by rotation pursuant to the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices adopted by the Company and/or the Bye-laws (the "fixed term").

(ii) To re-elect Mr. Edward A. Tortorici as an Executive Director of the Company for the fixed term.

{iii) To re-elect Mr. David Tang as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company for the fixed term.

(iv) To re-elect Prof. Edward K.Y. Chen as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company for the
fixed term.

5. (i) To authorise the Board of Directors to fix the remuneration of the Executive Directors pursuant to the
Company’s Bye-laws.

(ii) To fix the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors at the sum of US$5,000 for each meeting attended.

6. To authorise the Board of Diirectors of the Company to appoint additional directors as an addition to the Board.

7. To give a general mandate to the Directors to allot, issue and deal with additional shares in the Company not
exceeding 20% of the Company's issued share capital.

8. To give a general mandate to the Directors to exercise all the powers of the Company to repurchase shares in
the Company not exceeding 10% of the Company’s issued share capital.

9. To approve the addition of the aggregate nominal amount of shares repurchased pursuant to Resolution (8)
above to the aggregate nominal amount of share capital which may be allotted pursuant to Resolution (7)
above.

10. | To adopt the new executive stock option plan of Metro Pacific Investments Corporation.

Signature: Date: 2007

Noles:

1. Please insert your full name(s) and address in block capitals. All joint holders' names should be stated.

2. Please insert the number of ordinary shares registered in your name(s}); if no number is inserted, this Form of Proxy will be deemed to relate to all the
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company registered in your name(s}).

3 If any proxy other than the Chairman of the AGM is appointed, strike out "the Chairman of the AGM or" and insert the name and address of the desired

proxy in the space provided and initial the alteration.

4. A proxy need not be a member of the Company but must attend the AGM in person to represent you.

5. In the case of joint holders, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, will be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the
other joint holders.

6. In the case of a corporation, this Form of Proxy must be executed under its Common Seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorized.

7. To be vatid, this Form of Proxy, together with any power of attorney or ather authority (if any) under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy of
such power of authority must be deposited at the Company's principal office (Attention: Cocrporate Secretarial Department) at 24th Floor, Two Exchonge
Square, 8 Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong SAR not less than 48 hours before the time of the meeting or at any adjournment thereof.

8. Any alterations made in this Form of Proxy must be initialled.

9. Completion and delivery of the Form of Proxy will not preclude you from attending and voting at the AGM if you so wish.

10. The Chairman will demand a poll on each of the resolutions submitted for determination at the AGM. On a poll, every member present in person or by a

duly autherized corporate representative or by proxy shall have one vote for every share held by him. The results of the poll will be published in the local
newspapers and on the website of the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, on the business day following the AGM.
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THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

* If you are in any doubt as to any aspect of this circular or as to the action to be taken,
you should consult your stockbroker or other registered dealer in securities, bank manager,
solicitor, professional accountant or other professional adviser.

If you have sold or transferred all your shares in First Pacific Company Limited, you
should at once hand this circular and the accompanying Form of Prdxy to the purchaser
" or transferee or 'to the bank, stockbroker or other agent through whom the sale was
effected for transmission to the purchaser or transferee.

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited takes no responsibility for the contents of this
circular, makes no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaims
any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this circular. S

FPC Exemption No. {82-836)

FIRST
PACIFIC

FIRST PACIFIC COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability) 5:‘:: ~
STOCK CODE: 00142 550= 0w
Website: http/ www.firstpacéo.com ég ::: 1;:_'?)1
' > '
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING M 2 al
AND PROPOSALS RELATING TO E’_ > ;_i
GENERAL MANDATES TO ISSUE SHARES LR - T
AND TO REPURCHASE SHARES, Vo c

RE-ELECTION OF THE RETIRING DIRECTORS
AND ADOPTION OF NEW EXECUTIVE STOCK OPTION PLAN
FOR METRO PACIFIC INVESTMENTS CORPORATION

Notice convening the 2007 Annual General Meeting of First Pacific Company Limited to
be held at The Victoria and Chater Rooms, 2nd Floor, Mandarin Oriental, 5 Connaught
Road, Central, Hong Kong at 10:00 a.m. on Friday, 1st June, 2007 is set out on pages 25 to
29 of this circular.

Whether or not you are able to attend the meeting, please complete and return the enclosed
Form of Proxy to the principal office of First Pacific Company Limited (Attention: Corporate
Secretarial Department) at 24th Floor, Two Exchange Square, 8 Connaught Place, Central,
Hong Kong as soon as possible, but in any event not less than 48 hours before the time
appointed for the holding of the meeting. Completion and return of the Form of Proxy
will not preclude you from attending and voting in person at the meeting should you so
wish.

30th April, 2007
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DEFINITIONS

In this circular and the appendices to it, the following expressions have the following
meanings unless the context requires otherwise:

“2006 AGM”

“2007 AGM”

“Adoption Date”

"ADRs”

“ADSs”

”Bye—laWS"

“Code”

”

“Company” or “First Pacific

“Director” or "Directors”

“Eligible Farticipant(s}”

“Exercise Price”

“First Pacific Group”

the annual general meeting of the Company convened
and held on 24th May, 2006;

the annual general meeting of the Company to be
convened and held on 1st June, 2007, by the Notice;

the date on which the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan
is adopted;

American depositary receipts of the ADSs;
Amercian depositary shares of PLDT, evidenced by
ADRs, each ADS represents 1 share of common stock

of PLDT;

the Bye-laws of the Company, as amended from time
to time;

the Code on Corporate Governance Practices adopted
by the Company on 14th March, 2005 based on the

provisions of Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules;

First Pacific Company Limited, an exempted company
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability, the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange;

a director or directors of the Company, from time to
time;

the senior management of the Metro Pacific Group
including directors determined by the Metro Pacific
Committee to be eligible to receive an Option under
the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan;

the price at which Metro Pacific Shares subject of an
Option shall be purchased or subscribed under the
Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan, as determined by the
Metro Pacific Committee in accordance with Article 6
of the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan;

First Pacific and its subsidiaries;




DEFINITIONS

“Hong Kong”

ItHstf

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Listing Rules”

“Macau”

“Metro Pacific”

“Metro Pacific Committee”

“Metro Pacific Group”

“Metro Pacific Shares”

“Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan”

“Model Code”

“"Notice”

“Option” or “Options”

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
PRC;

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong;

26th April 2007, being the latest practicable date for
ascertaining certain information for inclusion in this
circular;

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange;

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC;

Metro Pacific Investments Corporation, a corporation
established under the laws of the Philippines, having
its shares listed on the PSE and which is a member of
the First Pacific Group, in which First Pacific Group
holds an economic interest of approximately 93 per
cent;

the Metro Pacific Compensation Committee of the
Board of Metro Pacific;

Metro Pacific and its subsidiaries;

common shares of par value Peso 1 each of Metro
Pacific and any shares resulting from any subsequent
consolidation, sub-division or reclassification of those
common shares;

the new executive stock option plan of Metro Pacific
proposed for approval at the 2007 AGM for the benefit
of the senior management of the Metro Pacific Group
as specified thereunder;

the Model Code for securities transactions by directors
of companies listed on the Stock Exchange;

the notice of the 2007 AGM as set out on pages 25 to
29 of this circular;

an option to subscribe for Metro Pacific Shares granted
pursuant to the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan;




DEFINITIONS

“Option Holder(s)"

“Option Life Cycle”

“Option Offer Date”

“Peso”

“PLDT”

::PRC "
.HPSE "

“Proposals”

“Repurchase Mandate”

“SEC "

HSFOM

“Shareholders”

the Eligible Participant(s) who accept(s) the Options
offered under the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan;

the ten (10) year period after the Option Offer Date
during which an Option granted under the Metro
Pacific Stock Option Plan shall be exercisable;

the date on which an Option is accepted by an Eligible
Participant, which date shall be within the period
prescribed herein for acceptance;

Philippine Peso, the lawful currency of the Republic
of the Philippines;

Philippine Long Distance Telephone Company, a
company incorporated in the Philippines with limited
liability, the shares of which are listed on the PSE and
the ADRs of which are listed on the New York Stock
Exchange; and currently an associated company of the
Company;

the Peoples’ Republic of China;
the Philippine Stock Exchange;

the renewal of the general mandate enabling the
Directors to allot and issue Shares; the renewal of the
Repurchase Mandate; the grant of a general mandate
enabling the Directors to allot and issue Shares
repurchased by the Company pursuant to the
Repurchase Mandate; the re-election of retiring
directors and the adoption of the new Metro Pacific
Stock Option Plan; in each case as contemplated by
this circular;

the general mandate enabling the Company to
repurchase its own Shares;

the Securities and Exchange Commission of the
Philippines;

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of the
laws of Hong Kong;

the holders of Shares from time to time;




DEFINITIONS

“Shares” ordinary shares of US$0.01 each of the Company
and any shares resulting from any subsequent
consolidation, sub-division or reclassification of
those ordinary shares;

“Stock Exchange” the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;

“Substantial Shareholders” First Pacific Investments Limited and First Pacific
Investments (B.V.l.) Limited;

“Takeovers Code” the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers; and

“UJss” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United
' States of America.




LETTER FROM THE BOARD

FIRST
PACIFIC

FIRST PACIFIC COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

STOCK CODE: 00142
Website: http/ www firstpacco.com

Chairman: Principal Office:
Anthoni Salim 24th Floor
Two Exchange Square
Executive Directors: 8 Connaught Place
Manuel V. Pangilinan (Managing Director and CEQ) Central, Hong Kong
Edward A. Tortorici
Robert C. Nicholson Registered Office:
Canon’s Court
Non-executive Directors: 22 Victoria Street
Sutanto Djuhar Hamilton HM12
Tedy Djuhar Bermuda

Ibrahim Risjad
Ambassador Albert F. del Rosario
Benny S. Santoso

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Professor Edward K. Y. Chen, G.B.S., CBE, JP

David W. C. Tang, OBE, Chevalier de L'Ordre des Arts et des Lettres
Graham L. Pickles

30th April, 2007
To the shareholders of First Pacific Company Limited
Dear Sir or Madam,
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
AND PROPOSALS RELATING TO
GENERAL MANDATES TO ISSUE SHARES AND TO REPURCHASE
SHARES, RE-ELECTION OF THE RETIRING DIRECTORS AND
ADOPTION OF NEW STOCK OPTION PLAN FOR METRO PACIFIC

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this circular is to provide you with information in connection with
the convening of the 2007 AGM and explanation in connection with the matters to be
dealt with at the 2007 AGM. In accordance with good corporate governance practices, the
chairman of the 2007 AGM will direct that each of the resolutions set out in the Notice be

voted on by poll.
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The Notice convening the 2007 AGM is set out on pages 25 to 29 of this circular.

A Form of Proxy for use at the 2007 AGM is enclosed with this circular. Whether or
not you are able to attend the 2007 AGM, you are requested to complete the Form of
Proxy and return it to the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong in accordance
with the instructions printed thereon not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the
2007 AGM. Completion and delivery of a Form of Proxy will not preclude you from
attending and voting at the 2007 AGM should you so wish.

ADOPTION OF THE AUDITED ACCOUNTS AND THE REPORTS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2006

A copy of the 2006 annual report of the Company incorporating the audited
consolidated accounts of the Company for the year ended 31st December, 2006 and the
directors’ and auditors’ reports thereon and information concerning each of the retiring
directors who will be put forward for re-election at the 2007 AGM has been despatched to
all Shareholders together with this circular. The audited conseclidated accounts of the
Company for the year ended 31st December, 2006 have been reviewed by the Company’s
Audit Committee and approved by the Beard for adoption at the 2007 AGM.

DECLARATION OF FINAL DIVIDEND

On 11th April, 2007, the Directors announced the audited results of the Company
for the year ended 31st December, 2006. As mentioned in such announcement, the Board
has recommended a final cash dividend of HK3.50 cents {(US0.45 cent) per share in respect
of the financial year ended 31st December, 2006. Subject to approval by Shareholders at
the 2007 AGM, the final dividend will be paid in the currency which represents legal
tender in the jurisdiction in which the registered address of each Shareholder is situated
as follows: Hong Kong dollars for Hong Kong, Macau and PRC registered shareholders,
Sterling pounds for shareholders registered in the United Kingdom and US dollars for
registered shareholders of all other countries. It is expected that the dividend warrants
will be dispatched to Shareholders on or about 29th June, 2007.

The Company’s Register of Members will be closed on Friday, 18th May, 2007,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the
proposed final dividend, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s Hong Kong Branch
Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than
4:00 p.m. on Thursday, 17th May, 2007.

RE-APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS
The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board (which in turn endorses the

view), subject to the approval of Shareholders at the 2007 AGM, Ernst & Young be re-
appointed as the auditors of the Company for the ensuing year.
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RE-ELECTION OF THE RETIRING DIRECTORS

In accordance with Bye-laws 117A, 117B and 117C, at each annual general meeting
of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not greater than one-third) will retire. In
addition, in determining those Directors who are subject to retirement by rotation will be
those who have been longest in office since their last election or appointment and so that
as between persons who became or were last elected Directors on the same day, those to
retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

At the 2006 AGM, Mr. Anthoni Salim, Mr. Sutanto Djuhar, Mr. Tedy Djuhar and Mr.
Ibrahim Risjad, being the four (4) Directors (being one-third of the current 12-member
board) who have been longest in office since their appointment retired at that meeting. All
the retiring Directors, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election and have
been re-elected for a fixed term of three years, commencing on the clate of the 2006 AGM
and ending on the earlier of (1} the date of the Company’s annual general meeting to be
held in calendar year 2009 or (2) 23rd May, 2009 or (3) the date on which the Directors
retire by rotation pursuant to the Code and/or the Bye-laws.

At the 2007 AGM, Mr. Manuel V. Pangilinan (Managing Director and Chief Executive
Officer), Mr. Edward A. Tortorici (Executive Director), Mr. David Tang {Independent Non-
executive Director) and Professor Edward K.Y. Chen (Independent Non-executive Director},
who have been longest in office since their appointment, will retire at the 2007 AGM, but
being eligible offer themselves for re-election at that meeting. Their proposed re-election
will be considered by separate resolutions.

The biographical details of each of the four retiring Directors who will stand for re-
election at the 2007 AGM, as required by rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, are set out in
Appendix I of this circular to enable Shareholders to make an informed decision on their
re-election. Save as otherwise disclosed in this circular, there is no information to be
disclosed pursuant to any of the requirements under rules 13.51(2)(h) to 13.51(2)(v) of the
Listing Rules nor are there other matters that need to be brought to the attention of
Shareholders in respect of the four Directors who will stand for re-election at the 2007
AGM.

GENERAL MANDATES TO ISSUE SHARES AND TO REPURCHASE SHARES

To keep in line with current corporate practices, resolutions will be proposed at the
2007 AGM, seeking Shareholders’ approval for, inter alia, the renewal of the general
mandate enabling the Directors to allot and issue Shares; the grant of the Repurchase
Mandate; the grant of a general mandate enabling the Directors to allot and issue Shares
repurchased by the Company pursuant to the Repurchase Mandate.

At the 2006 AGM, Shareholders passed an ordinary resolution granting to the
Directors a general mandate to allot and issue Shares up to a limit equal to 20 per cent of
the aggregate nominal amount of the issued share capital of the Company as at 24th May,
2006. Your Directors believe that it would be in the best interests of the Company to renew
this mandate, as it will expire at the conclusion of the 2007 AGM.

7 -
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At the 2006 AGM, Shareholders also passed an ordinary resolution granting to the
Directors a general mandate to exercise the powers of the Company to repurchase its own
Shares up to a limit of 10 per cent in aggregate of the Company’s issued share capital as at
24th May, 2006. A further ordinary resolution was passed by Shareholders granting to the
Directors a general mandate to allot and issue Shares repurchased by the Company pursuant
to the Repurchase Mandate. Your Directors believe that it would be in the best interests of
the Company to renew these mandates as they will expire at the conclusion of the 2007
AGM. '

There is at present no intention for the Company to repurchase any of its Shares.
The main features of the Listing Rules regarding share repurchase on the Stock Exchange
and further details in relation to purchases by the Company of its own Shares are contained
in the explanatory statement set out in Appendix II of this circular so as to enable
Shareholders to make an informed decision on whether to vote for or against the resolutions
to approve the share repurchase mandate at the 2007 AGM at which such resolutions will
be proposed.

ADOPTION OF NEW STOCK OPTION PLAN FOR METRO PACIFIC

Metro Pacific is a Manila, Philippines-based investment holding and management
company listed on the PSE, with its common shares listed and traded on the PSE under
the symbol “MP1”. Metro Pacific was listed on the PSE in December 2006 which represented
the completion of a comprehensive reorganization plan launched in early 2006 for Metro
Pacific Corporation. Metro Pacific’s business activity comprises its interest in a 50% owned
joint venture which holds an 84% interest in Maynilad Water Services, Inc. and its real
estate subsidiary Landco Pacific Corporation. For the purposes stated below, the Directors
considered it appropriate to adopt a new stock option plan for Metro Pacific.

An ordinary resolution will be proposed at the 2007 AGM to approve the adoption
of the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan. The purpose of the Metro Pacific Stock Option
Plan is to (i) enable the senior management officers and directors of the Metro Pacific
Group who are largely responsible for the further growth and development of the Metro
Pacific Group to obtain an ownership interest in Metro Pacific; (ii) encourage the long
term commitment of such officers and directors of the Metro Pacific Group; (iii) motivate
such officers and directors to continue their efforts in contributing to the long-term financial
success of the Metro Pacific Group; and (iv) encourage management with appropriate skill
and experience to join the Metro Pacific Group.

The Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan will be for a period of 10 years commencing on
the Adoption Date. On and after the tenth anniversary of the Adoption Date, no further
options may be granted but any options which are granted during the life of the Metro
Pacific Stock Option Plan will continue to be exercisable in accordance with the terms of
their grant.

The Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan does not specify a minimum period for which
an Option must be held nor a performance target which must be achieved before an
Option can be exercised. However, the rules of the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan provide
that the Metro Pacific Committee may determine, in its absolute discretion, such term(s)
on the grant of an Option. The basis for the determination of the Exercise Price is also

8
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specified precisely in the rules of the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan. When granting
Options and determining the terms of grant, the Metro Pacific Committee will generalty
impose a multi year vesting period and take into account target levels of future share
price performance.

The Directors consider that the aforesaid criteria and rules will serve to preserve the
value of Metro Pacific and encourage Eligible Participants to acquire proprietary interests
in Metro Pacific.

The Directors believe that any calculation of the fair value of the Options as at the
Latest Practicable Date based on a number of assumptions before the Options are actually
granted, would not be meaningful and would be misleading to Shareholders. However,
Shareholders should note that, in compliance with the Listing Rules, estimated valuations
and cost of Options granted during any financial period will be provided based on the
Black-Scholes option pricing model, binominal option pricing model or a comparable
generally accepted methodology in the Company’s annual report and interim report, in
accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 2 — “Share-based Payment”.

The adoption of the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan is conditional upon:-

(1)  the Shareholders of the Company passing an ordinary resolution at the 2007
AGM approving the adoption of the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan;

(2) the stockholders of Metro Pacific passing a special resolution at a general
meeting of stockholders of Metro Pacific approving the adoption of the Metro

Pacific Stock Option Plan; and

(3) the PSE granting approval of the listing of the shares falling to be issued on
exercise of Options to be granted under the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, there are no Options in respect of Metro Pacific
Shares which remain outstanding.

A summary of the principal terms of the proposed Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan
is set out in Appendix III below.

PROCEDURES TO DEMAND A POLL AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Consistent with good corporate governance practices, the chairman of the 2007 AGM
intends to demand a poll for each of the resolutions set out in the Notice.

In accordance with Bye-law 79, every resolution put to the vote at a Shareholders’
meeting shall be decided on a show of hands unless before or on the declaration of the

results of the show of hands, a poll is demanded by:

{i) the chairman; or
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(ii) at least three (3) members present in person or by proxy for the time being
entitled to vote at the meeting; or

(iii) any member or members present in person or by proxy and representing not
less than one-tenth (1/10th) of the total voting rights of all members having
the right to vote at the meeting; or

(iv) a member or members present in person or by proxy and holding Shares
conferring a right to vote at the meeting being Shares on which an aggregate
sum has been paid up equal to not less than one-tenth (1/10th) of the total
sum paid up on all the Shares conferring that right.

In accordance with Bye-law 80, if a poll is demanded in the manner aforesaid, it
shall be taken in such manner (including the use of ballot or voting papers or tickets) and
at such time and place, not more than thirty (30) days from the date of the meeting or
adjourned meeting at which the poll was demanded, as the chairman directs. The results
of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll was
demanded.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

This circular includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors collectively and
individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this
circular and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries that to the best of their
knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make any
statement herein misleading.

RECOMMENDATION

Your Directors are of the opinion that the Proposals are in the best interests of the
Company and its Shareholders and recommend you to vote in favor of the resolutions to
be proposed at the 2007 AGM to be held on 1st June, 2007. The Directors have indicated
that the votes attaching to the Shares owned by them and their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) will, where entitled, be cast in favor of all the resolutions to
be proposed at the 2007 AGM.

Yours faithfully,

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
First Pacific Company Limited
Manuel V. Pangilinan
Managing Director and CEO
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APPENDIX 1 BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE RETIRING
DIRECTORS PROPOSED TO BE RE-ELECTED

The following are the particulars of the four retiring Directors proposed to be re-elected at
the 2007 AGM:

1. Manuel V. Pangilinan
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

Age 60, born in the Philippines. Mr. Pangilinan received a BA from Ateneo de
Manila University and an MBA from University of Pennsylvania’s Wharton School before
working in the Philippines and Hong Kong for the PHINMA Group, Bancom International
Limited and American Express Bank. He served as First Pacific’'s Managing Director after
founding the Company in 1981, was appointed Executive Chairman in February 1999 and
resumed the role of Managing Director and CEQ in June 2003.

Mr. Pangilinan also served as President and CEO of PLDT since November 1998 and
was appointed Chairman of PLDT in February 2004. He is the Chairman of Metro Pacific,
Metro Pacific Corporation, Smart Communications, Inc., Pilipino Telephone Corporation,
and Landeo Pacific Corporation, as well as the President Commissioner of PT Indofood
Sukses Makmur Tbk. He also holds directorship in Citra Metro Manila Tollways,
Corporation.

In May 2006, the Office of the President of the Philippines awarded Mr. Pangilinan
the Order of Lakandula, rank of Komandante in recognition of his contributions to the
country. He was named Management Man of the Year 2005 by the Management Association
of the Philippines, and was awarded Honorary Doctorates in Humanities by Xavier
University in 2007 and by San Beda College in 2002 in the Philippines. He is Chairman of
the Board of Trustees of Ateneo de Manila University, Chairman of the Board of Directors
of Medical Doctors Inc (Makati Medical Center), and Chairman of the non-profit
organization, Philippine Business for Social Progress. Mr. Pangilinan is also Chairman of
the Hong Kong Bayanihan Foundation, a civic organization based in Hong Kong.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Pangilinan was interested, or was deemed to
be interested in the following long positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of the SFO) which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO; or (b) was required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or {c) were required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange:

i. 6,026,759 ordinary shares®™ of the Company and 31,800,000 ordinary share
options® of the Company.

ii. 1,048,404 common shares®® in Metro Pacific.
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DIRECTORS PROPOSED TO BE RE-ELECTED

iii. 201,933 common shares'™ in PLDT and 360 preferred shares™ in PLDT as
beneficial owner and a further 15,417 common shares in PLDT as nominee for
another person.

iv. 3,500,000 common shares® in Pilipino Telephone Corporation.

The amount of remuneration paid to Mr. Pangilinan for the year ended 31 December
2006, together with the basis of determining such remuneration are set out in Note 36{A)
to the Financial Statements headed “Directors’ Remuneration” on page 107 in First Pacific’s
2006 Annual Report. Mr. Pangilinan has no financial or family relationships with any
other Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the
Company.

2. Mr. Edward A. Tortorici
Executive Director

Age 67, born in the United States. Mr. Tortorici received a BS from New York
University and an MS from Fairfield University. Mr. Tortorici has served in a variety of
senior and executive management positions, including Corporate Vice President for Crocker
Bank and Managing Director positions at Olivetti Corporation of America and Fairchild
Semiconductor Corporation.

Mr. Tortorici subsequently founded EA Edwards Associates, an international
management and consulting firm specializing in strategy formulation and productivity
improvement with offices worldwide.

In 1987 Mr. Tortorici joined First Pacific as an Executive Director and launched the
Group’s entry into the telecommunications and technology sectors. Presently, he oversees
corporate strategy for First Pacific and guides the Group’s strategic planning and corporate
restructuring activities. Mr. Tortorici also serves as a Commissioner of consumer foods
company PT Indofood Sukses Makmur Tbk and is a Director of ACeS International Limited,
both corporations are based in Indonesia. He is also a Director of Metro Pacific Corporation
and Landco Pacific Corporation, companies located in the Philippines.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Tortorici was interested, or was deemed to be
interested in the following long positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of the SFO) which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO; or (b) was required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange:

1. 27,252,131 ordinary shares™ of the Company and 17,680,000 ordinary share
options® of the Company.
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i. 17,399 common shares® and 165,000 common shares™ in Metro Pacific, as
well as 52,197 warrants© and 495,000 warrants®™ in Metro Pacific.

iii. 104,874 common shares® in PLDT.

The amount of remuneration paid to Mr. Tortorici for the year ended 31 December
2006, together with the basis of determining such remuneration are set out in Note 36(A)
to the Financial Statements headed “Directors’ Remuneration” on page 107 in First Pacific’s
2006 Annual Report. Mr. Tortorici has no financial or family relationships with any other
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.

3. David W.C. Tang, OBE, Chevalier de L'Ordre des Arts et des Lettres
Independent Non-executive Director

Age 52, born in Hong Kong, Mr. Tang was educated locally and then Cambridge,
London and Beijing, where he also taught English and Philosophy. Mr. Tang is the founder
of Shanghai Tang; the China Clubs in Beijing, Hong Kong and Singapore; China Tang in
London and Pacific Cigars. He joined First Pacific’s Board in 1989.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Tang was not interested, or was not deemed to
be interested in any of the long positions in the shares, underiying shares and debentures
of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of the SFO) which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO; or (b) was required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFQO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

As an Independent Non-Executive Director, Mr. Tang is entitled to receive the sum
of US$5,000 for each meeting of the Board of Directors or Board Committee which he
attends in person or by telephone conference call, as well as consultancy services provided
to the Company, details as set out in Note 36(A) to the Financial Statements headed
“Directors’ Remuneration” on page 107 in First Pacific’s 2006 Annual Report. Mr. Tang
has submitted to the Company a written confirmation concerning his independence. The
Board, therefore, considers him to be independent and believes that he should be re-
elected. He has no financial or family relationships with any other Directors, senior
management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.

4. Professor Edward K.Y. Chen, GBS, CBE, [P
Independent Non-executive Director

Age 62, born in Hong Kong and educated at the University of Hong Kong and
Oxford University. Professor Chen serves as President of Lingnan University; an
Independent Non-executive Director of Asia Satellite Telecommunications and Wharf
Holdings Limited. He is the trustee for Eaton Vance Management Funds. Formerly,
Professor Chen served as Chairman of Hong Kong’'s Consumer Council; as an Executive
Councillor of the Hong Kong Government; and as a Legislative Councillor. Professor
Chen joined First Pacific’s Board in 1993.
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As at the Latest Practicable Date, Prof. Chen was interested, or was deemed to be
interested in the following long positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of the SFO) which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO; or (b) was required, pursuant to Section 352 of the S5FQO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange:

i. 2,840,000 ordinary share options® of the Company.

As an Independent Non-Executive Director, Prof. Chen is entitled to receive the
sum of US$5,000 for each meeting of the Board of Directors or Board Committee which he
attends in person or by telephone conference call, details as set out in Note 36(A) to the
Financial Statements headed “Directors” Remuneration” on page 107 in First Pacific's 2006
Annual Report. Prof. Chen has submitted to the Company a written confirmation
concerning his independence. The Board, therefore, considers him to be independent and
believes that he should be re-elected. He has no financial or family relationships with any
other Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the
Company.
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APPENDIX II EXPLANATORY STATEMENT OF REPURCHASE PROPOSAL

This appendix contains the particulars that are required by the Listing Rules to be
included in an explanatory statement to accompany the notice of an annual general meeting
at which a resolution is to be proposed in relation to the repurchase by the Company of its
own Shares.

1. REPURCHASE MANDATE

The relevant sections of the Listing Rules which permit companies with a primary
listing on the Stock Exchange to repurchase their Shares on the Stock Exchange, subject to
certain restrictions, are summarised below:

(a) Shareholders’ approval

The Listing Rules provide that all proposed repurchases of shares by a company
with a primary listing on the Stock Exchange must be approved in advance by an
ordinary resolution, either by way of general mandate or by specific approval of a
particular transaction. The Listing Rules require an explanatory statement such as is
contained herein to be sent to Shareholders to give Shareholders adequate information
to enable them to decide whether to approve the grant of such a mandate.

{b) Source of funds

Repurchases must be funded out of funds legally available for the purpose
under Bermuda law.

(¢) Maximum number of shares to be repurchased

The Shares proposed to be repurchased by the Company must be fully paid
up. A maximum of 10 per cent of the outstanding share capital at the date of passing
the relevant resolution may be repurchased on the Stock Exchange. On the basis of
the existing issued share capital of the Company of 3,205,795,003 Shares, as at the
Latest Practicable Date, and assuming no further exercise of options granted by the
Company pursuant to the Company’s share option plan, and no further Shares are
issued or repurchased by the Company prior to the 2007 AGM, not more than
320,579,500 Shares may be repurchased on the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Repurchase Mandate.

2. REASONS FOR REPURCHASES

The Directors believe that it is in the best interests of the Company and its
Shareholders to seek a general authority from Shareholders to enable the Company to
repurchase Shares on the Stock Exchange. Such repurchases, depending on market
conditions and funding arrangements at the time, may lead to enhancement of the net
asset value of the Company and/or earnings per Share and will be made only when the
Directors believe that such repurchases will benefit the Company and its Shareholders.
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3. FUNDING OF REPURCHASE

Repurchases must be funded out of funds legally available for the purpose in
accordance with the Company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws and the taws
of Bermuda.

The Directors have no present intention to repurchase any Shares of the Company
and they would exercise the power to repurchase in circumstances only where they consider
that the repurchase would be in the best interests of the Company and in circumstances
where they consider that the Shares can be repurchased on terms favourable to the
Company. On the basis of the audited consolidated financial position of the Company as
at 31st December, 2006, being the date to which the latest published audited accounts of
the Company were made up, the Directors consider that if the general mandate to
repurchase Shares were to be exercised in full at the currently prevailing market value, it
could have a material adverse impact on the working capital position and gearing position
of the Company.

The Directors do not propose to exercise the Repurchase Mandate to such extent as,
in the circumstances, would have a material adverse effect on the working capital
requirements of the Company as compared with the position disclosed in the latest
published audited accounts or the gearing levels that in the opinion of the Directors are
from time to time appropriate for the Company.

4. SHARE PRICE

No Shares have been repurchased during the six months prior to the date of this
circular. The following table shows the highest and lowest prices at which the Shares were
traded on the Stock Exchange in each of the twelve months ended 31st March, 2007:

Highest Lowest
traded traded
Month price price
HK$ HK$

2006
April 3.450 2.750
May 3.925 3.150
June 3.350 2.850
July 3.340 2.900
August 3.530 3.060
September 3.800 3.450
October 4.000 3.540
November 4.050 3.800
December 4.120 3.770

2007
January 5.130 4.000
February 5.090 3.860
March 4.950 4.140
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5. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

None of the Directors or, to the best of their knowledge, having made all reasonable
enquiries, any of their associates currently intend to sell Shares to the Company or its
subsidiaries, in the event that the proposed Repurchase Mandate is approved by
Shareholders.

No connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) have notified the Company
that they have any present intention to sell any Shares, or have undertaken not to seil any
Shares held by them to the Company, in the event that the Repurchase Mandate is approved
by Shareholders.

6. TAKEOVERS CODE

If as a result of a repurchase of Shares pursuant to the Repurchase Mandate, a
Shareholder’s proportionate interest in the voting rights of the Company increases, such
increase will be treated as an acquisition of voting rights for the purposes of the Takeovers
Code. Accordingly, a Shareholder, or a group of Shareholders acting in concert (within the
meaning under the Takeovers Code), depending on the level of increase in the Shareholders’
interest, could obtain or consolidate control of the Company and thereby become obliged
to make a mandatory general offer in accordance with Rule 26 of the Takeovers Code.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Substantial Shareholders beneficially owned
Shares representing a total of 44.25 per cent of the issued share capital of the Company.
Although the Directors have no present intention to repurchase any Shares of the Company,
if the Directors were to exercise the Repurchase Mandate in full, such Shares owned by
the Substantial Shareholders would represent approximately 49.17 per cent of the then
issued share capital of the Company. As a result, the Substantial Shareholders would
become obliged to make a mandatory general offer in accordance with Rule 26 of the
Takeovers Code. Save as aforesaid, the Directors are not aware of any other consequences
which would arise under the Takeovers Code as a result of any repurchase of Shares
pursuant to the Repurchase Mandate.

At present, the Company has no intention to exercise the Repurchase Mandate in
such a way and to such an extent that would cause a mandatory general offer obligation
to arise for the Substantial Shareholders.

The Directors will not exercise the Repurchase Mandate if the repurchase would
result in the number of listed Shares which are in the hands of the public falling below the
relevant prescribed minimum percentage as required by the Stock Exchange.

7. DIRECTORS’ UNDERTAKING
The Directors have undertaken to the Stock Exchange that, so far as the same may

be applicable, they will exercise the Repurchase Mandate in accordance with the Listing
Rules and the laws of Bermuda.
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APPENDIX III SUMMARY OF THE PRINCIPAL TERMS OF THE

METRO PACIFIC STOCK OPTION PLAN

1. PURPOSE AND DURATION OF THE PLAN

(A)

(B)

The Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan is intended to: (i} enable the senior
management officers and Directors of the Metro Pacific Group who are largely
responsible for the further growth and development of the Metro Pacific Group
to obtain an ownership interest in Metro Pacific; (ii) encourage the long-term
commitment of such officers and Directors of the Metro Pacific Group; (iii)
motivate such officers and Directors to continue their efforts in contributing
to the long-term financial success of the Metro Pacific Group; and (iv)
encourage management talents to join the Metro Pacific Group.

Subject to paragraph 10, the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan shall be valid
and effective for the period of ten (10) years commencing on the Adoption
Date. On and after the tenth anniversary of the Adoption Date, no further
Options shall be granted but in all other respects the provisions of the Metro
Pacific Stock Option Plan shall remain in full force and effect. Options which
are granted during the life of the Metro Pacific Stock Opticn Plan shall continue
to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue.

2. ADMINISTRATION OF THE PLAN

(A)

(B)

The Metro Pacific Committee shall administer the Metro Pacific Stock Option
Plan and perform such other functions as are assigned to the Metro Pacific
Committee under the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan. Subject to the provisions
of the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan and the supervision of the Board of
Metro Pacific, the Metro Pacific Committee shall have the power to issue rules
and regulations to implement the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan; amend
such rules and regulations; adopt resolutions and orders not inconsistent with
the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan; execute agreements in implementation of
the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan; interpret the provisions of the Metro
Pacific Stock Option Plan; and undertake acts as it may deem appropriate for
the proper implementation of the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan.

All determinations or actions of the Metro Pacific Committee in respect of the
Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan shall be by the affirmative vote of a majority
of the members thereof at a meeting called for such purpose or by a written
instrument signed by a majority of the members of the Metro Pacific
Committee, in which latter case, the determinations or actions so taken shall
be fully as effective as if they had been taken by a vote of the majority of the
members of the Metro Pacific Committee at a meeting duly called and held.
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METRO PACIFIC STOCK OPTION PLAN

4.

3.

SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN

(A)

(B)

(©)

Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraph 3(C), the total number of Metro
Pacific Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all Options to be granted
under the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan and other stock option plans of
Metro Pacific must not exceed ten per cent (10%) of the Metro Pacific Shares
in issue as at the Adoption Date (“Plan Limit”}. The limit on the number of
Metro Pacific Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Metro Pacific Stock Option
Plan and other stock options plans of Metro Pacific must not exceed 30% of
the Metro Pacific Shares in issue from time to time.

If an Option shall expire or lapse in accordance with the Metro Pacific Stock
Option Plan, such expired or lapsed Option shall not be counted for purposes
of calculating the Plan Limit.

In the event of a merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization,
reclassification of stock, stock dividend, stock split, rights issue or other change
in the corporate structure or capitalization affecting Metro Pacific’s Shares,
the Metro Pacific Committee shall, subject to the approval of the auditors or
an independent financial adviser engaged by Metro Pacific for this purpose,
make reasonable adjustments to the Exercise Price or the number of Metro
Pacific Shares subject to Options already granted and to the Metro Pacific
Stock Option Plan. Any such adjustments shall give an Eligible Participant the
same proportion of the equity capital as that to which that person was
previously entitled, but no such adjustments may be made to the extent that a
share would be issued at less than its nominal value. In respect of any such
adjustments, other than any made on a capitalisation issue, an independent
financial adviser or the Company’s auditors must confirm to the Directors in
writing that the adjustments satisfy the requirements set out in the note to
Rules 17.03(13) of the Listing Rules.

PERSONS ELIGIBLE TO PARTICIPATE

(A)

(B)

Options may be granted pursuant to the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan to
individuals who, at the time of the grant, are full time senior management
officers of the Metro Pacific Group and/or directors of Metro Pacific. Senior
management officers include the Presidents, General Managers, key Metro
Pacific Group Executives and senior officers reporting directly or indirectly to
the Presidents and General Managers, of the Metro Pacific Group.

Prior to an Option Offer Date, the Metro Pacific Committee shall select the
senior management officers and directors of Metro Pacific to whom Options
may be granted for that calendar year, provided that, the total number of
Metro Pacific Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the Options
granted to any one Eligible Participant (whether or not already an Option
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(©)

Holder) (including both exercised and outstanding Options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed one per cent (1%) of the Metro Pacific Shares in issue
at the relevant time (the “Eligible Participant Limit").

In determining the eligibility of a senior management officer/director of Metro
Pacific to receive an Option under the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan, the
Metro Pacific Committee shall consider the position and responsibilities of the
senior management officer/director of Metro Pacific, the nature and value of
his services and accomplishment{s), his present and potential contribution to
the success of the Metro Pacific Group member in which he is employed, and
such other factors as the Metro Pacific Committee may deem relevant.

5. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OPTION

(A)

If in accordance with paragraph 4, the Metro Pacific Committee determines to
grant an Option to an Eligible Participant, an offer shall be forwarded by the
Metro Pacific Committee, provided that a grant of Option may not be made
after a price sensitive event has occurred or a price sensitive matter has been
the subject of a decision until such price sensitive information has been
published in a newspaper of general circulation. In particular, no Option may
be granted during the period commencing one (1) month immediately
preceding the earlier of:

(i)  the date of the board meeting for the approval of Metro Pacific’s results
for any year, half-year, quarterly or any other interim period; and

(ii)  the deadline for Metro Pacific to publish an announcement of its results
for any year or half-year under the rules of the SEC and/or the PSE, or
quarterly or any other interim period (whether or not required by the
SEC and/or PSE), and ending on the date of the results announcement.

The offer of the grant of Option to an Eligible Participant shall be by means of
an option offer letter under the terms and conditions set forth in the Metro
Pacific Stock Option Plan and such other terms and conditions as the Metro
Pacific Committee may determine from time to time. The offer shall be open
for acceptance by an Eligible Participant by payment of Ten Pesos (P10.00)
within twenty eight (28) days from receipt of the option offer letter or such
shorter period as may be specified in the relevant option offer letter.

The vesting percentage and vesting schedule of the Options granted under

the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan shall be determined by the Metro Pacific
Committee.
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(D)

(E)

An Option under the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan shall be personal to the
Option Holder and shall not be assignable or transferable. The Option Holder
concerned shall not sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any
security interest over an Option granted under the Metro Pacific Stock Option
Plan. Any breach of the foregoing shall entitle Metro Pacific Committee to
cancel any outstanding Options or part thereof granted to such Option Holder
(including, but not limited to, the Option in question).

An Option granted under the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan shall lapse
automatically (to the extent not already exercised) at the earliest of:

(i)  the end of an Option’s Life Cycle;
(ii)  the expiration of the period referred to in sub-paragraph 7(C);

(iii) the date the Option Holder ceases to be a director or full-time employee
of Metro Pacific or the subsidiary in which he is employed other than
for death or iliness, unless otherwise determined by the Metro Pacific
Committee (whether such determination is made before or after the date
of such cessation), in which case the Option shall be exercisable to the
extent and within such period as the Metro Pacific Committee may
determine. In the case of cessation of employment, the date of cessation
shall be the last actual working day on which the Option Holder was
physically at work as an employee of Metro Pacific or the subsidiary in
which he is employed, whether or not salary is paid in lieu of notice;

(iv) subject to sub-paragraph 7(E), the date of effectivity of Metro Pacific’s
dissolution; and

(v) the date on which the Option Holder commits any of the acts prohibited
under sub-paragraph 5(D).

Each grant of Options to any director, chief executive or substantial shareholder
of the Company, or any of his or her associates under a scheme of the Company
or any of its respective subsidiaries (including the Metro Pacific Stock Option
Plan) shall be subject to the prior approval of the independent non-executive
directors of the Company (excluding any independent non-executive director
who is the grantee of the Options).

Where any grant of Options to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of his or her respective
associates, would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all Options already granted and to be granted (including Options exercised
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the Option Offer Date representing in aggregate over 0.1% (or such
other percentage as may from time to time be specified by the Stock Exchange)
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of Metro Pacific Shares in issue, such further grant of Options shall be subject
to prior approval by resolution of the Shareholders on which all connected
persons of the Company abstain from voting in favour; save that (for the
avoidance of doubt) any connected person may, without affecting the validity
of the relevant resolution, vote against the relevant resolution at the general
meeting provided that its intention to do so has been stated in the circular to
be sent to the Shareholders in connection therewith.

(G) Any Options granted but not exercised may be cancelled if the Option Holder
agrees and (if the Board so resolves) new Options may be granted to that
Option Holder provided that such new Options are granted within the limits
of the terms of the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan.

6. EXERCISE PRICE

The Exercise Price shall be determined by the Metro Pacific Committee but at an
amount not lower than (i) the closing price of the Metro Pacific Shares for one or more
board lots of such Metro Pacific Shares on the PSE on the Option Offer Date; (ii) the
average closing price of the Metro Pacific Shares for one or more board lots of such Metro
Pacific Shares on the PSE for the five (5) business days on which dealings in the Metro
Pacific Shares are made immediately preceding the Option Offer Date; or (iii) the par
value of the Metro Pacific Shares, whichever is the higher. The Exercise Price may be
reasonably adjusted by the Metro Pacific Committee, subject to the approval of the auditors
or an independent financial adviser engaged by Metro Pacific for this purpose, in case of
payment of stock dividends, issuance of rights shares, stock splits and other analogous
acts resulting in the increase or decrease in the outstanding capital stock of Metro Pacific.

7. EXERCISE OF OPTION

(A) An Option Holder may exercise in whole or in part his vested Option, provided
that an Option exercisable but not actually exercised within a given year shall
accrue and may be exercised at any time thereafter but prior to the expiration
of said Option’s Life Cycle.

(B)  An Option shall be exercised in whole or in part by the Option Holder (or his
heirs or legal representative) by giving notice in writing to the Metro Pacific
Committee specifying the number of Metro Pacific Shares to be purchased
and accompanied by payment in cash of the full amount of the Exercise Price.
Within twenty eight (28) days from receipt of the full amount of the Exercise
Price, Metro Pacific shall issue and allot the Metro Pacific Shares subscribed
for, and as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter shall issue the certificate
of stock evidencing the corresponding number of fully paid and issued Metro
Pacific Shares to the Option Holder.
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(C) If the Option Holder ceases to be a senior management officer or director of
Metro Pacific by reason of death or long term disability, he or his heirs or
legal representative shall be entitled to exercise any unexercised and vested
Option within eighteen (18) months following the last actual working day of
the Option Holder with Metro Pacific or the subsidiary by which he is
employed.

(D) If a general offer is unconditionally made to all shareholders of Metro Pacific
at any time before the expiry of the Option’s Life Cycle, the Option Holder (or
his legal representative, if applicable), may exercise any unexercised and
unvested Option in full within one (1) month after the general offer is made
notwithstanding that the date the offer is made is less than one (1) year after
the Option Offer Date.

(E) In the event the shareholders of Metro Pacific pass a resolution for the voluntary
dissolution of Metro Pacific prior to the expiry of the Option’s Life Cycle, an
Option Holder may, by notice in writing and within three (3) months after the
resolution is duly passed, elect to be treated as if his unexercised and unvested
Option had been exercised in full force before the resolution, and will qualify
to receive out of the assets available in liquidation such sum as would have
been received in respect of the Metro Pacific Shares which are the subject of
such election reduced by the Exercise Price which would otherwise have been
payable in respect thereof.

(F)  There is no applicable performance targets that need to be achieved before an
Option Holder may exercise his vested Options in whole or in part.

(G) There is no minimum period for which an Option must be held before it can
be exercised, but the vesting percentage and vesting schedule of the options
to be granted under the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan shall be determined
by the Metro Pacific Committee.

8. RANKING OF SHARES

The Metro Pacific Shares to be issued and allotted upon the exercise of an Option
shall rank pari passu in all respects with the then existing Metro Pacific Shares of the
same kind in Metro Pacific with effect from the date of issue of the Metro Pacific Shares,
and will be subject to all the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation and Bye-Laws of
Metro Pacific for the time being in force. Prior to the Option Holder being issued the
Metro Pacific Shares in respect of the Option, the Option Holder shall not have any voting
rights nor rights to participate in any dividends of distributions in respect of the Metro
Pacific Shares to be allotted and issued upon the exercise of the Option, except as may be
provided in sub-paragraph 7(E).
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APPENDIX III SUMMARY OF THE PRINCIPAL TERMS OF THE

METRO PACIFIC STOCK OPTION PLAN

9.

10.

11.

DISPUTES

The Metro Pacific Committee may, in its discretion and subject to the approval of
the Board of Metro Pacific, refer any dispute arising under the Metro Pacific Stock Option
Plan to the auditors of Metro Pacific who shall act as experts and not as arbitrators and
whose decision, in the absence of manifest error, shall be final and binding,.

SUSPENSION, TERMINATION, OR AMENDMENT OF THE PLAN

(A)

(B)

Upon the recommendation of the Metro Pacific Committee, the Board of Metro
Pacific may, at any time, suspend or terminate the Metro Pacific Stock Option
Plan and in such event no further Options shall be granted thereunder,
provided that, in all other respects the provisions of the Metro Pacific Stock
Option Plan shall remain in force and the suspension or termination of the
Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan shall not impair the rights of an Option Holder
previously granted under the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan.

The approval of the shareholders owning at least two-thirds (2/3) of the
outstanding capital stock of Metro Pacific shall first be secured for the
effectivity of any modification or amendment of the Metro Pacific Stock Option
Plan.

MISCELLANEOUS

(A)

(B}

(<)

Nothing contained in the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan shall restrict the
right of Metro Pacific or any of its subsidiaries to terminate the employment
of senior management officers and/or remove the directors of Metro Pacific
otherwise entitled to an Option under the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan.

The Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan shall not form part of any contract of
employment or other contract between Metro Pacific or any member of the
Metro Pacific Group and any Eligible Participant or Option Holder, and the
rights and obligations of such person under the terms of his employment or
contract shall not be affected by his participation in the Metro Pacific Stock
Option Plan or any right which he may have to participate in it and the Metro
Pacific Stock Option Plan shall afford such Eligible Participant or Option Holder
no additional rights to compensation or damages in consequence of the
termination of such office or employment for any reason. The Metro Pacific
Stock Option Plan shall not confer on any person any legal or equitable rights
(other than those constituting the Options themselves) against Metro Pacific
directly or indirectly or give rise to any cause of action at law or in equity
against Metro Pacific.

The Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan and all Options granted thereunder shall

be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Republic of
the Philippines.

- 24 -




NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

FIRST
PACIFIC

FIRST PACIFIC COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

STOCK CODE: 00142
Website: http/ www.firstpacco.com

NOTICE 1S HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of First Pacific
Company Limited (the “Company”} will be held at The Victoria and Chater Rooms, 2nd
Floor, Mandarin Oriental, 5 Connaught Road, Central, Hong Kong on Friday, 1st June,
2007 at 10:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

1.  To receive and adopt the Audited Accounts and the Reports of the Directors and
auditors for the year ended 31st December, 2006.

2. To declare a final dividend of HK3.50 cents (US0.45 cent) per ordinary share for the
year ended 31st December, 2006.

3. To re-appoint Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company and to authorize the Board
of Directors of the Company to fix their remuneration.

4. As ordinary business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass each of the following
resolutions as an Ordinary Resolution of the Company:-

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

THAT Mr. Manuel V. Pangilinan be and he is hereby re-elected as Managing
Director and CEO of the Company for a fixed term of not more than three
years, commencing on the date of this Annual General Meeting and ending on
the earlier of (1) the date of the Company’s annual general meeting to be held
in calendar year 2010 or (2) 31st May, 2010 or (3) the date on which Mr.
Manuel V. Pangilinan retires by rotation pursuant to the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices adopted by the Company (the “Code”) and/or the Bye-
laws.

THAT Mr. Edward A. Tortorici be and he is hereby re-elected as an Executive
Director of the Company for a fixed term of not more than three years,
commencing on the date of this Annual General Meeting and ending on the
earlier of (1) the date of the Company’s annual general meeting to be held in
calendar year 2010 or (2} 31st May, 2010 or (3) the date on which Mr. Edward
A, Tortorici retires by rotation pursuant to the Code and/or the Bye-laws.

THAT Mr. David Tang be and he is hereby re-elected as an Independent Non-

executive Director of the Company for a fixed term of not more than three
years, commencing on the date of this Annual General Meeting and ending on
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the earlier of (1) the date of the Company’s annual general meeting to be held
in calendar year 2010 or (2) 31st May, 2010 or (3) the date on which Mr. David
Tang retires by rotation pursuant to the Code and/or the Bye-laws.

(iv) THAT Prof. Edward K.Y. Chen be and he is hereby re-elected as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company for a fixed term of not more than
three years, commencing on the date of this Annual General Meeting and
ending on the earlier of (1) the date of the Company’s annual general meeting
to be held in calendar year 2010 or (2) 31st May, 2010 or (3} the date on which
Prof. Edward K.Y. Chen retires by rotation pursuant to the Code and/ or the
Bye-laws.

To authorise the Board of Directors to fix the remuneration of the Executive Directors
pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, and to fix the remuneration of the Independent
Non-executive Directors at the sum of U5%$5,000 for each meeting of the Board of
Directors or Board Committee which he attends in person or by telephone conference
call, as shall be determined from time to time by the Board.

As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass with or without modification
the following as an Ordinary Resolution:

“THAT the Board of Directors of the Company be and is hereby authorised to
appoint additional directors as an addition to the Board, but so that the maximum
number of directors so appointed by the directors shall not in any case exceed the
maximum number of directors specified in the Company’s Bye-laws from time to
time and any person so appointed shall remain as a director only until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company and then shall be eligible for re-
election at that meeting.”

As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass with or without modification
the following as an Ordinary Resolution:

“THAT:

(a) subject to paragraph (c) below, the exercise by the Directors of the Company
during the Relevant Period of all the powers of the Company to allot, issue
and deal with additional shares in the Company and to make or grant offers,
agreements and options (including bonds, warrants and debentures convertible
into shares of the Company} which would or might require the exercise of
such power be and is hereby approved generally and unconditionally;

(b) the approval in paragraph (a) above shall authorise the directors of the
Company during the Relevant Period to make or grant offers, agreements and
options (including bonds, warrants and debentures convertible into shares of
the Company) which would or might require the exercise of such power after
the end of the Relevant Period;
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(c)

(d)

the aggregate nominal amount of share capital allotted or agreed conditionally
or unconditionally to be allotted (whether pursuant to an option or otherwise),
by the directors of the Company pursuant to the approval in paragraph (a)
above, otherwise than pursuant to (i) a Rights Issue, or (ii) the exercise of
rights of subscription or conversion under the terms of any warrants issued
by the Company or any securities which are convertible into shares of the
Company, or (iii) the exercise of options granted under any share option scheme
adopted by the Company, or (iv) any scrip dividend or similar arrangement
providing for the allotment of shares in lieu of the whole or part of a dividend
on shares of the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company,
shall not exceed twenty (20) per cent of the aggregate nominal amount of the
share capital of the Company in issue as at the date of this Resolution, and the
said approval shall be limited accordingly; and

for the purposes of this Resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this Resolution until
whichever is the earliest of:

(i)  the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company;

(i)  the expiration of the period' within which the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company is required either by law or by the Company’s
Bye-laws to be held; and

(iii) the date upon which the authority set out in this Resolution is revoked
or varied by way of ordinary resolution in general meeting.

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares open for a period fixed by the directors
of the Company to holders of shares on the register on a fixed record date in
proportion to their then holdings of shares (subject to such exclusions or other
arrangements as the directors of the Company may deem necessary or
expedient in relation to fractional entitlements or having regard to any
restrictions or obligations under the laws of, or the requirements of any
recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in any territory outside
Hong Kong).”

As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass with or without modification

the following as an Ordinary Resolution:

"THAT:

(a)

subject to paragraph (b) below, the exercise by the directors of the Company
during the Relevant Period of all the powers of the Company to repurchase
issued shares in the capital of the Company on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) or any other stock exchange on which
the Shares may be listed, and which is recognised for this purpose by the
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10.

Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong and the Stock Exchange, in
accordance with all applicable laws, including the Hong Kong Code on Share
Repurchases and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), be and is hereby
approved generally and unconditionally;

(b) the aggregate nominal amount of share capital which may be purchased or
agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be purchased by the directors of
the Company pursuant to the approval in paragraph (a) above shall not exceed
ten (10) per cent of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the
Company in issue as at the date of this Resolution, and the said approval shall
be limited accordingly; and

{c) for the purposes of this Resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this Resolution until
whichever is the earliest of:

(i)  the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company is required either by law or by the Company’s
Bye-laws to be held; and

(iii) the date upon which the authority set out in this Resolution is revoked
or varied by way of ordinary resolution in general meeting.”

As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass with or without modification
the following as an Ordinary Resolution:

“THAT conditional upon the passing of Ordinary Resolutions numbered 7 and 8 as
set out in the Notice convening this meeting, the aggregate nominal amount of the
number of shares in the capital of the Company that shall have been repurchased by
the Company after the date hereof pursuant to and in accordance with the said
Ordinary Resolution 8 shall be added to the aggregate nominal amount of share
capital that may be allotted and issued or agreed conditionally or unconditionally
to be allotted and issued by the directors of the Company pursuant to the general
mandate to allot and issue shares granted to the directors of the Company by the
said Ordinary Resolution 7.”

As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass with or without modification
the following as an Ordinary Resolution:

“THAT the new executive stock option plan of Metro Pacific Investments Corporation
(“Metro Pacific”), the terms of which are contained in the document produced to the
meeting marked “A” and initialed by the chairman of the meeting for the purpose
of identification, be and is hereby approved and adopted as the new executive stock
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11.

option plan of Metro Pacific and that the directors of Metro Pacific be and are
hereby authorized to grant options to subscribe for shares of Metro Pacific thereunder,
allot and issue shares of Metro Pacific pursuant to the exercise of any options which
may be granted under the executive stock option plan, and exercise and perform the
rights, powers and obligations of Metro Pacific thereunder and do all such things
and take all such actions as the directors of Metro Pacific may consider to be necessary
or desirable in connection with the foregoing.”

To transact any other ordinary business of the Company.

By Order of the Board
First Pacific Company Limited
Nancy L.M. Li
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 30th April, 2007

Principal Office Registered Office
24th Floor Canon’s Court
Two Exchange Square 22 Victoria Street
8 Connaught Place Hamilton HM 12
Central, Hong Kong Bermuda

Explanatory Notes to the Notice of Annual General Meeting:

1.

Every member entitled to attend and vote at the 2007 AGM is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to
attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

A form of proxy for use at the 2007 AGM is enclosed in the circular which contains the notice of the
meeting (the “Notice”}). The form of proxy will also be published on the website of the Stock Exchange
and can also be downloaded from the Company's website: www.firstpacco.com.

In order to be valid, a form of proxy together with the power of attorney or other authority (if any}
under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy of that power of attorney or authority must be
deposited at the principal office of the Company (Attention: Corporate Secretarial Department) not less
than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

With respect to agenda item No. 4 in the Notice, the biographical details of each of the Directors who
stand for re-election at the 2007 AGM, as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules as at the latest
practicable date, are set out in Appendix I of the circular containing the Notice to enable Shareholders
to nmake an informed decision on their re-election.

With respect to agenda item No. 7 in the Notice, approval is being sought from the members because
under the Listing Rules the existing general mandate to issue shares lapses at the meeting.

An explanatory statement containing further details regarding agenda item No. 8 in the Notice on the
general mandate to repurchase shares is set out in Appendix Il of the circular containing the Notice.

An explanatory statement containing further details regarding agenda item No. 10 in the Notice on the
adoption of the Metro Pacific Stock Option Plan is set out in Appendix III of the circular containing the

Notice.

The English text of this circular shall prevail over the Chinese text in case of any inconsistency.
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Pacificli 5 51 800 83 A 7 B B 5 0« 85 158 T T BT B B E R » Metro Pacific® B
THERATRMAZFEEBRAFTARBARETERZ AR TFEE.

HHAL LRI E BR S Metro PacificZ HEASR SRR H AL+
W Metro PacificZ B A i o

AT > R SR B R AT 2 B RT AT B MR 2 TR AR R REE 2 B AR A
AFHEELETE B EeR YRR - R0 BRAEE - R85 B 7 (o] BB 4
FER T 22 T P A 2 A 40 T (0 P A T R 4 R TP AR R U AR
RALF2F RP RGP E L8N — RER T % BB E R HERE2
2T LA R o 20 e 22 A 3K ) T 5 o

Metro Pacifich% B BE w81 A 77 T AR ERE T ERH:

(1) ERAREHER_ELELHFERFAERFERG BB —TRSE R T
My Metro Pacifich§ B HE 5

(2) Metro Pacific/if # A Metro PacificlR K& LM —ERF A B 3R LUt
R # Metro PacificB #5815 &2

(3) FERE A L HE B AT @ AR B Metro PacificlE IS BISF R R AT
Bz LEw-

B %17 B W 3 84T {6 R Metro PacificlR B BB 2 ¥k T {F BSR4 -
B EIFE A Z Metro Pacifici B HEGT B 2 T EGRRMECER T XM=
REREBEASEREBEBRBRERIAZESR

HBREERERFER —FFTCFERRAFAGERERBE RS HRE
RERBERBEBETARE-

RIBLAFMAUE7R RIRRAKTRERRZEFERBRNAUBFIARRE B
FREMUSFHARRABERZAMHZHE - MU T ALTERUEREER A RR:

() REEE R




EEGRH

(i) HHABERERENELZQ)EBRELMEZ BRRRZERR IR

(iii) FAERLPHEBEEHEASTRERFEREHE +9—1/10)2 — B LB
SHEZBERFEMNL &

(iv) BERTFHEAERGREZREZ 2R IBRGERZREHZZNAE
BHEMBAMARKEHTDNHAART RN RS Z 8A B AE+
4r2Z—(1/10)

R 2 B 40 B 55 800K » M AR 48 b 3t O S B SR I AR IR SR AR B SRR R R R R B
REXRRZAOREGAMRBAZT@OAR HEEHE X (BHEERAFATZER
SRS ) B RO BT R R R Rk 2 A R A BRI L R R
HKEZHRE

WEBe8
AE TR LR R BERMEBE AR 2 R & 0B A BT
WHEH EEELRE RAN ARG SIITT - R - EMERET MESNE
MEHEGEFEATEDREMEGRT- BELFREMAEELERER G-
BEBER
HRZL BB EAANALHBE BEMN S -WES BTITREZBEAHIR-E
FLEAA—HBOZ_FZLFERKEFRG LREZFERRB-SMBECHR
EEBREZHMRT BUESRESSAZHRALT (ERALETHAD BEZR6Hi
MAazHEH BEEAMR _EZLFERAEFTRERECHFTRAR -
I B
B-XTFHERLAFGEFE &6
ARERGm
E—AFERAT
HEEEFTHEE
g
i

ZEZTLFWAZTH
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B &% — M EERERERCESAEFT

UTHERAR_EECEERNBFAGTEZINE BT REH

1. WR{-x&E
HHEENFITHAE

BN B AR ERE -2 RIEERAJF BB PHINMAK ¥ - Bancom &
FRAAEXREBRITMBAN - RERB N LEEHMKE (Ateneo de Manila
University) BUBSCER 8- R EE TS LB KEHEHE R (Wharton School) B
BIFEHERALEN - ERRA-ANA—FNIE - K- W —H\EH BRI 5 R —
AANFEZ_HABERELATER YR ZEZ=ZERAR I E BRI HRTHRE R

ZER—ANAE+F - AEREPLOT MK THAE - ¥R _FFTWMG
A WEAEBPLDT £ « & K I8 23 Metro Pacific » Metro Pacific Corporation * Smart
Communications, Inc. * Pilipino Telephone Corporation & Landco Pacific Corporation
Z I LB PT Indofood Sukses Makmur TbkZ 48 £, ML & - { 75/ Citra Metro Manila
Tollways, Corporation$fi T # 4+ i %5 -

B EENEL A I E B N KR Komandante® 88 Z Order of
Lakandula®) 57 - 3% 77 % [ a% B /F 2 B R - (0 48 3 1 2 F = i & (Management
Association of the Philippines)i# £ — & F T 4F fit {8 # A (Management Man of the
Year 2005) : 3 0Bl —FF L F R - FF " F M Xavier University R F R HBILEKR
£ (San Beda College) 1 E A XM B X B M LB -UARTEHNEEEHRREFHEESR
fr £ & - Medical Doctors Inc (Makati Medical Center)it 25 € = f% UL & 9k & F] # 4%
Philippine Business for Social Progress= i < 3 K 78 5 % i I W 41 #{ Hong Kong
Bayanihan Foundationz fif »

R ETTHEH ZRARAFSETAHMBEEN GEZ RES MRS 2K
B HEEMEMEPHIREH ARG )FAHBES AW EEFEXVEBET RSN #
MEALAR LB NbO)AEBERERBEEAESMEEN SRR R (OBAR
BEESFHIMEGA AR KRB ZIFEMETT -

i. A4 6l 6,026,7590% I 38 B ™ B 2 2 ®] 31,800,000 3 3 AL 18 A A O

ii. Metro Pacific 1,048,404/8 3% i It ®o
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o & — PREERBRER2EESEABEFE

i, T2 ¥4 PLDT 201,933/ 3% @ ™ B PLDT 360/ B LA™ LA 5 — A Z L
4N B APLDT 15,4170 2 38 A% -

iv.  Pilipino Telephone Corporation 3,500,000/ ¥ i i ®

BE-ZEARE+-AZ+—HLEFEIMERZMERE BFMEZMEZ
RPN — KF BT AFEFERE107H M BT 2 M 3E36(A) [T T MG | — i - 32 KR
1T 0 L A 306 3 - oA 4 ) 780 0 A N 20 0 B U P R MO A SR A A £

2. ERaks&
MATEIa

BAEZS -k A Y S o R PR A5 A1 4 K B IR B 4 B2 i B Fairfield University
3R - SR 0 o P ER % b A 2 M A AR AT BOE R A B P 146 Crocker Bank Z 42 F
B 4145 bl & % B Olivetti Corporation K Fairchild Semiconductor Corporation i 35 4
i

G H A ) W PR 3 K B 1 S M EA Edwards Associates » %2 8] B il E K
W e S I IR RS

BEA—ANACEMAS— KT HRGED 3 SUEMETER B2 HHE
ATEER— KL OERB WHAEHN R R XEATEH HRFHHER
# & & 4 7 PT Indofood Sukses Makmur Tbk ¥ & & ACeS International Limited
3o bak A B AR ENJE o WA B B IR £ 6 7 3F At B Z Metro Pacific Corporation &
Landco Pacific Corporation Z i ff o

A B A% T AT EM BB P A 4 ) AT TR B i T (9 L RE 2 RO B R ) 2 AR
By A B RO Bt 5 A SRR B AT () U B SR R R B SE X VIR AR 7 85 TR
5 B A5 4 B BB 22 T 5 B (b) R0 BGE o B W) B Ak U0 3520 6 A Y R I s BR (o) IR
B AR G LF LB RTZ AR

i. # 4\ 727,252,131 % 3% 3 B F A 2% 7 17,680,000 % 15 B 15 AR A -
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B &% — DS BRERBEAER - EERERE

ii.  Metro Pacific 17,3994 3 3 B © } 165,000% % 4 AX ® L) Jk Metro Pacific
52,1975 58 B 415 38 © % 495,0001% 37 B A 58 o

iii. PLDT 104,874/ ¥ 4 g ™o

BE_FEAET A=+ LFEIMBRZMERE - AR HEZME
BEWPRE— KT ZEFANFERUBI0TRM B R R E36(A) [HHBE ]| — B HER
R HMERE FRAHRRERAN AR IR NERR BB RFEBERF-

3. BRk#H & OBE, Chevalier de L'Ordre des Arts et des Lettres
B FEATE I

RERLT R HERTE-BRRABEZHET  HERQHE - HB R 8558
X TURZFHEBHREXRTE- WA DSEEHE L FHRENETRE &
M China Tang U R K FHEEMBIMA-BER—RAAREMAE K TEREG-

PRRETITHS BRI EPRAA G R AABEED (E%REERPEER)
ZRG-HEBG ARSI HAREEAREQAEBEARNBEGFAIEXVEEIRS
S Er A L w R R B (b)A M B R RO 52 N S M A 5 (c)
AR FRAMEAARI Bz g

AR LFATESN FRAEASASE SN ERATF ORI R I EN GNP
Z A FR ORI T 3650 BT IR A SR — RSP E R A FFRFI07H A B R KM 5E36(A)
(MFEME] —H-FROCAEBIEAFAARTHIT - AR EEERZ L EBEIA
T UWHFEHEEEER - RREMAMGES - FLAHRTEARRET SRR IS
MBRAEWE-

4, BRHEHE ¥ AT CBE K FPH+
B FE T

REANT B - hERFE YRATHBABRF BB -HHARBLAFHRUEEK
BERAHTHHEENLZNEGERE W 7 2 B FEE1TEF -4 5 Eaton Vance
Management Funds Z§5t A -BH PR E A HFHHBREZ A0 ER FETHARAR
TERBER BHER A ZEMAE - K EHERG.
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B &% — IR EEIRBIAERCEBSRESR

REBEETTES BERERAL AR HBREN (EBREHERPREHM 2
B MERGEESPEARBER AR AEEI R AP EKFIBEXVRE7R?
B0 6 A T KW AE BT (bR BB I RO I R B S a2k A L BRI A SRy
ERETUHGALRAERBERZEAERNT:

i. AN 7] 2,840,00017 I i AL RS AR HE®).

AR ERTHES AR ERENSRAEE R RV ERGEZRZEARTGN
FHEEGSRWES000E T HHENE K TE_FFAFEREI107H HEHREM
HGA)EEME | —H-BRRERHAEB ISR E A ARSI T GHENE AR

BRIAL HHECEEEER-HRIIMAMES ALAEREEAANZERER
e R 48K 6 o 5 B R Ak [ 4R

=k BHE
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B & — BoZEzRARH

A B SRR T T BB E R AR R B R 2 A o R R A 1 B PR RO A R
TG KO REFB A D 7R ARG REE-

1. BO&RE

b T AR R A B DA 2 BT A SR — L T 38 2 A ) TE B 22 AR [ A4 A
HAEB AT RG] REM W

(a) REKE

T AR SR i LB 3 BT B B — T T I 22 2 ) 46 B I R o R IR BB R
—BRIRHERERA RN ER S Z R N B R R R WA - LA E
DHE A — R R (AR IE) B SR mAREREETRSER UL
i 1 45 HE BROE R W MER N SR HE

(b) EERK

MUBERGZ B L ALARBERERGRE TEEEFARRAEZE
ﬁo

(c) BREZUBEZROBME

A2 FE R A 2 Ry R B 2 R B By e BB RS BT AT R 2 Bt B E
REABHBEANAERZEREEFLFCRITREATEHZ HRM KA
2RI RS T AT B M Z BT B BT A 3,205,795,003 8% AR 4 £y 2Rk BB A L E)
RBHBRREG R R ET BT AR R FERRAELRG
SRATW A AN TR AT T 81T B (0] 4 4] A 47 - SN AR 4 ) AR R A () 95 M VA W 52 B
[l 2 Ji fr B B £ A5 15 #38320,579,500% A% 177 -

2. WEROZER
HWHMGE BREMRETBRHE UERLFATERZRBERG NREEN
] B H RN 2 AR A o 55 W A R4 % T 4R R A A R 2 R R R R LR

HARTHEHGSRALESLEME AR AEEITAGEHERGHGHELF LK
RAFZHET T
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f & = BERB2HARH

3. BERGzES

ALUBERMZESLAARBAQN A ZANER KA AFTMA LR EHRE
BHEE A EREAEARZEE-

HREFESHEALAMEMBG AR GERSELAMEARBIFEELAZ
BAER G U RB AL RA R 2 G ERGZ WRT - TeiTEREA B E R
ERAEARR_EEZRNFEFT A= T—H (ELAF RS EZEFEREARZH)
ZEWEHLE A MBUR K W B 6% B J7 2 BT 6 % A7 (0 B AR fir 2 — ARIRAE
AMTREHALAFAZBEREREFAAHURAERTERALHREE-

EEBRLETEREAZHEENALARAZBEIRSTE (REEMNTEZ BELE
RS RNLEBHNS) STFZAE A ESALRAZEABIUKTERAERXRHY
> 15T o A4 B I HT R € BB AT (0 e 0] 4R 4 -

4. REBPER

A% 4 TR A 0 P EE B RAT SR A BT A I AR AT R e T ARSI R R E T
BRELE=ZA=F—_AE+Z WA M E S 08 A 7222 2 e R E R

ZRvi BERAXHE BERXE
# T 7 7t
—BEXREF
™ H 3.450 2.750
7A 3.925 3.150
AN H 3.350 2.850
+ A 3.340 2.900
ANH 3.530 3.060
LA 3.800 3.450
+A 4.000 3.540
+—A 4.050 3.800
+=H 4.120 3.770
—R2LHF
—A 5.130 4.000
— A 5.090 3.860
= 4.950 4.140
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B &% — BOZ2BoRBEHE

5, BmZzHRB

EEFFL—UEEAHEEREN BEIMERRAEMHERALREFER
BEEREZEERRAMEFLTAELAREMBAR L ERG-

MERMEAL (BHR EHRM) Sad 0w %R 5 E 7 B E 8RR
i 5L F o 45 AL 0T A 4 > R Rl R 8 1] 4R 20 A 45 LB ARG 4E (T AR A o

6. WHTA

i AR 48 Fi (2] 152 A R (o) i 458 > 3 AR SRR A 2 W) T A 2z T 45 B HIRE 2 B 04 B % m
U RE s BE<F R & R RIS SRR E B R R B R — 2R
Hel B HTHORK (ERABETHN) THRAERBA LA EMNERNGHERE
o T 2 4 T HE > R T 2R SO ST U AR U 268 T o 1 R T T A R

PRETTHY TERRSATBRFAEFLFACETRE44.25%Z B G0 -HE
BREHETRHEALGEMERL BFHEFEETEBCORME- ZSdETERTESR
Z IR AL A R R B AT IR A #749.17% « B k> I A A B A 4k BB RS T R
W26 155 42 o T i At 2 T AR A O o B B AR S > B I I SR U o R S OB I 45 O U
(8] R £33 100 65 5 | S50 AR SR i B8 < B A 2 AT T H Al 4R R -

REAAFEETEBEOREUSREERRARBRE BN ETREESZ
Hit-

A 25 i (] e 443 A L 00 RN 0 BT R B9 i R 5 S R R R W 32 BT 8 E B9 R B IR
T o3 b FHE BN O B AT {0 X

7. HESAW

HHRCEBRM AN BESG (EEAZHERT) RBLHRBERERERS
17 {3 B B B2 HE -
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METROPACIFICE R B B 2 T ERMNBE

HEZERNRER

(A)

Metro Pacifici# R ff 51 # B 7€ - (i) ¥ Metro PacificlR IR R G & R B REA
Hi K H E Z Metro PacificfE Bl & & B A B X 1T 3 4 18 Metro PacificZ #
A3 HEHE 2% 5 (ii) ¥ B 7% % Metro PacificsE ) ¥ & B B X T 37 & M IR % 1 Metro
Pacifictf M ; (iii) % B 3% %5 & AR R B R ¥ 4B 4§15 1 5 Metro Pacificdi M 2
REBHEIELER XGv)S BB A A A Metro Pacificl F -

BHEH 10 2 B > Metro Pacifici§ & # 51 #1457 5 4 B B& 7+ (10)FEH
BAAFRRER-ERAIWERTFEARZE ZLAFATHEREE
o i i HE « SR T > /£ B A5 L 4t 75 T - Metro Pacificl§ B #E 518 2 e 0§ B+
A2 BAE B oA 1] 12 Metro Pacific B A #E 3 9 319 7 82 s 22 1 i ey w7 48 4
M B8 B AT R BT W] T AT (-

Rl EHE

(A)

(B)

Metro Pacific® 8 €& #% % 3 Metro Pacificl§ B # it # & J& 17 18 # Metro
Pacifici§ ¢ i 5t W 45 I F Metro Pacific® 8 & 2 H { B 6 - 7£ Metro Pacific
55 Re R 5t 1) B 4 PR A 7E Metro Pacific® 38 & BE B T » Metro Pacific® & & %
A HE SR A0 6 B B B LA T M Metro Pacific R #EFI B BT BRI S
%5 R 4 B Metro Pacificl# ig #E 71 I — B 2 P | I /7 5 8L 1L i Metro
Pacificfi B #E 51 8 %5 57 1 3% 32 F¥ Metro PacificB IR HES I 2 4 30 DL R i
THEFZAMBE HETMetro Pacific i EF BN EBSEZTE -

Metro PacificZ 8 €& #iMetro Pacific R T WIEH 2 A R ERTH - A
PRZEENBRTZRAEGHEALHUEERENFE N HMetro PacificZ A &
KEWHEFEDA XRAR - BEEFTANFELZREDITHS2W AR
% [a] Metro PacificZR E BN EXBTHBTZ2 AGUKXKEZHEHERB-
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METROPACIFICE R B B ZITEHRABE

FEREATZREG

(A)

(B)

(©)

R 3(C)4r Bt 2 18 30 > R #8 Metro Pacificif A& # # % & Metro PacificH 1th #
FECH Gt B4 b 22 BT A B AR A 1T (31 R 0T T 8 47 2 Metro Pacific Bt (i 8 B R
18 448 R 41 B BIMetro PacificE BTGB ZE 42 +(10%) (T8 LR 1) -
H# Metro Pacificl % i 51 M1 & Metro Pacifick: {th B & 4 &1 I 452 i 1 o ok
A7 {8 2 B A 1 R M A8 47 o K5 T T 3% 47 22 Metro PacificiZ i 8 B LB A3 8
#Metro PacificA~Fe 2 %17 B 7 30% o

i AF 7] 8 i HEAR $8 Metro Pacificlff i 51 N B 89 sl 5 80 RUM EH R AT E R
B> ZEEAS AR R AR AERBILRA.

& 4 B3 HMetro Pacific iy 2 5 F- B4 E4 - HRAE - ROEEHSE
FiREL R Ay o HF - 43 Fi B b 2 R 5 RS A B O A (b 3 FE A% BRI 2K Metro
Pacificif I 25 B4 2 8 37 B4 5 B it ME F > Metro PacificZE B @ADL
B i B B Metro Pacific/ilf B #E 5t 8 8 R T > $47 i 1 38 Metro Pacifici 3 B
BELSEARE-LAZSFHBERETEERZHATHREL AL RWESH
EF AR Bz R M AR A A LA A T E AT WA EE SN
HfTZEHEMNES - REEALBITHELAA  BLMBEBRE 26 Z 28
Fll 0 208 LA U5 TAT 1] T0E 3 6 320> % 4 PR MR 1 -5 LTI B B 35 17.03(13) R B B AT iR

Eo

CEBSEAL

(A)

(B)

R 9% Metro Pacificlff B 18 =t &) » B B vr 527 1 4% i #F %3 Metro PacificdE fl
ZRBERERA B K S Metro PacificTt ¥ « B & & 1 A B f13%Metro Pacific
KUz BE HRAKH  HRAMIZR AR AT A THEERZ F EMetro
Pacific EMITHAB R BHHEA -

R HE SR H B AT - Metro PacificZ B € i Hh i3 o] /A 2 B 45 m H 82 ok AR
HE 2 Metro Pacifici 8 B A 8 R W IT - M A7 -+ = {8 A B3 ] mAE T — &
CEHRBZHEALT (ATRESCABRERAENCELZERE (RMTIT
(i J& iaf o 47 {51 B FRME) B AT 0 W 22 B8 17 B0 % T 8847 Z Metro Pacificl i S 8L
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METROPACIFICHB R EF B 2T EBRABE

<)

718 4 4 7 A B [l Metro Pacific2 BT I EH 42 —(1%) ([ & WS R
AL ERI]) -

8 Metro Pacifick & # 3t #) # 5& Metro PacificB R T BAR /I 1]
2 F R 2 Y #% B > Metro PacificZ B 11§ % i Metro Pacific#h 8B 2 A
B/ MM MG BRI Fris gt AR 2> o B R AT A R RK - 1 B s S v fiE ¥
T B8 2 Metro PacifictE B & 8 4% 7 2 B i 48 & B DL R H { Metro Pacific
ZEGREEAHBZHEHE-

5. BREZGHRR®BH

(A)

(B)

%5 Metro PacificZ B TR E4R R EM A AMSEA LR L BRE
Metro PacificZ B G ELEE M BELERNZPENREL TR
BEzRES A EFHIAMBE AZZSVEREZEHA —RIKE
ZHREFBLHIE-RER BETHFEERSEE HHH—(O)BEH - AHRE N
A1 o] S sk 4 -

(i) #HHEMetro Pacific{T a4 B~ 4R B - SR AT H M MR TEH
TEHREH K

(i) Metro PacificH 1 3F 2 2038 & & & 3% 9F 4t 203l 22 B 30 B 1) B3 AT ] &
EHEFE - FER (ERETFRASEONL RNEREILHHAE)
Hibh WEL ANz RERB EZEH8AMTEZHY-.

HaBRSEANLREZ B LR E R A& E X 8 Metro
Pacific A ff 51 %) 7 8 2 ¥ 2 B 0 4 LA & Metro PacificZ B & 7] E A 5
EZUEHMEREREFET-AREETRSERSEAL A EBRER
MR A E AR AHBRERBERG TR EZBROHARA
F AR (10.004 &) T AIRA -

48 Metro Pacificli RE Wi st A L BERE HBE A L AHB R M & H
Metro PacificE B & E -
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METROPACIFICEBE R EST B 2T EH®REABE

(D)

(E)

(F)

Metro Pacificff R #EFH B H T 2 BRHEE U EHFE ABAFE  AB 1T
SrECEEE  BERE A A RS 38 Metro Pacificlf i st B2 H
L] R A TT B T R R E AR R
ARR EHME Metro PacificZ A A HZ LA MRIEFEAERZ T
IR EBREREATASS (BREERERE R BB -

R Metro PacificB IR R R L 2 R AUTRESE A B L
HEUSRTER AR

(i) FEARHEEERN
(i) FL7O)T R HHEERM

(iii) HEMAERE A AR L% B B Metro Pacificsi B A Bl 2 ME R 2R {E &
Z B fE B B 8 R LLSNE E B S (B FE Metro PacificZ B & BT
E(AmAERRERZILIMZ IR ZEBEL) ) -EHFRT B HE
i Metro PacificZ B G REM & 2 MR LM AT AT A1k
ZHRFRT & 120 B S 2L BEHERA AR B MR Metro Pacific
XHEMBARZEETTBEIABH (FAREAEHBALETS)

(iv) RE7E)TBEHRBRT > Metro PacificlE ANz A &
(v) MBREFAAELEAEOFBRFIEEITAZAEH-

AR A% 2> B BGH AT {7 AR B ORI 22 B 9 5t B (L4 Metro PacificHf R HEsH)
BEAFAAIMER RETBEABREIZRAKNEFLEAZEMHEAL
REMEME AR FAFBRLIATES (EAMR T BN B
WITHEARTREN) 2 HEH A4

WEAEAR T EREAABIFATENRESSEZFABHBA LR T
IR E SEENBEYAFRBEH A AN ZEALBETER
BFZHABEME (BFEIITE - FHEEMRITEZ BHRNE MITEHRD BT
BT 847 B 4y BB {5 Metro PacificE BT B 0.1% L0 b (S8 28 iF R e 48
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METROPACIFCEE R ST B T EMRABE

FEZ FARTE 3 o) 5 e — A0 1R M S AR 7 A0 A TR T SR R SR A o (DURER
HRARR) -FLARZHABEAN L ARERTAE B (AREE) [FAEH
BATTEFEETHRBREAMEZHATRARRAXGHRILHAHRK
BMEEHEERHZENECEFETRRZEEHBERHRHE -

EBEREFAEAREEALT A EREEAMKRTHEZBRET TEHEH A
(T Erhad) ol RS AR TR - RS ERER
1 8 Metro Pacific B R st 8l 2 ek X E T & -

17 {# 57 th Metro PacificE R B & - HEHFHHBEALERTIERE: (i) Metro
Pacificft 7 /B AR R4 K B I ZE SER H /BT A B Metro Pacific 2 —FH L F
BT ¥ {7 2 4k 7 A 5 (i) Metro PacificlR I BB HEFH A M EG)HEE XA AR
B UL B Metro Pacificl 7 2 — F & F H W B 2 F 0 i 615 8 (iii) Metro
Pacific/® {7 T {H » 72 IR 5% X S, - 3647 B0 65 30 A - F 400 A 0 B 3 47 L 1t 38 6147 B 3 B M etro
PacificBITESRAE MR P Z HEH T - 17 £ 7] h Metro PacificE E S B FHE
e 70 1 &% BT 3 Metro Pacific®f it & B8 2 98 57 B 15 B Rl 3t o o

7. {TEBRME

(A)

(B)

S R A N T ATl S o R VOB A T T A 6 O A e R
TE — 47 W R M R FRAT O M BB BT A T R 1% 1B 7E R R AR R 0
iH6 T Bl e 47 4

Filf R A A B0 R R A B S G X 3R T ] Metro PacificZ B & 3% o 35 /4
> 5| B % T A Z Metro Pacific% (3 8 B - H R A7 {1 2 8 & 380 LT
{2 B BCRR 40 B B A o R U RE & BT fE AR F = -+ A (28) H 14 » Metro Pacific
S B 4T Jo WD %8 FR 5B 5 2 Metro Pacificlt 3 R S4BT R T SR8 H
FBe 5% 7R U ) U PR R A\ BT M R 2 SR AR B Meetro Pacific R {5 -
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METROPACIFICE R R B c T ERRBE

(©)

(D)

(F)

(@)

At Bl R4 A A B B ol R U B T % 1E S Metro PacificB SR B A B 2K
T - I B O 2 MR A Bk E AR R A BRI B AR RE S A 1 Metro PacificsX
BT B 4N W) B 0R TT MR L AE HORRRE - A8 R AT (A 1] i ok 47 {22 Bt
R I o

1t J7 Bt 12 A8 48 308 B 3% 77 4 3T B ) Metro Pacificl®) 2 3 B B8R 1 SR 14 2 78
A 5 2 R - LIS i R L AU S B T R I RN L — (DR AR
MR AR EERE (MEM) ATRBL2mEERE—ORA ke
BT 0 A AR 08 SR AT B EL SR B < B P A

fitiMetro Pacific/i A B A HE 28 #) /2 i i 45 38 Metro Pacific H BT 8 ik
FoBEESA ATREERBREIERERE =GB A g LI HE R g E
M E AR B 2 SR AT 0 B ok S I R R S LR BT B AR AT 4 M A A
& B Y BT 8RR T it R 2 R BB A AT BB 48 BT i Bt Metro Pacific
A FE O MO 2 sk B0 W AR RE AT 2 AT {E -

il e MR A A A TE AT 2 BT A ol A R T S R B (T e B B AT

G 150 A0 A3 B BT AT (8 IR — BRI TR > HE AR 4 Metro Pacificlif i i &t
AT 1 2 AR B R B 4 b B BB R 1K) SR At Metro Pacifick B @ R E

8. Ripufr

R R W 8 4T {3 B A% F BE 1T LR B8 2 Metro PacifichZ £ - #% B 3% 4T Metro Pacific
B 4% H 4015 7 4 77 T B Metro Pacificy FF BL A [F] 8 Metro Pacific & 4y T2 4 7] 45 4 12 - 3ff

% 3% Metro

Pacific® BEA7 202 2> 7) 5 i 5272 B 4> 51 40 R B A 10 SCAR IR « B FR SR 7(B) o Be

AT BLAE S o W IR HE BF AT A S W0 B0 2 8% 17 Metro PacificlB 63 BT MO A A S SEAE
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